
 

Mountain Rides Transportation Authority 
PUBLIC NOTICE of Regular Board Meeting Agenda Revised 1/13/17 2:30pm 

12:30pm, Wednesday, January 18, 2017  
Ketchum City Hall Council Chambers, 480 East Ave. N., Ketchum, ID 83340 

 
Board Members: Chair Jane Conard (Sun Valley), vice-chair Kristin Derrig (Ketchum), Secretary Joe Miczulski (Bellevue), 
Becki Keefer (Hailey), Grant Gager (Ketchum), Dave Patrie (Blaine County), Joyce Fabre (Sun Valley) and Tory Canfield (at-
large) 
 

1. 12:30pm: Call meeting to order 
 

2. Comments from the Chair and Board Member thoughts 
 

3. Public comment period for items not on the Agenda (including questions from the press) 
 

4. Presentation: annual financial audit for FY2016, presented by Dennis Brown of Dennis Brown CPAS 
 

5. Action and discussion items 
a. Action item:  Approve receipt and filing of Mountain Rides FY2016 audited financial statements, as 

prepared by Dennis Brown CPAs. (p.2-32) 
b. Action item:  Approve surplus of 1 vanpool van (p.33-34) 
c. Action item:  Approve purchase of 1 vanpool van as an option on Mountain Rides RFP 07202016 in an 

amount not to exceed $41,500. (p.35-36) 
d. Action item:  Approve submission of Federal Transit Administration’s 2017 Certifications and Assurances 

(C&As) (p.37-163) 
e. Action item: Approve a resolution of the Mountain Rides Board of Directors recognizing the outstanding 

efforts of the Mountain Rides staff during our recent “snowpocalypse” (p.164) 
f. Discussion item:  Discuss draft strategic priorities for 2017, as discussed at Mountain Rides’ annual 

strategic workshop (p.165-167) 
g. Discussion item:  Discuss budget priorities for midyear budget amendment for FY2017 and for next 

budget year FY2016 (p.168) 
 

6. Staff reports 
a. Dashboard performance report for November 2016 (p.169-172) 
b. Operations report  (p.173) 
c. Marketing Outreach report  (p.174-175) 
d. Maintenance report (p.176) 
e. Business Manager report (p.177) 
f. Executive Director report (p.178) 

  
7. Consent Calendar items  

a. Approve minutes –December 21  regular meeting and January 4 special meeting (p.179-183) 
b. Receive and file November 2016 financials and bills paid (p.184-195) 

 
8. Executive Session: pursuant to Idaho Statute 74-206(1)(a) 

9. Adjournment 
 

NOTE:  Public information on agenda items is available from the Mountain Rides office 800 1st Ave. North, or  
208-788-7433. Any person needing special accommodation to attend the above noticed meeting should contact Mountain Rides three 

days prior to the meeting at 208-788-7433. 

http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTYxMjIwLjY3ODg0NTMxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE2MTIyMC42Nzg4NDUzMSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3ODAxMDI5JmVtYWlsaWQ9anVhbml0YS5yaXNjaEBpdGQuaWRhaG8uZ292JnVzZXJpZD1qdWFuaXRhLnJpc2NoQGl0ZC5pZGFoby5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&100&&&https://cms.fta.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/certifications-and-assurances/fiscal-year-2017-annual-list-certifications
http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTYxMjIwLjY3ODg0NTMxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE2MTIyMC42Nzg4NDUzMSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3ODAxMDI5JmVtYWlsaWQ9anVhbml0YS5yaXNjaEBpdGQuaWRhaG8uZ292JnVzZXJpZD1qdWFuaXRhLnJpc2NoQGl0ZC5pZGFoby5nb3YmZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&100&&&https://cms.fta.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/certifications-and-assurances/fiscal-year-2017-annual-list-certifications


Mountain Rides Agenda Action Item Summary

Date: From:

Action Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee

Purview:

Previously

discussed at board 

level:

yes no

Recommended

Motion:

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

5a. Approve receipt and filing of Mountain Rides FY2016 audited financial

statements, as prepared by Dennis Brown CPAS

Finance & Performance

I move to approve the receipt and filing of the FY2016 audited financial

statements, as presented [or with changes noted] and prepared by Dennis

Brown CPAs.

Excess operating funds for FY2017

Excess fund policy

Annually, Mountain Rides must complete an in-depth financial audit, per

Government Auditing Standards that apply to Mountain Rides due to the

amount of federal funding received.

The audit reflects all financial activity for the period October 1st, 2015

through September 30, 2016. The audit did not find any weaknesses or

deficiencies and is consider a "clean" audit, although the audit's purpose is

not to uncover such issues.

2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



Mountain Rides Agenda Action Item Summary

Date: From:

Action Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee 

Purview:

Previously 

discussed at board 

level: 

yes no

Recommended 

Motion: 

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2016 Ben Varner

5b. Declaration of Surplus Property

Finance & Performance

I move to approve (or reject) the sale of MRTA Van #28 per MRTA property 

disposal policy.

Projected revenue included in FY 2017 Budget

MRTA Property Disposal Policy

MRTA received a new commuter van in November 2016 that is now in service 

in the vanpool. Generally, as new vans are purchased, an older van is sold via 

sealed bid.  

 

Van #28 has far exceeded its FTA recommended useful life both in time and 

mileage. It is a 2011 model with over 168,000 miles.  

 

Revenue from this sale in excess of $5,000 is required to be reinvested into 

public transportation, per FTA policy. This revenue will be put towards the 

purchase of our next commuter van. 

 

33



 

 

Declaration of Surplus Property 

 

The following Mountain Rides Transportation Authority property: 

2011 Ford Van (Van #28) Vin: 1FDSS3BL0BDA55440        Mileage:168,800 Min. Bid: $7,500 

 

Has been deemed surplus property, and is recommended to be sold by Public Notice for a two week 
period to solicit sealed bids at the above minimum prices.  

In the event sealed bids are not received, the vehicle may be sold in any other appropriate manner, per 
Mountain Rides Transportation Authority policy. 

 

 

By: ___________________________________ Date:_________________ 

Ben Varner, Maintenance and Facilities Manager 

 

By: ___________________________________ Date:_________________ 

Jason Miller, Executive Director 

 

By: ___________________________________ Date:_________________ 

Jane Conard, Board Chair 

 

 

 

34



Mountain Rides Agenda Action Item Summary

Date: From:

Action Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee 

Purview:

Previously 

discussed at board 

level: 

yes no

Recommended 

Motion: 

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Ben Varner

5c. Board Approval to Exercise Option to Purchase Commuter Van from 

Corwin Ford.

Finance & Performance

I move to approve (or reject) exercising an option to purchase a commuter van 

from Corwin Ford. The Board authorizes the Executive Director to execute this 

purchase in an amount not to exceed $41,500.

FY 2017 Capital Budget

MRTA Policy 101 Procurement

Last July, MRTA sent out bid packages for a commuter van purchase including 

two options. One van was ordered and delivered in November 2016. This van 

needs to be ordered soon as delivery is needed around May 1 and expected 

turn-around is 90-120 days. 

 

This purchase is included in the Board Approved FY2017 Budget and Capital 

Purchasing Plan. 

 

35



 

 

 

Authorization to Exercise Option to Purchase Vanpool Van 

January 18, 2016 

 

Mountain Rides Transportation Authority Board of Directors authorizes staff to execute a purchase 
option from RFP 07202016. Executive Director is authorized to purchase one 2017 Ford Medium Roof 
Passenger Van from Corwin Ford in an amount not to exceed $41,500.00.  

 

 

___________________________________________   ______________________ 

Jason Miller, Executive Director      Date 

 

___________________________________________   ______________________ 

Jane Conard, Board Chair      Date 

 

 

 

 

36



Mountain Rides Agenda Action Item Summary

Date: From:

Action Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee

Purview:

Previously

discussed at board 

level:

yes no

Recommended

Motion:

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

5d. Approve submission of Federal Transit Administration's 2017

Certifications and Assurances (C&As)

Both Committees

I move to approve the submission of the annual certifications and

assurances for 2017, as required by the Federal Transit Administration

Compliance costs inherent in adopted budget

All Mountain Rides policies and procedures must comply

With receipt of significant federal funding comes significant rules and

regulations. Mountain Rides is required to acknowledge the certifications and

assurances and master agreement (both attached) annually, as part of the

requirements of receiving federal funding. Mountain Rides is subject to

almost all of the certifications shown on page 45 of the certification and

assurance document, EXCEPT: 11, 14, 17, 20, 21, and 22.

37



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

1 
 

PREFACE 
 
Before the Federal Transit Administration (FTA or We) may award federal assistance for 
public transportation in the form of a federal grant, cooperative agreement, loan, line of 
credit, loan guarantee, master credit agreement, or State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) 
cooperative agreement certain pre-award Certifications and Assurances are required, 
except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. The Applicant must authorize a 
representative (Authorized Representative) to select and sign its Certifications and 
Assurances and bind the Applicant’s compliance. You, as your Applicant’s Authorized 
Representative, must select and sign all Certifications and Assurances that your 
Applicant must provide to support each application it submits to FTA for federal 
assistance during federal fiscal year (FY) 2017. 
 
We request that you read each Certification and Assurance and select those that will 
apply to any application for which your Applicant might seek FTA assistance during 
FY 2017. As provided by federal laws, regulations, and requirements, FTA may award 
federal assistance only if the Applicant’s Authorized Representative selects adequate 
Certifications and Assurances. 
 
We have consolidated our Certifications and Assurances into twenty-three (23) 
Categories. At a minimum, you must select the Assurances in Category 01. If your 
Applicant requests more than $100,000 in federal assistance, you must select the 
“Lobbying” Certification in Category 02, except if your Applicant is an Indian tribe, 
Indian organization, or an Indian tribal organization. Depending on the nature of your 
Applicant and the Award it seeks, you may also need to select one or more Certifications 
and Assurances in Categories 03 through 23. Instead of selecting individual Categories 
of Certifications and Assurances, however, you may make a single selection that will 
encompass all twenty-three (23) Categories of Certifications and Assurances that apply 
to our various programs. 
 
FTA, the Applicant, and the Applicant’s Authorized Representative, understand and 
agree that not every provision of these twenty-three (23) Categories of Certifications and 
Assurances will apply to every Applicant or every Award or Project included in an 
Award, even if you make a single selection encompassing all twenty-three (23) 
Categories. Nor will every provision of each Certification or Assurance within a single 
Category apply if that provision does not apply to your Applicant or the Award it seeks. 
The type of Applicant and its application will determine which Certifications and 
Assurances apply. 
 
Your Applicant is ultimately responsible for compliance with the Certifications and 
Assurances selected that apply to its Award, itself, any Subrecipient, or any other Third 
Party Participant in its Award, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. For this 
reason, we strongly encourage your Applicant to take appropriate measures, including, 

38



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

2 
 

but not limited to, obtaining sufficient documentation from each Subrecipient and any 
other Third Party Participant as necessary to assure your Applicant’s compliance with 
the applicable Certifications and Assurances selected on its behalf. 
 
Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, if your Applicant is a team, consortium, 
joint venture, or partnership, it understands and agrees that you must identify the 
activities that each member will perform and the extent to which each member will be 
responsible for compliance with the selected Certifications and Assurances. You also 
must identify each member’s role in the Award, whether as a Recipient, Subrecipient, 
Third Party Contractor, or other Third Party Participant. 
 
It is important that you and your Applicant also understand that these Certifications and 
Assurances are pre-award requirements, generally imposed by federal law or regulation, 
and do not include all federal requirements that may apply to it or its Award. We expect 
you to submit your Applicant’s FY 2017 Certifications and Assurances and its 
applications for federal assistance in FTA’s electronic award and management system, 
currently the Transit Award Management System (TrAMS). You must be registered in 
TrAMS to submit your Applicant’s FY 2017 Certifications and Assurances. TrAMS 
contains fields for selecting among the twenty-three (23) Categories of Certifications and 
Assurances and a designated field for selecting all twenty-three (23) Categories of 
Certifications and Assurances. If FTA agrees that you are unable to submit your 
Applicant’s FY 2017 Certifications and Assurances electronically, you must submit the 
Signature Pages at the end of this document, as FTA directs, marked to show the 
Categories of Certifications and Assurances that you are submitting. 
 
Be aware that these Certifications and Assurances have been prepared in light of: 
 The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, Public Law No. 114-94, 

December 4, 2015, and other authorizing legislation to be enacted, and 
 Appropriations Acts or Continuing Resolutions funding the U.S. Department of 

Transportation during Fiscal Year 2017.  
 

39



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

3 
 

CATEGORY 01.  REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
FOR EACH APPLICANT. 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for your Applicant’s Award, you must select the 
Certifications and Assurances in Category 01 in addition to any other applicable Certifications 
and Assurances, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications and Assurances in Category 01 that does not apply will not be 
enforced. 
 
01.A.   Certifications and Assurances of Authority of the Applicant and Its Authorized 

Representative. 
 
You certify and affirm that in signing these Certifications, Assurances, and Agreements, both 
you, as your Applicant’s Authorized Representative, and your Applicant’s attorney who is 
authorized to represent your Applicant in legal matters, may undertake the following activities on 
your Applicant’s behalf, in compliance with applicable state, local, or Indian tribal laws, 
regulations, and requirements and your Applicant’s by-laws or internal rules: 
1. Execute and file its application for federal assistance, 
2. Execute and file its Certifications, Assurances, Charter Service Agreement, and School Bus 

Agreement, as applicable, binding its compliance, 
3. Execute its Grant Agreement, Cooperative Agreement, Loan, Loan Guarantee, Line of 

Credit, Master Credit Agreement, or State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Cooperative Agreement 
for which the Applicant is seeking federal assistance from FTA, 

4. Comply with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and 
5. Follow applicable federal guidance. 
 
01.B.   Standard Assurances. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you assure that it understands and agrees to the following: 
1. It will comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements in 

implementing its Award. 
2. It is under a continuing obligation to comply with the terms and conditions of its Grant 

Agreement or Cooperative Agreement with FTA for each Award, including the FTA Master 
Agreement and other documents incorporated by reference and made part of its Grant 
Agreement or Cooperative Agreement, or latest amendment thereto. 

3. It recognizes that federal laws, regulations, and requirements may be amended from time to 
time and those amendments may affect the implementation of its Award. 

4. It understands that Presidential executive orders and federal guidance, including federal 
policies and program guidance, may be issued concerning matters affecting it or its Award. 

5. It agrees that the most recent federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance will apply 
to its Award, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

6. Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, it agrees that requirements for FTA 
programs may vary depending on the fiscal year for which the federal assistance for those 
programs was appropriated or made available. 

40



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

4 
 

 
01.C.   Intergovernmental Review Assurance. 
 
(This assurance in this Category 01.C does not apply to an Indian tribe, an Indian organization, 
or an Indian tribal organization that applies for federal assistance made available under 
49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(1), which authorizes FTA’s Tribal Transit Programs.) 
 
As required by U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) regulations, “Intergovernmental 
Review of Department of Transportation Programs and Activities,” 49 CFR part 17, on behalf of 
your Applicant, you assure that it has submitted or will submit each application for federal 
assistance to the appropriate state and local agencies for intergovernmental review. 
 
01.D.   Nondiscrimination Assurance. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you assure that: 
1. It will comply with the following laws, regulations, and requirements so that no person in the 

United States will be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination in, 
any U.S. DOT or FTA assisted program or activity (particularly in the level and quality of 
transportation services and transportation-related benefits) on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, religion, sex, disability, or age including: 
a. Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332 (prohibiting discrimination on the 

basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex (including gender identity), disability, 
age, employment, or business opportunity), 

b. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, 
c. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. 

(prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, (including gender 
identity and sexual orientation) or national origin), 

d. Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” September 24, 1965, 
42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later Executive Order that amends or 
supersedes it in part and is applicable to federal assistance programs, 

e. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.,  
f. U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or 

Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. part 25, 
g. The Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq., 
h. The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., 
i. U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the 

Department of Transportation-Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,” 
49 CFR part 21, 

j. U.S. DOT regulations, specifically 49 CFR parts 27, 37, 38, and 39, and  
k. Any other applicable federal statutes that may be signed into law, federal regulations that 

may be issued, or federal requirements that may be imposed. 
2. It will comply with federal guidance implementing federal nondiscrimination laws, 

regulations, or requirements, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
3. As required by 49 CFR § 21.7: 

41



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

5 
 

a. It will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, and 49 CFR part 21 in the 
manner that: 
(1) It implements its Award, 
(2) It undertakes property acquisitions, and 
(3) It operates all parts of its facilities, as well as its facilities operated in connection 

with its Award. 
b. This assurance applies to its Award and to all parts of its facilities, as well as its facilities 

used to implement its Award. 
c. It will promptly take the necessary actions to carry out this assurance, including the 

following: 
(1) Notifying the public that discrimination complaints about transportation-related 

services or benefits may be filed with U.S. DOT or FTA Headquarters Office of 
Civil Rights, and 

(2) Submitting information about its compliance with these provisions to U.S. DOT or 
FTA upon their request. 

d. If it transfers U.S. DOT or FTA assisted real property, structures, or improvements to 
another party, any deeds and instruments recording that transfer will contain a covenant 
running with the land assuring nondiscrimination: 
(1) While the property is used for the purpose that the federal assistance is extended, or 
(2) While the property is used for another purpose involving the provision of similar 

services or benefits. 
e. The United States has a right to seek judicial enforcement of any matter arising under: 

(1) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, 
(2) U.S. DOT regulations, 49 CFR part 21, or 
(3) This assurance. 

f. It will make any changes in its Title VI implementing procedures, as U.S. DOT or FTA 
may request, to comply with: 
(1) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, 
(2) U.S. DOT regulations, 49 CFR part 21, and 
(3) Federal transit law, 49 U.S.C. § 5332. 

g. It will comply with applicable federal guidance issued to implement federal 
nondiscrimination requirements, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

h. It will extend the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, and 49 CFR 
part 21 to each Third Party Participant, including any: 
(1) Subrecipient, 
(2) Transferee, 
(3) Third Party Contractor or Subcontractor at any tier, 
(4) Successor in Interest, 
(5) Lessee, or 
(6) Other Participant in its Award, except FTA and the Applicant (and later, the 

Recipient). 
i. It will include adequate provisions to extend the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 

42 U.S.C. § 2000d, and 49 CFR part 21 to each third party agreement, including each: 
(1) Subagreement at any tier, 
(2) Property transfer agreement, 

42



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

6 
 

(3) Third party contract or subcontract at any tier, 
(4) Lease, or 
(5) Participation agreement. 

j. The assurances you have made on your Applicant’s behalf remain in effect as long as 
FTA determines appropriate, including, for example, as long as: 
(1) Federal assistance is provided for its Award, 
(2) Its property acquired or improved with federal assistance is used for a purpose for 

which the federal assistance is extended, or for a purpose involving similar services 
or benefits, 

(3) It retains ownership or possession of its property acquired or improved with federal 
assistance provided for its Award, or 

(4) FTA may otherwise determine in writing. 
4. As required by U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in 

Programs and Activities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance,” 
49 CFR part 27, specifically 49 CFR § 27.9, and consistent with 49 U.S.C. § 5332, you 
assure that: 
a. It will comply with the following prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of 

disability listed below in subsection 4.b of this Category 01.D Assurance, of which 
compliance is a condition of approval or extension of any FTA assistance awarded to: 
(1) Construct any facility, 
(2) Obtain any rolling stock or other equipment, 
(3) Undertake studies, 
(4) Conduct research, or 
(5) Participate in any benefit or obtain any benefit from any FTA administered program. 

b. In any program or activity receiving or benefiting from federal assistance that U.S. DOT 
administers, no qualified individual with a disability will, because of his or her disability, 
be: 
(1) Excluded from participation, 
(2) Denied benefits, or 
(3) Otherwise subjected to discrimination. 

 
01.E.  Suspension and Debarment, Tax Liability, and Felony Convictions Certifications. 
 
01.E.1  Suspension and Debarment. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
a. It will comply and facilitate compliance with U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement 

Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR part 1200, which adopts and supplements the 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget (U.S. OMB) “Guidelines to Agencies on 
Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement),” 2 CFR part 180. 

b. To the best of its knowledge and belief, that its Principals and Subrecipients at the first tier: 
(1) Are eligible to participate in covered transactions of any federal department or agency 

and are not presently: 
(a) Debarred, 
(b) Suspended, 

43



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

7 
 

(c) Proposed for debarment, 
(d) Declared ineligible, 
(e) Voluntarily excluded, or 
(f) Disqualified. 

(2) Within a three-year period preceding its latest application or proposal, its management 
has not been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against any of them for: 
(a) Commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, 

attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, state, or local) transaction, or 
contract under a public transaction, 

(b) Violation of any federal or state antitrust statute, or 
(c) Commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction 

of records, making any false statement, or receiving stolen property. 
(3) It is not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 

governmental entity (federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses 
listed in the preceding subsection 2.b of this Certification. 

(4) It has not had one or more public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for 
cause or default within a three-year period preceding this Certification. 

(5) If, at a later time, it receives any information that contradicts the preceding statements 
of subsections 2.a – 2.d of this Category 01.E Certification, it will promptly provide that 
information to FTA. 

(6) It will treat each lower tier contract or subcontract under its Award as a covered lower 
tier contract for purposes of 2 CFR part 1200 and 2 CFR part 180 if it: 
(a) Equals or exceeds $25,000, 
(b) Is for audit services, or 
(c) Requires the consent of a federal official. 

(7) It will require that each covered lower tier contractor and subcontractor: 
(a) Comply and facilitate compliance with the federal requirements of 2 CFR parts 180 

and 1200, and 
(b) Assure that each lower tier participant in its Award is not presently declared by 

any federal department or agency to be: 
1 Debarred from participation in any federally assisted Award, 
2 Suspended from participation in any federally assisted Award, 
3 Proposed for debarment from participation in any federally assisted Award, 
4 Declared ineligible to participate in any federally assisted Award, 
5 Voluntarily excluded from participation in any federally assisted Award, or 
6 Disqualified from participation in any federally assisted Award. 

c. It will provide a written explanation if it or any of its principals, including any of its first tier 
Subrecipients or its Third Party Participants at a lower tier, is unable to certify compliance 
with the preceding statements in this Category 01.E.1 Certification. 

 
01.E.2. Tax Liability. 
 
If your Applicant is a private corporation, partnership, trust, joint-stock company, sole 
proprietorship, or other business association, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that:  

44



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

8 
 

a. Your Applicant and its prospective Subrecipients have no unpaid federal tax liability that has 
been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative remedies have been exhausted or 
have lapsed, and that is not being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the 
authority responsible for collecting the tax liability.  

 
b. Your Applicant and its Subrecipients will follow applicable U.S. DOT guidance when issued. 
 
01.E.3.  Felony Convictions. 
 
If your Applicant is a private corporation, partnership, trust, joint-stock company, sole 
proprietorship, or other business association, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that:  
a. Your Applicant and its prospective Subrecipients have not been convicted of a felony 

criminal violation under any federal law within the preceding 24 months.  
b. Your Applicant and its Subrecipients will follow applicable U.S. DOT guidance when it is 

issued. 
 

01.F.   U.S. OMB Assurances in SF-424B and SF-424D. 
 
The assurances in this Category 01.F are consistent with the U.S. OMB assurances required in 
the U.S. OMB SF-424B and SF-424D, and updated as necessary to reflect changes in federal 
laws, regulations, and requirements. 
 
1. Administrative Activities. On behalf of your Applicant, you assure that: 

a. For any application it submits for federal assistance, it has adequate resources to plan, 
manage, and properly complete the tasks to implement its Award, including: 
(1) The legal authority to apply for federal assistance, 
(2) The institutional capability, 
(3) The managerial capability, and 
(4) The financial capability (including funds sufficient to pay the non-federal share of 

the cost of incurred under its Award). 
b. As required, it will give access and the right to examine materials related to its Award to 

the following entities or individuals, including, but not limited to: 
(1) FTA, 
(2) The Comptroller General of the United States, and 
(3) The State, through an appropriate authorized representative. 

c. It will establish a proper accounting system in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting standards or FTA guidance. 

d. It will establish safeguards to prohibit employees from using their positions for a purpose 
that results in: 
(1) A personal or organizational conflict of interest or personal gain, or 
(2) An appearance of a personal or organizational conflict of interest or personal gain. 

2. Specifics of the Award. On behalf of your Applicant, you assure that: 
a. It will begin and complete work within the period of performance that applies following 

receipt of an FTA Award. 
b. For FTA assisted construction Awards: 

45



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

9 
 

(1) It will comply with FTA provisions concerning the drafting, review, and approval of 
construction plans and specifications, 

(2) It will provide and maintain competent and adequate engineering supervision at the 
construction site to assure that the completed work conforms to the approved plans 
and specifications, 

(3) It will include a covenant to assure nondiscrimination during the useful life of the 
real property financed under its Award in its title to that real property, 

(4) To the extent FTA requires, it will record the federal interest in the title to FTA 
assisted real property or interests in real property, and 

(5) It will not alter the site of the FTA assisted construction or facilities without 
permission or instructions from FTA by: 
(a) Disposing of the underlying real property or other interest in the site and 

facilities, 
(b) Modifying the use of the underlying real property or other interest in the site and 

facilities, or 
(c) Changing the terms of the underlying real property title or other interest in the 

site and facilities. 
c. It will furnish progress reports and other information as FTA or the state may require. 

3. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements. On behalf of your Applicant, you assure that: 
a. Your Applicant will comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements relating 

to nondiscrimination that apply, including, but not limited to: 
(1) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin, 

as provided in Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d. 
(2) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of sex, as provided in: 

(a) Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681 
– 1683, and 1685 – 1687, and 

(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education 
Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 CFR 
part 25. 

(3) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of age in federally assisted 
programs, as provided in the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 
42 U.S.C. §§ 6101 – 6107. 

(4) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability in federally assisted 
programs, as provided in section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 
29 U.S.C. § 794. 

(5) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability, as provided in the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 . 

(6) The prohibitions against discrimination in the sale, rental, or financing of housing, as 
provided in Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. 

(7) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of drug abuse, as provided in the 
Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, as amended, 21 U.S.C. § 1101 
et seq. 

(8) The prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse, as provided in 
the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention Act of 1970, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4541 et seq. 

46



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

10 
 

(9) The confidentiality requirements for records of alcohol and drug abuse patients, as 
provided in the Public Health Service Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 290dd – 
290dd-2. 

(10) The prohibitions against discrimination in employment as provided in Title VII of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., 

(11) The nondiscrimination provisions of any other statute(s) that may apply to its Award. 
b. As provided by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition 

Policies Act of 1970, as amended (Uniform Relocation Act), 42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq., 
and 49 U.S.C. § 5323(b), regardless of whether federal assistance has been provided for 
any real property acquired or improved for purposes of its Award: 
(1) It will provide for fair and equitable treatment of any displaced persons or any 

persons whose property is acquired or improved as a result of federally assisted 
programs. 

(2) It has the necessary legal authority under state and local laws, regulations, and 
requirements to comply with: 
(a) The Uniform Relocation Act. 42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq., as specified by 

42 U.S.C. §§ 4630 and 4655, and 
(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 

Acquisition for Federal and Federally Assisted Programs,” 49 CFR part 24, 
specifically 49 CFR § 24.4. 

(3) It has complied with or will comply with the Uniform Relocation Act and 
implementing U.S. DOT regulations because: 
(a) It will adequately inform each affected person of the benefits, policies, and 

procedures provided for in 49 CFR part 24. 
(b) As provided by 42 U.S.C. §§ 4622, 4623, and 4624, and 49 CFR part 24, if its 

Award results in displacement, it will provide fair and reasonable relocation 
payments and assistance to: 
1 Displaced families or individuals, and 
2 Displaced corporations, associations, or partnerships. 

(c) As provided by 42 U.S.C. § 4625 and 49 CFR part 24, it will provide relocation 
assistance programs offering the services described in the U.S. DOT regulations 
to such: 
1 Displaced families and individuals, and 
2 Displaced corporations, associations, or partnerships. 

(d) As provided by 42 U.S.C. § 4625(c)(3), within a reasonable time before 
displacement, it will make available comparable replacement dwellings to 
families and individuals. 

(e) It will do the following: 
1 Carry out the relocation process to provide displaced persons with uniform 

and consistent services, and 
2 Make available replacement housing in the same range of choices with 

respect to such housing to all displaced persons regardless of race, color, 
religion, or national origin. 

(f) It will be guided by the real property acquisition policies of 42 U.S.C. §§ 4651 
and 4652. 

47



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

11 
 

(g) It will pay or reimburse property owners for their necessary expenses as 
specified in 42 U.S.C. §§ 4653 and 4654, understanding that FTA will provide 
federal assistance for its eligible costs of providing payments for those 
expenses, as required by 42 U.S.C. § 4631. 

(h) It will execute the necessary implementing amendments to FTA assisted third 
party contracts and subagreements. 

(i) It will execute, furnish, and be bound by such additional documents as FTA 
may determine necessary to effectuate or implement these assurances. 

(j) It will incorporate these assurances by reference into and make them a part of 
any third party contract or subagreement, or any amendments thereto, related to 
its Award that involves relocation or land acquisition. 

(k) It will provide in any affected document that these relocation and land 
acquisition provisions must supersede any conflicting provisions. 

c. It will comply with the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, specifically 
42 U.S.C. § 4831(b), which prohibits the use of lead-based paint in the construction or 
rehabilitation of residence structures. 

d. It will, to the extent applicable, comply with the protections for human subjects involved 
in research, development, and related activities supported by federal assistance of: 
(1) The National Research Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 289 et seq., and 
(2) U.S. DOT regulations, “Protection of Human Subjects,” 49 CFR part 11. 

e. It will, to the extent applicable, comply with the labor standards and protections for 
federally assisted Awards of: 
(1) The Davis-Bacon Act, as amended, 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3144, 3146, and 3147, 
(2) Sections 1 and 2 of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act, as amended, 18 U.S.C. 

§ 874, and 40 U.S.C. § 3145, respectively, and 
(3) The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 

et seq. 
f. It will comply with any applicable environmental standards prescribed to implement 

federal laws and executive orders, including, but not limited to: 
(l) Complying with the institution of environmental quality control measures under the 

National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 – 4335 
and following Executive Order No. 11514, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 note. 

(2) Following the notification of violating facilities provisions of Executive Order 
No. 11738, 42 U.S.C. § 7606 note. 

(3) Following the protection of wetlands provisions of Executive Order No. 11990, 
42 U.S.C. § 4321 note. 

(4) Following the evaluation of flood hazards in the floodplains provisions of Executive 
Order No. 11988, May 24, 1977, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 note, and Executive Order 
No. 13690 “Establishing a Federal Flood Risk Management Standard and a Process 
for Further Soliciting and Considering Stakeholder Input, January 30, 2015. 

(5) Complying with the assurance of consistency with the approved state management 
program developed pursuant to the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, as 
amended, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1451 – 1465. 

48



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

12 
 

(6) Complying with the Conformity of Federal Actions to State (Clean Air) 
Implementation Plans requirements under section 176(c) of the Clean Air Act 
of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q. 

(7) Complying with protections for underground sources of drinking water under the 
Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 300f – 300j-6. 

(8) Complying with the protections for endangered species under the Endangered 
Species Act of 1973, as amended, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 – 1544. 

(9) Complying with the environmental protections for federal transportation programs, 
including, but not limited to, protections for parks, recreation areas, or wildlife or 
waterfowl refuges of national, state, or local significance or any land from a historic 
site of national, state, or local significance to be used in a transportation Award, as 
required by 49 U.S.C. § 303 (also known as “Section 4f”). 

(10) Complying with the protections for national wild and scenic rivers systems, as 
required under the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 1968, as amended, 16 U.S.C. 
§§ 1271 – 1287. 

(11) Complying with and facilitating compliance with: 
(a) Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, 

54 U.S.C. § 300108, 
(b) The Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, as amended, 

54 U.S.C. § 312501 et seq., and 
(c) Executive Order No. 11593 (identification and protection of historic properties), 

54 U.S.C. § 300101. 
g. To the extent applicable, it will comply with the following federal requirements for the 

care, handling, and treatment of warm-blooded animals held or used for research, 
teaching, or other activities supported with federal assistance: 
(1) The Animal Welfare Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 2131 et seq., and 
(2) U.S. Department of Agriculture regulations, “Animal Welfare,” 9 CFR 

subchapter A, parts 1, 2, 3, and 4. 
h. To the extent applicable, it will obtain a certificate of compliance with the seismic design 

and construction requirements of U.S. DOT regulations, “Seismic Safety,” 49 CFR 
part 41, specifically 49 CFR § 41.117(d), before accepting delivery of any FTA assisted 
buildings. 

i. It will comply with and assure that each of its Subrecipients located in special flood 
hazard areas will comply with section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster Protection Act 
of 1973, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4012a(a), by: 
(1) Participating in the federal flood insurance program, and 
(2) Purchasing flood insurance if the total cost of insurable construction and acquisition 

is $10,000 or more. 
j. It will comply with: 

(1) The Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 1501 – 1508, 7324 – 7326, which limits the political 
activities of state and local agencies and their officers and employees whose primary 
employment activities are financed in whole or part with federal assistance, 
including a federal loan, grant agreement, or cooperative agreement, and 

(2) 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(2) and 23 U.S.C. § 142(g), which provide an exception from 
Hatch Act restrictions for a nonsupervisory employee of a public transportation 

49



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

13 
 

system (or of any other agency or entity performing related functions) receiving 
federal assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and 
23 U.S.C. § 142(a)(2) to whom the Hatch Act does not otherwise apply. 

k. It will perform the financial and compliance audits as required by the: 
(1) Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, 31 U.S.C. § 7501 et seq., 
(2) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 

Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR part 1201, which incorporates by 
reference U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR part 200, and 

(3) Most recent applicable U.S. OMB Compliance Supplement, 2 CFR part 200, 
appendix XI (previously known as the U.S. OMB Circular A-133 Compliance 
Supplement). 

l. It will comply with all other federal laws, regulations, and requirements that apply. 
m. It will follow federal guidance governing it and its Award, except as FTA has expressly 

approved otherwise in writing. 
 

CATEGORY 02. LOBBYING. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for a grant or cooperative agreement exceeding 
$100,000 or a loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance exceeding $150,000, you 
must select the Lobbying Certifications in Category 02, unless your Applicant is an Indian Tribe, 
Indian organization, or an Indian tribal organization exempt from the requirements of 31 U.S.C. 
§ 1352, and/or except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 02 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. As required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352 and U.S. DOT regulations, “New Restrictions on 

Lobbying,” specifically 49 CFR § 20.110: 
a. The lobbying restrictions of this Certification apply to its requests: 

(1) For $100,000 or more in federal assistance for a grant or cooperative agreement, and 
(2) For $150,000 or more in federal assistance for a loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, 

or loan insurance, and 
b. Your Certification on your Applicant’s behalf applies to the lobbying activities of: 

(1) The Applicant, 
(2) Its Principals, and 
(3) Its Subrecipients at the first tier. 

2. To the best of your knowledge and belief: 
a. No federal appropriated funds have been or will be paid by your Applicant or on its 

behalf to any person to influence or attempt to influence: 
(1) An officer or employee of any federal agency regarding the award of a: 

(a) Federal grant or cooperative agreement, or 
(b) Federal loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance, or 

(2) A Member of Congress, an employee of a member of Congress, or an officer or 
employee of Congress regarding the award of a: 

50



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

14 
 

(a) Federal grant or cooperative agreement, or 
(b) Federal loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance. 

b. Your Applicant will submit a complete OMB Standard Form LLL (Rev. 7-97), 
“Disclosure of Lobbying Activities,” consistent with the instructions on that form, if any 
funds other than federal appropriated funds have been or will be paid to any person to 
influence or attempt to influence: 
(1) An officer or employee of any federal agency regarding the award of a: 

(a) Federal grant or cooperative agreement, or 
(b) Federal loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance, or 

(2) A Member of Congress, an employee of a member of Congress, or an officer or 
employee of Congress regarding the award of a: 
(a) Federal grant or cooperative agreement, or 
(b) Federal loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance. 

c. Your Applicant will include the language of this Certification in its Award documents 
under a federal grant, cooperative agreement, loan, line of credit, or loan insurance 
including, but not limited to: 
(1) Each third party contract, 
(2) Each third party subcontract, 
(3) Each subagreement, and 
(4) Each third party agreement. 

3. Your Applicant understands that: 
a. This Certification is a material representation of fact that the Federal Government relies 

on, and 
b. It must submit this Certification before the Federal Government may award federal 

assistance for a transaction covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, including a: 
(1) Federal grant or cooperative agreement, or 
(2) Federal loan, line of credit, loan guarantee, or loan insurance. 

4. Your Applicant understands that any person who does not file a required Certification will 
incur a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such 
failure. 

 
CATEGORY 03. PROCUREMENT AND PROCUREMENT SYSTEMS. 

 
We request that you select the Procurement and Procurement Systems Certification in 
Category 03 on behalf of your Applicant, especially if your Applicant is a state, local, or 
Indian tribal government with a certified procurement system, as provided in 2 CFR 
§ 200.324(c)(2), incorporated by reference in 2 CFR part 1201 or former 49 CFR 
§ 18.36(g)(3)(ii). 
 
Any provision of the Certification in Category 03 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that its procurements and its procurement system will 
comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements in accordance with applicable federal 
guidance, except as FTA has approved otherwise in writing. 
 

51



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

15 
 

CATEGORY 04. PRIVATE SECTOR PROTECTIONS. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award that involves the acquisition of public 
transportation property or the operation of public transportation facilities or equipment, you 
must select the Private Property Protections Assurances in Category 04.A and enter into the 
Agreements in Category 04.B and Category 04.C on behalf of your Applicant, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Assurances and Agreements in Category 04 that does not apply will not be 
enforced. 
 
04.A. Private Property Protections. 
 
If your Applicant is a state, local government, or Indian tribal government and seeks federal 
assistance from FTA to acquire the property of a private transit operator or operate public 
transportation in competition with or in addition to a public transportation operator, the Private 
Property Protections Assurances in Category 04.A apply to your Applicant, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 
To facilitate FTA’s ability to make the findings required by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(a)(1), on behalf of 
your Applicant, you assure that: 
1. Your Applicant has or will have: 

a. Determined that the federal assistance it has requested is essential to carrying out its 
Program of Projects as required by 49 U.S.C. §§ 5303, 5304, and 5306, 

b. Provided for the participation of private companies engaged in public transportation to 
the maximum extent feasible, and 

c. Paid just compensation under state or local laws to the company for any franchise or 
property acquired. 

2. Your Applicant has completed the actions described in the preceding section 1 of this 
Category 04.A Certification before: 
a. It acquires the property or an interest in the property of a private provider of public 

transportation, or 
b. It operates public transportation equipment or facilities: 

(1) In competition with transportation service provided by an existing public 
transportation operator, or 

(2) In addition to transportation service provided by an existing public transportation 
operator. 

 
04.B. Charter Service Agreement. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA to acquire or operate transit facilities or 
equipment, the Charter Service Agreement in Category 04.B applies to your Applicant, except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 

52



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

16 
 

To comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d) and (g) and FTA regulations, “Charter Service, 49 CFR 
part 604, specifically 49 CFR § 604.4, on behalf of your Applicant, you are entering into the 
following Charter Service Agreement: 
1. FTA’s “Charter Service” regulations apply as follows: 

a. FTA’s Charter Service regulations restrict transportation by charter service using 
facilities and equipment acquired or improved under an Award derived from: 
(1) Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
(2) 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
(3) Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless otherwise 

excepted. 
b. FTA’s charter service restrictions extend to: 

(1) Your Applicant, when it receives federal assistance appropriated or made available 
for: 
(a) Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
(b) 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
(c) Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless 

otherwise excepted. 
(2) Any Third Party Participant that receives federal assistance derived from: 

(a) Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
(b) 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
(c) Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless 

otherwise excepted. 
c. A Third Party Participant includes any: 

(1) Subrecipient at any tier, 
(2) Lessee, 
(3) Third Party Contractor or Subcontractor at any tier, and 
(4) Other Third Party Participant in its Award. 

d. You and your Applicant agree that neither it nor any governmental authority or publicly 
owned operator that receives federal public transportation assistance appropriated or 
made available for its Award will engage in charter service operations, except as 
permitted under: 
(1) Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d) and (g), 
(2) FTA regulations, “Charter Service,” 49 CFR part 604, to the extent consistent with 

49 U.S.C. § 5323(d) and (g), 
(3) Any other federal Charter Service regulations, or 
(4) Federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

e. You and your Applicant agree that the latest Charter Service Agreement selected in its 
latest annual Certifications and Assurances is incorporated by reference and made part of 
the Underlying Agreement accompanying its Award of federal assistance from FTA. 

f. You and your Applicant agree that: 
(1) FTA may require corrective measures or impose remedies on it or any governmental 

authority or publicly owned operator that receives federal assistance from FTA that 
has demonstrated a pattern of violating of FTA’s Charter Service regulations by: 
(a) Conducting charter operations prohibited by federal transit laws and FTA’s 

Charter Service regulations, or 

53



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

17 
 

(b) Otherwise violating its Charter Service Agreement selected in its latest annual 
Certifications and Assurances. 

(2) These corrective measures and remedies may include: 
(a) Barring your Applicant or any Third Party Participant operating public 

transportation under its Award that has provided prohibited charter service from 
receiving federal assistance from FTA, 

(b) Withholding an amount of federal assistance as provided by Appendix D to 
FTA’s Charter Service regulations, or 

(c) Any other appropriate remedy that may apply. 
2. In addition to the exceptions to the restrictions in FTA’s Charter Service regulations, FTA 

has established the following additional exceptions to those restrictions: 
a. FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to your Applicant if it seeks federal 

assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307 or 5311 to be used for 
Job Access and Reverse Commute (JARC) activities that would have been eligible for 
assistance under former 49 U.S.C. § 5316 in effect in FY 2012 or a previous fiscal year, 
provided that it uses that federal assistance from FTA for those program purposes only. 

b. FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to your Applicant if it seeks federal 
assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. § 5310 to be used for New 
Freedom activities that would have been eligible for assistance under former 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5317 in effect in FY 2012 or a previous fiscal year, provided it uses that federal 
assistance from FTA for those program purposes only. 

c. An Applicant for assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 will not be determined to have 
violated the FTA Charter Service regulations if that Recipient provides a private intercity 
or charter transportation operator reasonable access to that Recipient’s federally assisted 
public transportation facilities, including intermodal facilities, park and ride lots, and bus-
only highway lanes, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5323(r). 

 
04.C. School Bus Agreement. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA to acquire or operate transit facilities or 
equipment, the School Bus Agreement in Category 04.C applies to your Applicant, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 
To comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) and (g) and FTA regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 
49 CFR part 605, to the extent consistent with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) and (g), your Applicant 
agrees to enter into the following School Bus Agreement: 
1. FTA’s “School Bus Operations” regulations at 49 CFR part 605 restricts school bus 

operations using facilities and equipment acquired or improved with federal assistance 
derived from: 
a. Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
b. 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
c. Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless otherwise 

excepted. 
2. FTA’s school bus operations restrictions extend to: 

a. Your Applicant, when it receives federal assistance appropriated or made available for: 

54



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

18 
 

(1) Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
(2) 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
(3) Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless otherwise 

excepted. 
b. Any Third Party Participant that receives federal assistance derived from: 

(1) Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
(2) 23 U.S.C. §§ 133 or 142, or 
(3) Any other Act that provides federal public transportation assistance, unless otherwise 

excepted. 
3. A Third Party Participant includes any: 

a. Subrecipient at any tier, 
b. Lessee, 
c. Third Party Contractor or Subcontractor at any tier, and 
d. Any other Third Party Participant in the Award. 

4. You and your Applicant agree, and will obtain the agreement of any Third Party Participant, 
that it will not engage in school bus operations in competition with private operators of 
school buses, except as permitted under: 
a. Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) and (g), 
b. FTA regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 49 CFR part 605, to the extent consistent 

with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) and (g), 
c. Any other federal School Bus regulations, or 
d. Federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

5. You and your Applicant agree that the latest School Bus Agreement selected on its behalf in 
FTA’s latest annual Certifications and Assurances is incorporated by reference and made part 
of the Underlying Agreement accompanying its Award of federal assistance. 

6. You and your Applicant agree that after it is a Recipient, if it or any Third Party Participant 
has violated this School Bus Agreement, FTA may: 
a. Bar your Applicant or Third Party Participant from receiving further federal assistance 

for public transportation, or 
b. Require the Applicant or Third Party Participant to take such remedial measures as FTA 

considers appropriate. 
 

CATEGORY 05. ROLLING STOCK REVIEWS AND BUS TESTING. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award to acquire rolling stock for use in 
revenue service or to acquire a new bus model, you must select the Rolling Stock Reviews and 
Bus Testing Certifications in Category 05, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 05 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
05.A. Rolling Stock Reviews. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA to acquire rolling stock for use in revenue 
service, the Rolling Stock Reviews Certifications in Category 05.A apply to your Applicant, 
except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

55



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

19 
 

 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that, when procuring rolling stock for use in revenue 
service: 
1. Your Applicant will comply with: 

a. Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m), and 
b. FTA regulations, “Pre-Award and Post-Delivery Audits of Rolling Stock Purchases,” 

49 CFR part 663, and 
2. As provided in 49 CFR § 663.7: 

a. Your Applicant will conduct or cause to be conducted the required pre-award and post-
delivery reviews of that rolling stock, and 

b. It will maintain on file the Certifications required by 49 CFR part 663, subparts B, C, 
and D. 

 
05.B. Bus Testing. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA to acquire a new bus model, the Bus Testing 
Certifications in Category 05.B apply to your Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise in 
writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. FTA’s bus testing requirements apply to all acquisitions of new buses and new bus models 

that require bus testing as defined in FTA’s Bus Testing regulations, and it will comply with: 
a. 49 U.S.C. § 5318, and 
b. FTA regulations, “Bus Testing,” 49 CFR part 665. 

2. As required by 49 CFR § 665.7, when acquiring the first bus of any new bus model or a bus 
model with a major change in components or configuration, your Applicant will not spend 
any federal assistance appropriated under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 to acquire that new bus or 
new bus model until: 
a. That new bus or new bus model has been tested at FTA’s bus testing facility, and 
b. It has received a copy of the test report prepared for that new bus or new bus model. 

3. It will ensure that the new bus or new bus model that is tested has met the performance standards 
consistent with those regulations, including the:  
a. Performance standards for:  

(1) Maintainability,  
(2) Reliability,  
(3) Performance (including braking performance),  
(4) Structural integrity,  
(5) Fuel economy,  
(6) Emissions, and  
(7) Noise, and  

b. Minimum safety performance standards established under 49 U.S.C. § 5329, when issued. 
4. After FTA regulations authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5318(e)(2) are in effect, it will ensure that 

the new bus or new bus model that is tested has received a passing aggregate test score under 
the “Pass/Fail” standard established by regulation. 

 
CATEGORY 06. DEMAND RESPONSIVE SERVICE. 

56



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

20 
 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance to a public entity that operates demand responsive 
service for an Award to acquire a non-rail vehicle that is not accessible, you must select the 
Demand Responsive Service Certifications in Category 06, except as FTA determines otherwise 
in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 06 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
As required by U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities 
(ADA),” 49 CFR part 37, specifically 49 CFR § 37.77(d), on behalf of your Applicant, you 
certify that: 
1. Your Applicant offers public transportation services equivalent in level and quality of service 

to: 
a. Individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, and 
b. Individuals without disabilities. 

2. Viewed in its entirety, your Applicant’s service for individuals with disabilities is: 
a. Provided in the most integrated setting feasible, and 
b. Equivalent to the service it offers individuals without disabilities with respect to: 

(1) Response time, 
(2) Fares, 
(3) Geographic service area, 
(4) Hours and days of service, 
(5) Restrictions on priorities based on trip purpose, 
(6) Availability of information and reservation capability, and 
(7) Constraints on capacity or service availability. 

 
CATEGORY 07. INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS. 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award in support of an Intelligent 
Transportation System (ITS), you must select the Intelligent Transportation Systems Assurances 
in Category 07, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Assurances in Category 07 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you and your Applicant: 
1. Understand that, as used in this Assurance, the term Intelligent Transportation System is 

defined to include technologies or systems of technologies that provide or significantly 
contribute to the provision of one or more Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) user 
services as defined in the “National ITS Architecture.” 

2. Assure that, as provided in 23 U.S.C. § 517(d), any Award that includes an ITS or related 
activity financed with appropriations made available from the Highway Trust Fund, 
including amounts made available to deploy ITS facilities or equipment, will conform to the 
appropriate regional ITS architecture, applicable standards, and protocols developed under 
23 U.S.C. § 517(a) or (c), unless it obtains a waiver as provided in 23 U.S.C. § 517(d)(2). 

 

57



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

21 
 

CATEGORY 08. INTEREST AND FINANCING COSTS AND  
ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL ASSETS BY LEASE. 

 
Before FTA may award federal assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. 
chapter 53 to support the interest, financing, or leasing costs of any Award financed under the 
Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program, Fixed Guideway Capital Investment Grants 
Program, any program to which the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5307 apply, or any other 
program as FTA may specify, you must select the Certifications in Category 08, except as FTA 
may determine otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications and Assurances in Category 08 that does not apply will not be 
enforced. 
 
08.A. Interest and Financing Costs. 
 
If your Applicant intends to use federal assistance to support the interest or any other financing 
costs for an Award financed under the Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program, the Fixed 
Guideway Capital Investment Grants Program, the New Starts, Small Starts, and Core Capacity 
Programs, any program that must comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, or any 
other program as FTA may specify, the Interest and Financing Costs Certifications in 
Category 08.A apply to your Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It will not seek reimbursement for interest or any other financing costs unless: 

a. It is eligible to receive federal assistance for those costs, and 
b. Its records demonstrate that it has shown reasonable diligence in seeking the most 

favorable financing terms, as FTA may require. 
2. It will comply with the same favorable financing cost provisions for Awards financed under: 

a. The Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program, 
b. A Full Funding Grant Agreement, 
c. An Early Systems Work Agreement, 
d. The Fixed Guideway Capital Investment Program financed by previous FTA enabling 

legislation, 
e. Any program that must comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, or 
f. Any other program as FTA may specify. 

 
08.B. Acquisition of Capital Assets by Lease. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA to acquire capital assets (other than rolling 
stock or related equipment) through a lease, the Acquisition of Capital Assets by Lease 
Certifications and Assurances in Category 08.B apply to your Applicant, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify and assure that, as required by FTA regulations, 
“Capital Leases,” 49 CFR part 639, to the extent consistent with the FAST Act, if your Applicant 

58



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

22 
 

acquires any capital asset (other than rolling stock or related equipment) through a lease financed 
with federal assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, it will not 
enter into a capital lease for which FTA can provide only incremental federal assistance unless it 
has adequate financial resources to meet its future lease obligations if federal assistance is not 
available. 
 

CATEGORY 09. TRANSIT ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN, PUBLIC 
TRANSPORTATION AGENCY SAFETY PLAN,  

AND STATE SAFETY OVERSIGHT REQUIREMENTS. 
 

Before FTA may provide federal assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. 
chapter 53 to support an Award, you must select the Certifications in Category 09, except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 09 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
09.A. Transit Asset Management Plan. 
 
If your Applicant applies for funding appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 
the Transit Asset Management Certifications in Category 09.A apply to your Applicant, except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that it and each of its Subrecipients will: 
1. Comply with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625, and 
2. Follow federal guidance that will implement the regulations at 49 CFR part 625. 
 
09.B. Public Transportation Safety Program. 
 
If your Applicant applies for funding under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and it is a State, local 
government authority, or any other operator of a public transportation system, the particular 
provisions under the Public Transportation Safety Program in Category 09.B apply to your 
Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that it will comply with applicable regulations, 
guidance, and directives that implement the Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 
49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
09.C.  State Safety Oversight Requirements. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, depending on how far the Recipient has progressed in developing a 
State Safety Oversight program fully compliant with 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e) and FTA regulations, 
“State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 674, your applicant certifies that it will comply as 
follows: 

59



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

23 
 

1. States With a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA regulations, “State 
Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 674, will apply when its State Safety Oversight program is 
fully compliant with FTA’s requirements, but 

2. States Without a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA regulations, 
“Rail Fixed Guideway Systems; State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 659, will continue to 
apply to those states that have not yet implemented a fully compliant Public Transportation 
Safety Program. 

 
CATEGORY 10. ALCOHOL AND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES TESTING. 

 
If your Applicant must comply with the alcohol and controlled substance testing requirements of 
49 U.S.C. § 5331 and its implementing regulations, before FTA may provide federal assistance 
for an Award, you must select the Certifications in Category 10, except as FTA may determine 
otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 10 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5331, and FTA regulations, “Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and 
Prohibited Drug Use in Transit Operations,” 49 CFR part 655, subpart I, specifically 49 CFR 
§ 655.83, on behalf of your Applicant, including an Applicant that is a state, and on behalf of its 
Subrecipients and Third Party Contractors, you certify that: 
1. Your Applicant, its Subrecipients, and Third Party Contractors to which these testing 

requirements apply have established and implemented: 
a. An alcohol misuse testing program, and 
b. A controlled substance testing program. 

2. Your Applicant, its Subrecipients, and its Third Party Contractors to which these testing 
requirements apply have complied or will comply with all applicable requirements of 
49 CFR part 655 to the extent those regulations are consistent with 49 U.S.C. § 5331. 

3. Consistent with U.S. DOT Office of Drug and Alcohol Policy and Compliance Notice, issued 
October 22, 2009, if your Applicant, its Subrecipients, or its Third Party Contractors to which 
these testing requirements apply reside in a state that permits marijuana use for medical or 
recreational purposes, your Applicant, its Subrecipients, and its Third Party Contractors to 
which these testing requirements apply have complied or will comply with the federal 
controlled substance testing requirements of 49 CFR part 655. 

 
CATEGORY 11. FIXED GUIDEWAY CAPITAL INVESTMENT GRANTS PROGRAM 

(NEW STARTS, SMALL STARTS, AND CORE CAPACITY IMPROVEMENT). 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the New Starts, Small 
Starts, or Core Capacity Improvement Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5309, you must 
select the Certifications in Category 11, except as FTA may determine otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 11 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 

60



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

24 
 

1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 
including the safety and security aspects of that Award, 

2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and facilities 
acquired or improved under its Award. 

3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award in 
accordance with its transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA regulations, 
“Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625, 

4. It will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5304, and 
5. It will comply with FTA guidance, “Final Interim Policy Guidance, Federal Transit 

Administration Capital Investment Grant Program,” June 2016. 
 

CATEGORY 12. STATE OF GOOD REPAIR PROGRAM. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the State of Good 
Repair Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5337, you must select the Certifications in 
Category 12, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Assurance in Category 12 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award, 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award, 
3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 

accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625, and 

4. It will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5304. 
 

CATEGORY 13. GRANTS FOR BUSES AND BUS FACILITIES AND LOW OR NO 
EMISSION VEHICLE DEPLOYMENT GRANT PROGRAMS 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award under the Buses and Bus Facilities 
Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5339, as amended by the FAST Act, which authorizes 
grants for formula and competitive Bus and Bus Facilities Grants and Low or No Emission buses 
or an award under the Low or No Emission Vehicle Development Program authorized under 
former 49 U.S.C. § 5312(d)(5), you must select the Certifications in Category 13, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 

61



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

25 
 

Any provision of the Certifications in Category 13 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
13.A. Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities Program  
 
The following Certifications for the Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities Program are required 
by 49 U.S.C. § 5339, as amended by the FAST Act, which provides that the requirements of 
49 U.S.C. § 5307 shall apply to recipients of grants made in urbanized areas and the 
requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5311 shall apply to recipients of grants made in rural areas. 
Therefore: 
 
1. If your Applicant is in an urbanized area, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on 

behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
a. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
b. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and 

facilities acquired or improved under its Award. 
c. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 

accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

d. When using or involving a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal 
assistance under 49 U.S.C. § 5339 during non-peak hours for transportation, recipients in 
an urbanized area will charge a fare not exceeding fifty (50) percent of the peak hour fare 
to the following individuals:  
(1) Any senior, 
(2) Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, congenital malfunction, or any 

other incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is 
a wheelchair user or has semi-ambulatory capability), is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, planning, or design, 

(3) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

(4) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII 
of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

e. When carrying out a procurement under 49 U.S.C. § 5339, it will comply with: 
(1) The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
(2) The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

f. It has complied with or will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5307(b). 
g. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(d): 

(1) It has or will have the amount of funds required for the non-federal share, 
(2) It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
(3) It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

h. It will comply with: 
(1) The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
(2) The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 

49 U.S.C. § 5304. 

62



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

26 
 

i. It has a locally developed process to solicit and consider public comment before: 
(1) Raising a fare, or 
(2) Implementing a major reduction of public transportation service. 

j. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the 
Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

2.  Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, if your Applicant is in a rural area, you 
certify, on behalf of your Applicant, that: 
a. It has or will have and require each Subrecipient to have the legal, financial, and 

technical capacity to carry out its Award, including the safety and security aspects of that 
Award. 

b. It has or will have and require each Subrecipient to have satisfactory continuing control 
over the use of its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award. 

c. It will maintain and require each Subrecipient to maintain its equipment and facilities 
acquired or improved under its Award, in accordance with the recipient’s transit asset 
management plan and consistent with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 
CFR part 625. 

d. Its state program has provided for a fair distribution of federal assistance appropriated or 
made available under 49 U.S.C. § 5311(b) within the state to eligible entities, including 
Indian reservations. 

e. Its program provides or will provide the maximum feasible coordination of federal 
assistance for public transportation service with transportation service financed by other 
federal sources. 

f. Its Awards and Subawards in its Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program are included 
in: 
(1) The statewide transportation improvement program, and 
(2) To the extent applicable, a metropolitan transportation improvement program. 

g. With respect to the non-federal share: 
(1) It has or will have and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to have the 

amount of funds required for the non-federal share, as required by 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5311(g), 

(2) It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the non-
federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 

(3) It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the non-
federal share when needed. 

h. It may transfer a facility or equipment acquired or improved under its Award to any other 
Recipient eligible to receive assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, if: 
(1) The Recipient possessing the facility or equipment consents to the transfer, and 
(2) The facility or equipment will continue to be used as required under 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5311. 
 
13.B. Low or No Emission Vehicle Deployment. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award financed under the Low or No 
Emission Vehicle Development Program authorized under former 49 U.S.C. § 5312(d)(5), the 

63



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

27 
 

Certifications and Assurances in Category 13.B apply to your Applicant, except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Former section 5312(d)(5)(C)(i) of title 49, United States Code, requires the following 
Certifications for Low or No Emission Vehicle Deployment Program before awarding federal 
assistance appropriated or made available under MAP-21. Therefore, except as FTA determines 
otherwise in writing, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify and assure that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award in 

accordance with the Recipient’s transit management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

4. When using or involving a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal assistance 
under former 49 U.S.C. § 5312(d)(5) during non-peak hours for transportation, it will charge 
a fare not exceeding fifty (50) percent of the peak hour to the following individuals: 
a. Any senior, 
b. Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, a congenital malfunction, or any 

other incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is a 
wheelchair user or who has semi-ambulatory capability) and is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, special planning, or special design, 

c. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of the 
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

d. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

5. When carrying out a procurement under this Program, it will comply with: 
a. The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
b. The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

6. It has complied with or will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5307(b) because: 
a. It has informed or will inform the public of the amounts of its federal assistance available 

under this Program, 
b. It has developed or will develop, in consultation with interested parties including private 

transportation providers, its proposed Program of Projects for activities to be financed, 
c. It has published or will publish its proposed Program of Projects in a way that affected 

individuals, private transportation providers, and local elected officials will have an 
opportunity to examine and submit comments on the proposed Projects and its 
performance as an Applicant, 

d. It has provided or will provide an opportunity for a public hearing to obtain the views of 
individuals on its proposed Program of Projects, 

e. It has assured or will assure that its proposed Program of Projects provides for 
coordination of public transportation services assisted under 49 U.S.C. § 5336, as 
amended by the FAST Act, with federally assisted transportation services supported by 
other federal sources, 

64



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

28 
 

f. It has considered or will consider the comments and views received, especially those of 
private transportation providers, in preparing its final list of Projects, and 

g. It has made or will make the final list of Projects for which an Award is sought available 
to the public. 

7. With respect to the non-federal share: 
a. It has or will have the amount of funds required for the non-federal share, 
b. It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
c. It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

8. It will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304. 

9. It has a locally developed process to solicit and consider public comment before: 
a. Raising a fare, or 
b. Implementing a major reduction of public transportation service. 

10. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the Public 
Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 

 
CATEGORY 14. URBANIZED AREA FORMULA GRANTS PROGRAMS AND 

PASSENGER FERRY GRANT PROGRAM. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Urbanized Area 
Formula Grants Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5307, as amended by the FAST Act, 
which authorizes federal assistance for Job Access and Reverse Commute (JARC) activities, and 
the Passenger Ferry Grant Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5307(h), you must select the 
Certifications in Category 14, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 14 that does not apply will not be enforced.  
 
14.A. Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program under the FAST Act. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award financed under the Urbanized 
Area Formula Grants Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5307, as amended by the FAST 
Act, the Certifications in Category 14.A apply to your Applicant, except as FTA determines 
otherwise in writing. 
 
The following Certifications for the Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5307, as amended by the FAST Act, are required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1). Therefore, except 
as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 

65



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

29 
 

3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 
accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625, 

4. When using or involving a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal assistance 
under 49 U.S.C. § 5307 during non-peak hours for transportation, it will charge a fare not 
exceeding fifty (50) percent of the peak hour fare to the following individuals: 
a. Any senior, 
b. Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, congenital malfunction, or any other 

incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is a 
wheelchair user or has semi-ambulatory capability), is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, planning, or design, 

c. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of the 
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

d. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

5. When carrying out a procurement under 49 U.S.C. § 5307, it will comply with: 
a. The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
b. The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

6. It has complied with or will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5307(b) because: 
a. It has made or will make available to the public information on the amounts of federal 

assistance available to it under 49 U.S.C. § 5307, 
b. It has developed or will develop, in consultation with interested parties including private 

transportation providers, its proposed Program of Projects for activities for which federal 
assistance is sought, 

c. It has published or will publish its proposed Program of Projects in a way that affected 
individuals, private transportation providers, and local elected officials will have an 
opportunity to examine and submit comments on its proposed Program of Projects and its 
performance as an Applicant or Recipient, 

d. It has provided or will provide an opportunity for a public hearing to obtain the views of 
individuals on its proposed Program of Projects, 

e. It has ensured or will ensure that its proposed Program of Projects provides for 
coordination of transportation services financed by FTA under 49 U.S.C. § 5336, as 
amended by the FAST Act, with transportation services supported by other Federal 
Government sources, 

f. It has considered or will consider the comments and views received, especially those of 
private transportation providers, in preparing its final Program of Projects, and 

g. It has made or will make its final Program of Projects available to the public. 
7. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(d): 

a. It has or will have the amount of funds required for the non-federal share, 
b. It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
c. It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

8. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1)(H), it will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 

66



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

30 
 

b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5304. 

9. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1)(I), it has a locally developed process to solicit and 
consider public comment before: 
a. Raising a fare, or 
b. Implementing a major reduction of public transportation. 

10. Each fiscal year: 
a. It will assure that at least one (1) percent of the amount of federal assistance under 

49 U.S.C. § 5307 apportioned to its urbanized area must be expended for Public 
Transportation Security activities as described in 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1)(J)(i) including: 
(1) Increased lighting in or adjacent to a public transportation system (including bus 

stops, subway stations, parking lots, and garages), 
(2) Increased camera surveillance of an area in or adjacent to that system, 
(3) Emergency telephone line or lines to contact law enforcement or security personnel 

in an area in or adjacent to that system, and 
(4) Any other activity intended to increase the security and safety of an existing or 

planned public transportation system, or 
b. The Designated Recipients in its urbanized area certify that such expenditures for Public 

Transportation Security activities are not necessary. 
11. If it serves an urbanized area with a population of at least 200,000 individuals, as determined 

by the Bureau of the Census: 
a. It will provide a report by the end of the fourth quarter of the preceding federal fiscal year 

that lists projects carried out in the preceding fiscal year under this section for associated 
transit improvements as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 5302, and 

b. The report of its Associated Transit Improvements or related activities is or will be 
incorporated by reference and made part of its Certifications and Assurances. 

12. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the Public 
Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 
 

14.B. Passenger Ferry Grant Program. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award financed under the Passenger 
Ferry Grant Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5307(h),as amended by the FAST Act, the 
Certifications in Category 14.B apply to your Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise in 
writing. 
 
The following Certifications for the Passenger Ferry Grant Program are required by 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5307(c)(1) or (h). Therefore, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on behalf of your 
Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 

67



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

31 
 

3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 
accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

4. When using or involving a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal assistance 
under 49 U.S.C. § 5307(h) during non-peak hours for transportation, it will charge a fare not 
exceeding fifty (50) percent of the peak hour fare to the following individuals: 
a. Any senior, 
b. Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, congenital malfunction, or any other 

incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is a 
wheelchair user or has semi-ambulatory capability), is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, planning, or design, 

c. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of the 
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

d. Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

5. When carrying out a procurement under 49 U.S.C. § 5307(h), it will comply with: 
a. The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
b. The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

6. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(d): 
a. It has or will have the amount of funds required for the non-federal share, 
b. It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
c. It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

7. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1)(H), it will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5304. 
8. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1)(I), it has a locally developed process to solicit and 

consider public comment before: 
a. Raising a fare, or 
b. Implementing a major reduction of public transportation service. 

9. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the Public 
Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing.  

 
CATEGORY 15. ENHANCED MOBILITY OF SENIORS AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 

DISABILITIES PROGRAMS. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Formula Grants for 
the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program authorized under 
49 U.S.C. § 5310, as amended by the FAST Act, or the Pilot Program for Innovated Access and 
Mobility under Section 3006(b) of the FAST Act, you must select the Certifications in 
Category 15, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 15 that does not apply will not be enforced. 

68



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

32 
 

 
1. The following Certifications for the Formula Grants for the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors 

and Individuals with Disabilities Program are required by 49 U.S.C. § 5310. Therefore, 
except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
a. Each Subrecipient is: 

(1) A private nonprofit organization, or 
(2) A state or local governmental authority that: 

(a) Is approved by a state to coordinate services for seniors and individuals with 
disabilities, or 

(b) Certifies that there are no private nonprofit organizations readily available in the 
area to provide the services authorized for support under the Formula Grants for 
the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program. 

b. Your Applicant will comply with the following selection and planning requirements: 
(1) The Projects it has selected or will select for an Award or Subaward of federal 

assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. § 5310 are included in a 
public transit-human services transportation plan that has been: 
(a) Locally developed, and 
(b) Coordinated. 

(2) The public transit-human services transportation plan was developed and approved 
through a process that included participation by: 
(a) Seniors, 
(b) Individuals with disabilities, 
(c) Representatives of public, private, and nonprofit transportation providers, 
(d) Representatives of public, private, and nonprofit human services providers, and 
(e) Other members of the public. 

(3) Within its Award, the Projects selected to receive federal assistance will assist in 
providing transportation services for seniors and individuals with disabilities are 
included in its Program of Projects submitted to FTA annually. 

(4) To the maximum extent feasible, the services financed by 49 U.S.C. § 5310 will be 
coordinated with transportation services financed by other federal departments and 
agencies, including any transportation activities carried out by a recipient of federal 
assistance from the Department of Health and Human Services. 

c. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(e)(2)(B), it certifies that if it allocates federal assistance 
received under 49 U.S.C. § 5310 to any Subrecipient, it will have allocated that federal 
assistance on a fair and equitable basis. 

d. It will not transfer a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal assistance 
appropriated or made available for a grant under 49 U.S.C. § 5310 to any other recipient 
eligible to receive assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, unless: 
(1) The recipient possessing the facility or equipment consents to the transfer, and 
(2) The facility or equipment will continue to be used as required under 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5310. 
e. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(b)(2), it will use at least fifty-five (55) percent of the 

federal assistance it receives for Capital Projects to meet the special needs of seniors and 
individuals with disabilities. 

69



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

33 
 

f. The requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, as determined by FTA, will apply to the Formula 
Grants for the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program 
authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310. 

2. FTA has determined that certain requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5307 are appropriate for the 
Formula Grants for the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 
Program, some of which require Certifications. Therefore, as specified under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5307(c)(1), your Applicant certifies that: 
a. It has or will have and will require each Subrecipient to have the legal, financial, and 

technical capacity to carry out its Award, including the safety and security aspects of that 
Award. 

b. It has or will have and will require each Subrecipient to have satisfactory continuing 
control over the use of its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award 
or Subaward. 

c. It will maintain and will require each Subrecipient to maintain its equipment and facilities 
acquired or improved under its Award or Subaward, in accordance with the recipient’s 
transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset 
Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

d. When carrying out a procurement under the Formula Grants for the Enhanced Mobility of 
Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program, it will require each Subrecipient to 
comply with: 
(1) The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
(2) The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

e. With respect to the non-federal share: 
(1) It has or will have and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to have the 

amount of funds required for the non-federal share, as required by 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5310, 

(2) It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the non-
federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 

(3) It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the non-
federal share when needed. 

f. It has complied or will comply and will require each Subrecipient to comply with: 
(1) The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
(2) The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 

49 U.S.C. § 5304. 
g. To the extent applicable, it will and will require its Subrecipients to comply with applicable 

regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the Public Transportation Safety 
Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA determines otherwise in 
writing. 

 
CATEGORY 16. RURAL AREAS AND  

APPALACHIAN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Formula Grants for 
Rural Areas Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5311(b), as amended by FAST Act, and the 
Appalachian Development Public Transportation Assistance Program authorized under 

70



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

34 
 

49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(2), as amended by FAST, you must select the Certifications in Category 16, 
except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications and Assurances in Category 16 that does not apply will not be 
enforced. 
 
16.A. Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award financed under the Formula 
Grants for Rural Areas Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5311, as amended by FAST Act, 
the Certifications in Category 16.A apply to your Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise 
in writing. 
 
The following Certifications apply to each state or state organization serving as your Applicant 
for federal assistance appropriated or made available for the Rural Areas Formula Program 
financed under 49 U.S.C. § 5311(b), as amended by FAST Act. On its behalf, you certify and 
assure that: 

1. It has or will have and require each Subrecipient to have the legal, financial, and 
technical capacity to carry out its Award, including the safety and security aspects of that 
Award. 

2. It has or will have and require each Subrecipient to have satisfactory continuing control 
over the use of its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award. 

3. It will maintain and require each Subrecipient to maintain its equipment and facilities 
acquired or improved under its Award, in accordance with the recipient’s transit asset 
management plan and consistent with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 
49 CFR part 625. 

4. It will and will require each Subrecipient to comply with applicable regulations and 
guidance that implement the Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 
49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

5. Its state program has provided for a fair distribution of federal assistance appropriated or 
made available under 49 U.S.C. § 5311(b) within the state to eligible entities, including 
Indian reservations. 

6. Its program provides or will provide the maximum feasible coordination of federal 
assistance for public transportation service authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311(b) with 
transportation service financed by other federal sources. 

7. Its Awards and Subawards in its Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program are included 
in: 

a. The statewide transportation improvement program, and 
b. To the extent applicable, a metropolitan transportation improvement program. 

8. With respect to the non-federal share: 
a. It has or will have and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to have the 

amount of funds required for the non-federal share, as required by former 
49 U.S.C. § 5311(g), 

b. It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the 
non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 

71



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

35 
 

c. It will provide and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to provide the 
non-federal share when needed. 

9. It may transfer a facility or equipment acquired or improved under its Award to any other 
Recipient eligible to receive assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, if: 

a. The Recipient possessing the facility or equipment consents to the transfer, and 
b. The facility or equipment will continue to be used as required under 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5311. 
10. Each fiscal year: 

a. It will spend at least fifteen (15) percent of its federal assistance authorized under 
49 U.S.C. § 5311 and available that fiscal year for eligible activities to develop 
and support intercity bus transportation within the state including: 

(1) Planning and marketing for intercity bus transportation, 
(2) Capital grants for intercity bus facilities, 
(3) Joint-use facilities, 
(4) Operating grants through purchase-of-service agreements, user-side 

subsidies, and demonstration projects, and 
(5) Coordinating rural connections between small public transportation 

operations and intercity bus carriers, or 
b. It will provide to FTA a Certification from the governor of the state that: 

(1) It has consulted with the affected intercity bus service providers about the 
intercity bus needs of the state, and 

(2) The state’s intercity bus service needs are being met adequately. 
 
16.B. Appalachian Development Public Transportation Assistance Program. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award financed under the 
Appalachian Development Public Transportation Assistance Program authorized under 
49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(2), the Certifications in Category 16.B apply to your Applicant, except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify and assure that, if it is unable to use its federal 
assistance made available or appropriated for public transportation operating assistance, in 
accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(2)(D), it may use the federal assistance for a Highway 
Project only after: 
1. It provides notice and an opportunity for comment and appeal to affected public 

transportation providers, 
2. It approves such use in writing, and 
3. In approving the use, it determines that local transit needs are being addressed. 
4. It complies or will comply, to the extent applicable, with the recipient’s transit asset 

management plan consistent with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR 
part 625, and 

5. It complies or will comply, to the extent applicable, with applicable regulations, guidance, 
and directives that implement the Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 
U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

 

72



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

36 
 

 
CATEGORY 17. TRIBAL TRANSIT PROGRAMS 

(PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION ON INDIAN RESERVATIONS PROGRAMS). 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under either the Public 
Transportation on Indian Reservations Formula or Discretionary Program authorized under 
49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(1), as amended by the FAST Act, (Tribal Transit Programs), you must select 
the Certifications in Category 17, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 17 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
FTA has established terms and conditions for Tribal Transit Program grants financed with 
federal assistance appropriated or made available under 49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(1). On behalf of 
your Applicant, you certify and assure that: 

1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 
including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 

2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and 
facilities acquired or improved under its Award. 

3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 
accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with 
FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625.4. Its Award will 
achieve maximum feasible coordination with transportation service financed by other 
federal sources. 

4. With respect to its procurement system: 
 

a. It will have a procurement system that complies with U.S. DOT regulations, 
“Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR part 1201, which incorporates by 
reference U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 
2 CFR part 200, for Awards made on or after December 26, 2014, 

b. It will have a procurement system that complies with U.S. DOT regulations, 
“Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements to State and Local Governments,” 49 CFR part 18, specifically 
former 49 CFR § 18.36, for Awards made before December 26, 2014, or 

c. It will inform FTA promptly if its procurement system does not comply with 
either of those U.S. DOT regulations. 

5. It will comply with the Certifications, Assurances, and Agreements in: 
a. Category 03.B and 03.C (Charter Service Agreement and School Bus 

Agreement), 
b. Category 05.B (Bus Testing), 
c. Category 06 (Demand Responsive Service), 
d. Category 07 (Intelligent Transportation Systems), and 
e. Category 10 (Alcohol and Controlled Substances Testing). 

 

73



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

37 
 

CATEGORY 18. STATE SAFETY OVERSIGHT GRANT PROGRAM. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the State Safety 
Oversight Grant Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6), you must select the 
Certifications in Category 18, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 18 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
On behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award in 

accordance with the Recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

4. When carrying out a procurement under its Award, it will comply with: 
a. The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
b. The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

5. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6)(C): 
a. It has or will have the amount of funds required for the non-federal share, 
b. It will provide the non-federal share only from sources approved by FTA, and will not be 

met by: 
(1) Any federal assistance, 
(2) Any funds received from a public transportation agency, or 
(3) Any revenues earned by a public transportation agency, and 

c. Will provide the non-federal share when needed. 
6. Depending on how far the Recipient has progressed in developing a State Safety Oversight 

program fully compliant with 49 C.F.R. part 674, the following FTA regulations will apply: 
a. States With a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA regulations, 

“State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 674, will apply when its State Safety Oversight 
program is fully compliant with FTA’s requirements; 

b. States Without a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA regulations, 
“Rail Fixed Guideway Systems; State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 659, will 
continue to apply to those states that have not yet implemented a fully compliant Public 
Transportation Safety Program. 

 
CATEGORY 19. PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION EMERGENCY RELIEF PROGRAM. 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Public 
Transportation Emergency Relief Program authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5324, you must select 
the Certifications in Category 19 , except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Assurance in Category 19 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 

74



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

38 
 

As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5324(d), on behalf of your Applicant, you assure that it will: 
1. Comply with the requirements of the Certifications and Assurances as FTA determines will 

apply to an Applicant for federal assistance appropriated or made available for the Public 
Transportation Emergency Relief Program, and 

2. Comply with FTA regulations, “Emergency Relief,” 49 C.F.R. part 602. 
 

CATEGORY 20. EXPEDITED PROJECT DELIVERY PILOT PROGRAM. 
 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Expedited Project 
Delivery Pilot Program authorized under section 3005(b) of the FAST Act, you must select the 
Certifications in Category 20, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
To the extent that any Certification in Category 20 does not apply, it will not be enforced. 
 
As required by section 3005(b)(3)(B) of the FAST Act, except as FTA determines otherwise in 
writing, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that: 
1. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
2. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of its equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
3. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award in 

accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

4. It will comply with: 
a. The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
b. The statewide and nonmetropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5304. 
 

CATEGORY 21. INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCE PROGRAMS. 
 
Before FTA may provide credit assistance for an Award that also is or will be financed under the 
Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) Program authorized under 
23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609, or the State Infrastructure Banks (SIB) Program authorized under 
23 U.S.C. § 610, you must select the Certifications in Category 21. 
 
If the Applicant does not receive credit assistance under the TIFIA or SIB programs, the 
Certifications and Assurances in Category 21 will not be enforced. 
 
21.A. Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) Program. 
 
If your Applicant seeks federal assistance from FTA for an Award that also is or will be financed 
under the TIFIA Program authorized under 23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609 the Certifications and 
Assurances in Category 21.A apply to your Applicant. In administering this Program, the FAST 
Act cross-cutting requirements supersede inconsistent former requirements. 
 

75



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

39 
 

On behalf of your Applicant, you certify and assure, as required by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o), that 
federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5307, 49 U.S.C. § 5309, and 49 U.S.C. § 5337, 
apply to any Project under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 that receives TIFIA credit assistance under 
23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609. 
1. To comply with 49 U.S.C. §5307, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1), on your Applicant’s 

behalf, you certify that: 
a. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
b. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
c. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 

accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

d. For transportation during non-peak hours and using or involving a facility or equipment 
of an Award financed using 49 U.S.C. § 5307 funds, it will charge a fare not exceeding 
fifty (50) percent of the peak hour fare to the following individuals: 
(1) Any senior, 
(2) Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, congenital malfunction, or other 

incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is a 
wheelchair user or has semi-ambulatory capability), is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, planning, or design, 

(3) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

(4) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII 
of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

e. When carrying out a TIFIA-financed procurement, the Applicant will comply with: 
(1) The applicable provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
(2) The applicable provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

f. It has complied with or will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5307(b). 
g. (1) It has or will have no more than 80 percent of the Total Award Budget as the sum of  

all federal grants and any TIFIA-financed awards, 
(2) It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
(3) It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

h. It will comply with: 
(1) The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
(2) The statewide and nonmetropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304. 

i. It has a locally developed process to solicit and consider public comment before: 
(1) Raising a fare, or 
(2) Implementing a major reduction of public transportation. 

j. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the 
Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5329(b)-(d), except as 
FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

76



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

40 
 

2. To comply with the interest and financing costs restrictions of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, it agrees 
that it will not seek reimbursement for interest or any other financing costs incurred in 
connection with its Award that must be in compliance with those requirements unless: 
a. It is eligible to receive federal assistance for those expenses, and 
b. Its records demonstrate that it has used reasonable diligence in seeking the most 

favorable financing terms underlying those costs, to the extent FTA may require. 
3. It will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.). 
4. Pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 5321 

et seq., the Project will qualify for an environmental categorical exclusion or receive a 
finding of no significant impact or a record of decision under NEPA before the Applicant 
undertakes activities for which it expects to receive federal assistance. 

5. It agrees that it will adopt a transit asset management plan that complies with regulations 
implementing 49 U.S.C. § 5326(d). 

 
21.B. State Infrastructure Banks (SIB) Program. 
 
If your Applicant is a state and seeks federal assistance from FTA for a project that also is or 
will be financed under the SIB Program authorized under 23 U.S.C. § 610, the Certifications and 
Assurances in Category 21.B apply to your state and its Award, except as the Secretary  
determines in writing. In administering this Program, the FAST Act cross-cutting requirements 
supersede inconsistent former requirements. 
 
On behalf of the state Applicant for federal assistance for its SIB Program, you certify and assure 
that: 
1. It will comply with the following applicable federal laws establishing the various SIB 

Programs since 1995: 
a. 23 U.S.C. § 610,  
b. Section 1511 of TEA-21, 23 U.S.C. § 181 note, or 
c. Section 350 of the National Highway System Designation Act of 1995, as amended, 

23 U.S.C. § 181. 
2. It will comply with or follow the Grant Agreement between it and FTA that provides federal 

assistance to the SIB, including the FTA Master Agreement, which is incorporated by 
reference into the Grant Agreement, except that, unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, 
a provision of the FTA Master Agreement incorporated by reference into that Grant 
Agreement will not apply if it conflicts with any provision of: 
a. 23 U.S.C. § 610, as amended by the FAST Act, 
b. 23 U.S.C. § 610 or its predecessor before the FAST Act was signed into law, 
c. Section 1511 of TEA-21, 23 U.S.C. § 181 note, or section 350 of the National Highway 

System Designation Act of 1995, as amended, 23 U.S.C. § 181 note, 
d. Federal guidance pertaining to the SIB Program, 
e. The SIB Cooperative Agreement establishing the state’s SIB Program,  
f. The Grant Agreement with FTA. 

3. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o), federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5307, 
49 U.S.C. § 5309, and 49 U.S.C. § 5337, as amended by the FAST Act, apply to any Award 

77



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

41 
 

under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 that receives SIB support or financing under title 23, United 
States Code. 

4. As required by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o) and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c)(1): 
a. It has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
b. It has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
c. It will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award, in 

accordance with the recipient’s transit asset management plan and consistent with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

d. When using or involving a facility or equipment acquired or improved with federal 
assistance under a SIB-financed Award during non-peak hours for transportation, it will 
charge a fare not exceeding fifty (50) percent of the peak hour fare to the following 
individuals: 
(1) Any senior, 
(2) Any individual who, because of illness, injury, age, congenital malfunction, or any 

other incapacity or temporary or permanent disability (including an individual who is 
a wheelchair user or has semi-ambulatory capability), is unable to use a public 
transportation service or a public transportation facility effectively without special 
facilities, planning, or design, 

(3) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title II of 
the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 401 et seq.), and 

(4) Any individual presenting a Medicare card issued to that individual under title XVIII 
of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395 et seq.). 

e. When carrying out a procurement under a SIB-financed Award, it will comply with: 
(1) The applicable general provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323, and 
(2) The applicable third party contract provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325. 

f. It has complied with or will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5307(b). 
g. It has or will have or provide: 

(1) The amount of funds required for the non-federal share by the SIB Program, but not 
less than twenty-five (25) percent of each capitalization grant, 

(2) The non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
(3) The non-federal share when needed. 

h. It will comply with: 
(1) The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
(2) The statewide and nonmetropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304. 

i. It has a locally developed process to solicit and consider public comment before: 
(1) Raising a fare, or 
(2) Implementing a major reduction of public transportation. 

j. It will comply with applicable regulations, guidance, and directives that implement the 
Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of § 5329(b)-(d), except as FTA 
determines otherwise in writing. 

5. As required by 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, it certifies that it will not seek reimbursement for 
interest or any other financing costs incurred in connection with its Award unless: 
a. It is eligible to receive federal assistance for those expenses, and 

78



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

42 
 

b. Its records demonstrate that it has used reasonable diligence in seeking the most 
favorable financing terms underlying those costs, as FTA may require. 

6. It agrees that it will adopt a transit asset management plan that complies with FTA 
regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR part 625. 

 
CATEGORY 22. PAUL S. SARBANES TRANSIT IN PARKS PROGRAM 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for an Award financed under the Paul S. Sarbanes 
Transit in Parks Program authorized under former 49 U.S.C. § 5320, in effect in FY 2012 or a 
previous fiscal year, except as superseded by FAST Act requirements, you must select the 
Certifications in Category 22, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications and Assurances in Category 22 that does not apply will not be 
enforced. 
 
1. Except as superseded by the FAST Act cross-cutting requirements, the following 

Certifications and Assurances for the Paul S. Sarbanes Transit in Parks Program (Parks 
Program) are required by former 49 U.S.C. § 5320, in effect in FY 2012 or a previous fiscal 
year. Therefore, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, on behalf of your Applicant, 
you certify that: 
a. It will consult with the appropriate federal land management agency during the planning 

process, and 
b. The requirements of former 49 U.S.C. § 5307, as determined by FTA, will apply to the 

Parks Program authorized by former 49 U.S.C. § 5320. 
2. FTA has determined certain requirements of former 49 U.S.C. § 5307 to be appropriate for 

the Parks Program, of which some require Certifications. Therefore, as specified under 
former 49 U.S.C. § 5307(d)(1), except as superseded by the FAST Act cross-cutting 
requirements that apply, you certify that your Applicant: 
a. Has or will have the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry out its Award, 

including the safety and security aspects of that Award. 
b. Has or will have satisfactory continuing control over the use of equipment and facilities 

acquired or improved under its Award. 
c. Will maintain its equipment and facilities acquired or improved under its Award. 
d. When carrying out a procurement under former 49 U.S.C. § 5320, it will comply and will 

require each Subrecipient to comply with the following provisions: 
(1) Competitive procurement (as defined or approved by FTA) requirements of 

49 U.S.C. § 5325(a), 
(2) The prohibition against exclusionary or discriminatory specifications in its 

procurements under 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h), 
(3) “Buy America” requirements under 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), as amended by the FAST 

Act, and FTA regulations, “Buy America Requirements,” 49 CFR part 661, 
(4) Applicable pre-award and post-delivery requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m), 
(5) Applicable railcar option restrictions of 49 U.S.C. § 5325(e), and 
(6) “Veterans Preference/Employment” requirements under 49 U.S.C. § 5325(k). 

e. It will comply with other applicable requirements under 49 U.S.C. § 5323 and § 5325. 

79



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

43 
 

f. It has complied or will comply with the requirements of former 49 U.S.C. § 5307(c), and 
specifically: 
(1) It has made or will make available to the public information on the amounts 

available for the Parks Program, former 49 U.S.C. § 5320, and the Projects it 
proposes to implement under its Award, 

(2) It has developed or will develop, in consultation with interested parties including 
private transportation providers, Projects to be financed under its Award, 

(3) It has published or will publish a list of proposed Projects in a way that affected 
citizens, private transportation providers, and local elected officials have the 
opportunity to examine the proposed Projects and submit comments on the proposed 
Projects and its performance, 

(4) It has provided or will provide an opportunity for a public hearing to obtain the 
views of citizens on the proposed Projects, 

(5) It has considered or will consider the comments and views received, especially those 
of private transportation providers, in preparing its final list of Projects, and 

(6) It has made or will make the final list of Projects for which an Award is sought 
available to the public. 

g. With respect to the non-federal share: 
(1) It has or will have and, as necessary, will require each Subrecipient to have the 

amount of funds required for the non-federal share, as required by 49 U.S.C. § 5320, 
(2) It will provide the non-federal share from sources approved by FTA, and 
(3) It will provide the non-federal share when needed. 

h. It has complied or will comply with and will require each Subrecipient to comply with: 
(1) The metropolitan transportation planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 
(2) The statewide and nonmetropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304. 

i. It has a locally developed process to solicit and consider public comment before: 
(1) Raising a fare, or 
(2) Implementing a major reduction of public transportation. 

 
CATEGORY 23. CONSTRUCTION HIRING PREFERENCES. 

 
Before FTA may provide federal assistance for a third party contract for construction hiring 
financed under title 49 U.S.C. or title 23 U.S.C. using a geographic, economic, or any other 
hiring preference not otherwise authorized by federal law or regulation, you must select the 
Certifications in Category 23 on behalf of your Applicant, except as FTA determines otherwise 
in writing. 
 
Any provision of the Certifications in Category 23 that does not apply will not be enforced. 
 
As provided by section 192 of division L, title I of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017, 
Public Law No. 114-113, on behalf of your Applicant, you certify that if, in connection with any 
third party contract for construction hiring financed under title 49 U.S.C. or title 23 U.S.C., it 
uses a geographic, economic, or any other hiring preference not otherwise authorized by law or 
prohibited under 2 CFR § 200.319(b): 

80



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

44 
 

1. Except with respect to apprentices or trainees, a pool of readily available but unemployed 
individuals possessing the knowledge, skill, and ability to perform the work that the third 
party contract requires resides in the jurisdiction where the work will be performed,, 

2. It will include appropriate provisions in its bid document ensuring that its third party 
contractor(s) do not displace any of its existing employees in order to satisfy such hiring 
preference, and 

3. That any increase in the cost of labor, training, or delays resulting from the use of such hiring 
preference does not delay or displace any transportation project in the applicable Statewide 
Transportation Improvement Program or Transportation Improvement Program. 

 
Selection and Signature Page(s) follow. 

 

81



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

45 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES FOR 
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS 

(Signature pages alternative to providing Certifications and Assurances in TrAMS) 
 

Name of Applicant: ____________________________________________________________ 
 
The Applicant agrees to comply with applicable provisions of (Categories 01 – 23. ______ 

OR 
The Applicant agrees to comply with applicable provisions of the Categories it has selected: 
 

Category Description  
   

01. Required Certifications and Assurances for Each Applicant. ______ 
   

02. Lobbying. ______ 
   

03. Procurement and Procurement Systems. ______ 
   

04. Private Sector Protections.  ______ 
   

05. Rolling Stock Reviews and Bus Testing. ______ 
   

06. Demand Responsive Service.  ______ 
   

07. Intelligent Transportation Systems. ______ 
   

08. Interest and Financing Costs and Acquisition of Capital Assets by Lease. ______ 
   

09. Transit Asset Management Plan, Public Transportation Safety Program, and  
State Safety Oversight Requirements. 

______ 

   
10. Alcohol and Controlled Substances Testing. ______ 

   
11. Fixed Guideway Capital Investment Grants Program (New Starts, Small Starts, and Core 

Capacity Improvement). 
______ 

   
12. State of Good Repair Program. ______ 

   
13. Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities and Low or No Emission Vehicle Deployment Grant 

Programs. 
______ 

   
14. Urbanized Area Formula Grants Programs and Passenger Ferry Grant Program. ______ 

   
15. Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Programs. ______ 

   
16. Rural Areas and Appalachian Development Programs. ______ 

   
17. Tribal Transit Programs (Public Transportation on Indian Reservations Programs). ______ 

   
18. State Safety Oversight Grant Program. ______ 

   
19. Public Transportation Emergency Relief Program. ______ 

   
20. Expedited Project Delivery Pilot Program. ______ 

   
21. Infrastructure Finance Programs. ______ 

   
22. Paul S. Sarbanes Transit in Parks Program. ______ 

   
23. Construction Hiring Preferences. ______ 

82



 
 

FTA FISCAL YEAR 2017 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES 
 

46 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2017 FTA CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES SIGNATURE PAGE 
(Required of all Applicants for federal assistance to be awarded by FTA and all FTA Grantees with an active Capital or 

Formula Award) 
 

AFFIRMATION OF APPLICANT 
 
Name of the Applicant: ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Name and Relationship of the Authorized Representative: _________________________________________________ 
 
BY SIGNING BELOW, on behalf of the Applicant, I declare that it has duly authorized me to make these 
Certifications and Assurances and bind its compliance. Thus, it agrees to comply with all federal laws, regulations, and 
requirements, follow applicable federal guidance, and comply with the Certifications and Assurances as indicated on 
the foregoing page applicable to each application its Authorized Representative makes to the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) in federal fiscal year 2017, irrespective of whether the individual that acted on his or her 
Applicant’s behalf continues to represent it. 
 
FTA intends that the Certifications and Assurances the Applicant selects on the other side of this document should 
apply to each Award for which it now seeks, or may later seek federal assistance to be awarded during federal fiscal 
year 2017. 
 
The Applicant affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of the Certifications and Assurances it has selected in the 
statements submitted with this document and any other submission made to FTA, and acknowledges that the Program 
Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq., and implementing U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud 
Civil Remedies,” 49 CFR part 31, apply to any certification, assurance or submission made to FTA. The criminal 
provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 apply to any certification, assurance, or submission made in connection with a federal 
public transportation program authorized by 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or any other statute  
 
In signing this document, I declare under penalties of perjury that the foregoing Certifications and Assurances, and any 
other statements made by me on behalf of the Applicant are true and accurate. 
 
Signature____________________________________________________________      Date:  _________________ 
 
Name_______________________________________________________________ 
Authorized Representative of Applicant 
 

AFFIRMATION OF APPLICANT’S ATTORNEY 
 
For (Name of Applicant): ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
As the undersigned Attorney for the above named Applicant, I hereby affirm to the Applicant that it has authority under 
state, local, or tribal government law, as applicable, to make and comply with the Certifications and Assurances as 
indicated on the foregoing pages. I further affirm that, in my opinion, the Certifications and Assurances have been 
legally made and constitute legal and binding obligations on it. 
 
I further affirm that, to the best of my knowledge, there is no legislation or litigation pending or imminent that might 
adversely affect the validity of these Certifications and Assurances, or of the performance of its FTA assisted Award. 
 
Signature____________________________________________________________      Date:  _________________ 
 
Name_______________________________________________________________         
Attorney for Applicant 
 
Each Applicant for federal assistance to be awarded by FTA and each FTA Recipient with an active Capital or 
Formula Project or Award must provide an Affirmation of Applicant’s Attorney pertaining to the Applicant’s legal 
capacity. The Applicant may enter its electronic signature in lieu of the Attorney’s signature within FTA’s electronic 
award and management system, provided the Applicant has on file and uploaded to FTA’s electronic award and 
management system this hard-copy Affirmation, signed by the attorney and dated this federal fiscal year.  

83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MASTER AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 

For Federal Transit Administration Agreements authorized by 
49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and Title 23, United States Code (Highways), as amended by 

the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, 
the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), 

the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users 
(SAFETEA-LU), the SAFETEA-LU Technical Corrections Act of 2008, 

or other federal laws that FTA administers. 
 
 
 
 

FTA MA(23) 
October 1, 2016 
 
http://www.transit.dot.gov 

  

84

http://www.transit.dot.gov/


 

PREFACE .................................................................................................................................................... 1 

GENERALLY APPLICABLE PROVISIONS .......................................................................................... 2 

Section 1.  Terms of the Master Agreement and Compliance ................................................... 2 

Section 2.  Definitions. ................................................................................................................... 3 

Section 3.  Implementation. .......................................................................................................... 9 

Section 4.  Ethics. ......................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 5.  Federal Assistance. .................................................................................................... 19 

Section 6.  Non-Federal Share .................................................................................................... 20 

Section 7.  Payments to the Recipient ........................................................................................ 21 

Section 8.  Records and Reports Related to the Award and the Underlying Agreement. .... 29 

Section 9.  Record Retention and Access to Sites of Performance. ......................................... 33 

Section 10.  Completion, Audit, Settlement, and Closeout. ..................................................... 34 

Section 11.  Right of the Federal Government to Terminate. ................................................. 35 

Section 12.  Civil Rights. ............................................................................................................. 35 

Section 13.  Planning. .................................................................................................................. 41 

Section 14.  Private Enterprise. .................................................................................................. 42 

Section 15.  Preference for United States Products and Services. .......................................... 42 

Section 16.  Procurement. ........................................................................................................... 43 

Section 17.  Patent Rights. .......................................................................................................... 48 

Section 18.  Rights in Data and Copyrights. ............................................................................. 49 

Section 19.  Use of Real Property, Equipment, and Supplies. ................................................. 51 

Section 20.  Transit Asset Management. ................................................................................... 55 

85



Section 21.  Insurance. ................................................................................................................ 55 

Section 22.  Relocation and Real Property. ............................................................................... 55 

Section 23.  Construction. ........................................................................................................... 56 

Section 24.  Employee Protections ............................................................................................. 57 

Section 25.  Early Systems Work Agreement. .......................................................................... 59 

Section 26.  Environmental Protections. ................................................................................... 60 

Section 27.  State Management and Monitoring Systems. ....................................................... 62 

Section 28.  Charter Service ....................................................................................................... 63 

Section 29.  School Bus Operations. ........................................................................................... 63 

Section 30.  Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data ............................................. 64 

Section 31.  Federal “$1 Coin” Requirements .......................................................................... 64 

Section 32.  Public Transportation Safety ................................................................................. 64 

Section 33.  Motor Carrier Safety .............................................................................................. 65 

Section 34.  Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles ......................................................................... 65 

Section 35.  Substance Abuse...................................................................................................... 66 

Section 36.  Protection of Sensitive Security and Other Sensitive Information .................... 66 

Section 37.  Special Notification Requirements for States ....................................................... 67 

Section 38.  Freedom of Information ......................................................................................... 67 

Section 39.  Disputes, Breaches, Defaults, or Other Litigation ............................................... 68 

Section 40.  Amendments to the Underlying Agreement. ........................................................ 69 

Section 41.  FTA’s Electronic Award Management System .................................................... 69 

Section 42.  Information Obtained through Internet Links .................................................... 69 

Section 43.  Severability .............................................................................................................. 69 

86



SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMS ..................................................................... 69 

Section 44.  Special Provisions for All Public Transportation Innovation, Technical Assistance 
or Workforce Development Programs ...................................................................................... 69 

Section 45.  Special Provisions for the State Safety Oversight Grant Program .................... 71 

Section 46.  Special Provisions for the State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Program ............... 72 

Section 47.  Special Provisions for the TIFIA Program ........................................................... 73 

Section 48.  Special Provisions for the Joint FTA – FRA Program ........................................ 74 

APPENDIX A ............................................................................................................................................. 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



 
 
 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION 

 
MASTER AGREEMENT 

 

PREFACE 
 

Statutory Authorities 
 
This is the official Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master Agreement that applies to each 
Underlying Agreement (Grant Agreement, Cooperative Agreement, Loan, Loan Guarantee, or 
Line of Credit) for a specific Award authorized by: 
 
1. Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, as amended, including the following: 

a. The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, Public Law No. 114-94, 
December 4, 2015, and other authorizing legislation that may be enacted, 

b. The Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), Public Law No. 112-
141, July 6, 2012, as amended by the ‘‘Surface Transportation and Veterans Health Care 
Choice Improvement Act of 2015,’’ Public Law No. 114-41, July 31, 2015, and 

c. The Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for 
Users (SAFETEA-LU), Public Law No. 109-59, August 10, 2005, as amended by the 
SAFETEA-LU Technical Corrections Act of 2008, Public Law No 110-244, June 6, 
2008. 
 

2. Continuing Resolutions or Other Appropriations Resolutions or Acts funding the Department 
of Transportation during Fiscal Year 2017. 
 

3. Title 23, United States Code (Highways). 
 
4. Other federal legislation that FTA administers, as FTA so determines. 

 
Purpose of the Master Agreement 

 
This FTA Master Agreement contains the standard terms and conditions that apply to the 
Underlying Agreement with the Recipient, which Underlying Agreement may take the form of an: 
 
1. FTA Grant Agreement, including an FTA Grant Agreement for an award of federal 

assistance under the Tribal Transit Program, 
 

2. FTA Cooperative Agreement, or 
 

88



3. FTA Transportation Infrastructure Finance Innovation Act (TIFIA) Loan, Loan Guarantee, 
Line of Credit, Master Credit Agreement, or State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Cooperative 
Agreement. 
 

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and representations herein, 
FTA and the Recipient agree as follows: 

GENERALLY APPLICABLE PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1.  Terms of the Master Agreement and Compliance 
 
a. The Recipient must comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, 

and should follow applicable federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in 
writing. 

 
b. To assure compliance with federal laws, regulations, and requirements, the Recipient must 

take measures to assure that other participants in its Underlying Agreements (e.g., Third 
Party Participants) comply with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and 
follow applicable federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

 
c. FTA may take enforcement action if the Recipient or a Third Party Participant violates an 

applicable federal law, regulation, or requirement, or does not follow applicable federal 
guidance. 

 
d. FTA and the Recipient agree that not every provision of this Master Agreement will apply to 

every Recipient or Underlying Agreement. 
(1) FTA has divided the Master Agreement into the “Preface,” “Generally Applicable 

Provisions,” and “Special Provisions for Specific Programs.”  
(2) This Master Agreement has an Appendix A illustrating the specific provisions of the 

Master Agreement that apply to the Tribal Transit Programs.  
(3) Criteria determining which federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance apply 

include the type of Award, the federal law authorizing federal assistance for the Award, 
the federal law, regulations, or requirements governing how the Award must be 
implemented, the federal guidance pertaining to the Award, and the Recipient’s legal 
status as a “state,” “state instrumentality,” a “local government,” a federally recognized 
Indian Tribe (Indian Tribe), a “private nonprofit entity,” a “private for-profit entity,” or 
an individual. 

 
e. As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA will enforce only 

those federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance that apply to the specific FTA 
Recipient, its Third Party Participants, or any Project and related activities encompassed in 
the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.  

 
f. Each provision of this Master Agreement must be interpreted in context with all other 

provisions of this Master Agreement and the Underlying Agreement.  If a single provision is 
read apart from the rest of this Master Agreement or the Underlying Agreement, that 

89



provision might not convey the extent of the Recipient’s responsibility to comply with the 
requirements of this Master Agreement and the Underlying Agreement. 

 
g. This Master Agreement does not have an Expiration Date.  This Master Agreement continues 

to apply to the Recipient and its Underlying Agreement, until modified or superseded by a 
more recently enacted or issued applicable federal law, regulation, requirement, or guidance, 
or amendment to this Master Agreement or the Underlying Agreement. 

 
Section 2.  Definitions.   
 
a. List of Definitions.  In addition to the definitions provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5302, as amended 

by the FAST Act, or in previous legislation if circumstances may require, the Recipient 
agrees that the following definitions apply:   
 
(1) Application means the request for federal assistance submitted that is signed and dated 

by the Applicant or an official authorized to act on the behalf of the Applicant, and 
includes all explanatory, supporting, and supplementary documents filed with FTA by 
or on behalf of the Applicant, and has been reviewed by FTA staff and addresses FTA’s 
comments and concerns.  An application for federal assistance in the form of a Grant or 
Cooperative Agreement must be submitted in in FTA’s electronic award management 
system. 
 

(2) Approval, unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, means a written statement of an 
authorized federal official transmitted electronically or in typewritten hard copy 
expressly permitting the Recipient to take or omit an action in connection with its 
Underlying Agreement, and signed by a federal official authorized to permit the 
Recipient to take or omit an action that may not be taken or omitted without the Federal 
Government’s permission.  Approval does not mean permission to take or omit a similar 
action other than the specific action for which approval was given and does not include 
an oral permission or interpretation, which has no legal force, authority, or effect.  For 
purposes of this Master Agreement, the definition of “approval” also applies to 
“concurrence” and “waiver.” 
 

(3) Associated Transit Improvement means, with respect to a Project or an area to be served 
by a Project that is designed to enhance public transportation service or use and that is 
physically or functionally related to transit facilities. 
 

(4) Award means the Scope of Work that FTA has approved when FTA agreed to provide 
federal assistance.  The Award also includes the requirements of all documents, terms, 
and conditions incorporated by reference and made part of the Underlying Agreement, 
which may be a Grant or Cooperative Agreement. 
 

(5) Award Budget [formerly, Approved Project Budget] means the budget for all the 
Projects encompassed by the FTA Award.  In contrast, Project Budget means the budget 
allocated for a single Project contained within an Award that FTA or a pass-through 
entity approves during the federal award process or in subsequent amendments to the 

90



FTA Award.  It may include the federal and non-federal share or only the federal share, 
as determined by FTA or the pass-through entity.  For legal and other purposes, FTA 
reserves the right to consider information other than that displayed electronically or on 
paper in the “Award Budget” to determine the scope of the Award, eligible Project 
activities, and other terms used in connection with the Award. 
 

(6) Common Rules means any one or more of the following: 
(a) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 

and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 1201, which 
incorporates by reference U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
regulatory guidance, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 200, 

(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and 
Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments,” former 49 C.F.R. 
part 18, and 

(c) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and 
Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-profit 
Organizations,” former 49 C.F.R. part 19. 
 

(7) Concurrence has the same meaning as the definition of Approval in this section of this 
Master Agreement. 
 

(8) Cooperative Agreement means an instrument that the Federal Government uses to 
award federal assistance to the Recipient to support each specific Project and related 
activities described in the Underlying Agreement in which, consistent with 31 U.S.C. 
§ 6305, the Federal Government takes an active role and retains substantial control.  An 
FTA Cooperative Agreement consists of three parts: 
(a) The FTA Award, consisting of the amount of federal assistance FTA is providing 

to support each specific Project and related activities, and a description of each 
Project, as set forth in the Application submitted to FTA in FTA’s electronic 
award management system; 

(b) The Terms and Conditions incorporated by reference and made part of the 
Cooperative Agreement, consisting of the following documents, irrespective of 
whether electronic or in typewritten hard copy, 
1 The most recent “Federal Transit Administration Master Agreement, which 

applies to this Cooperative Agreement, http://www.transit.dot.gov, 
2 The current Certifications and Assurances applicable to the FTA Award that 

the Recipient has selected and provided to FTA, and 
3 Any Award notification containing special conditions or requirements if 

issued, and 
(c) The Execution of the Cooperative Agreement by the Recipient. 

 
(9) Designated Recipient means an entity designated, in accordance with the planning 

process under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5303 and 5304, by the governor of a state, responsible local 
officials, and publicly owned operators of public transportation, to receive and 
apportion amounts under 49 U.S.C. § 5336 to urbanized areas of 200,000 or more in 

91

http://www.transit.dot.gov/


population; or a state or regional authority, if the authority is responsible under the laws 
of a state for a Capital Project and for financing and directly providing public 
transportation. 
 

(10) Disability has the same meaning as in section 3(1) of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12102. 

 
(11) Federal Assistance means a type of federal funding that the Recipient receives through 

the Underlying Agreement. 
 
(12) Federal Award Identification Number has the same meaning as “Project No.” in 

previous Grant Agreements and Cooperative Agreements with FTA. 
 

(13) Federal Government means the United States of America and any of its executive 
departments or agencies. 
 

(14) Federal Guidance includes any federal document or publication signed by an 
authorized federal official providing official instructions or advice about a federal 
program that is not defined as a “federal requirement” and applies to entities other than 
the Federal Government.  Federal Guidance also may apply to the Federal Government, 
and may take the form of a:  
(a) Federal directive, 
(b) Federal circular, 
(c) Federal order, 
(d) Federal published policy, 
(e) Federal administrative practice, 
(f) Federal guideline, 
(g) Federal guidance document, 
(h) Letter signed by an authorized federal official, or 
(i) Similar document. 

 
(15) Federal Requirement means: 

(a) An applicable federal law, regulation, or executive order, 
(b) An applicable provision of the Underlying Agreement, including any Special 

Condition, Requirement, Provision, or Condition of Award, 
(c) This Master Agreement, 
(d) A later Master Agreement after FTA and the Recipient have entered into the 

Underlying Agreement, or 
(e) Another applicable federal mandate. 

 
(16) Federal Transit Administration (FTA) is an operating administration of the Department 

of Transportation (U.S. DOT).  Any reference to the “Urban Mass Transportation 
Administration” (also referred to as “UMTA”) refers to the “Federal Transit 
Administration” or “FTA” when appearing in any records of the United States. 
 

(17) Federal Transit Administrator is the head of the Federal Transit Administration. 

92



 
(18) Federally Recognized Indian Tribe means an Indian tribe that is federally recognized by 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs of the U.S. Department of the Interior in accordance with 
the provisions of the Federally Recognized Indian Tribe List Act of 1994, as amended, 
25 U.S.C. § 5130. 
 

(19) Fiscal Year, as used in this Master Agreement, means “federal fiscal year,” which 
begins on October 1 of each calendar year and ends on September 30 of the next 
calendar year. 
 

(20) Governor means the governor of a state, the mayor of the District of Columbia, or  the 
chief executive officer of a territory of the United States and includes the designee 
thereof. 
 

(21) Grant Agreement means an instrument that the Federal Government uses to award 
federal assistance to the Recipient to support each specific Project and related activities 
described in the Underlying Agreement in which, consistent with 31 U.S.C. § 6304, the 
Federal Government does not take an active role and does not retain substantial control.  
An FTA Grant Agreement consists of three parts: 
(a) The FTA Award, consisting of the amount of federal assistance FTA is providing 

to support each specific Project and related activities, and a description of each 
Project, as set forth in the Application submitted to FTA in FTA’s electronic 
award management system; 

(b) The Terms and Conditions incorporated by reference and made part of the Grant 
Agreement, consisting of the following documents, irrespective of whether 
electronic or in typewritten hard copy: 
1 The most recent “Federal Transit Administration Master Agreement, which 

applies to this Grant Agreement, http://www.transit.dot.gov, 
2 The current Certifications and Assurances applicable to the FTA Award that 

the Recipient has selected and provided to FTA, and 
3 Any Award notification containing special conditions or requirements if 

issued, and 
(c) The Execution of the Grant Agreement by the Recipient. 

 
(22) Indian Tribe means the Recipient or Subrecipient that receives “Tribal Transit 

Program” assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(1) to support its Underlying 
Agreement. 
 

(23) Internal Controls means a process, implemented by a Recipient or Subrecipient, 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the 
following categories: (a) effectiveness and efficiency of operations, (b) reliability of 
reporting for internal and external use, and (c) compliance with applicable laws, 
regulations, and requirements. 
 

93

http://www.transit.dot.gov/


(24) Local Government Authority includes: (a) a political subdivision of a state; (b) an 
authority of at least one state or political subdivision of a state; (c) an Indian tribe; and 
(d) a public corporation, board, or commission established under the laws of a state. 
 

(25) Low-Income Individual, for purposes of 49 U.S.C. § 5311(j)(1)(A)(iii), means an 
individual whose family income is at or below 100 percent of the poverty line, as that 
term is defined in section 673(2) of the Community Services Block Grant Act, 
42 U.S.C. § 9902(2), including any revision required under that section, for a family of 
the size involved. 
 

(26) Master Credit Agreement means a Loan, Loan Guarantee, or Line of Credit made 
available to a Recipient under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation 
Act (TIFIA) of 1998, as amended, 23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609, the type of Underlying 
Agreement used for a TIFIA loan, loan, or loan guarantee. 
 

(27) Non-Federal Funds or Non-Federal Share includes the following sources of funding or 
in-kind property or services used to match the federal assistance awarded for the Grant 
or Cooperative Agreement: 
(a) Local funds, 
(b) Local in-kind property or services, 
(c) State funds, 
(d) State in-kind property or services,  
(e) Other federal funds for which the federal statute authorizing a program specifically 

provides that federal funds made available for that program can be applied to the 
cost sharing requirements of other federal programs. 

 
(28) Non-Tribal Service Provider, for purposes of 49 U.S.C. § 5311(j)(2), means a non-tribal 

provider of public transportation that connects residents of tribal lands with 
surro9unding communities, improves access to employment or healthcare, or otherwise 
addresses the mobility needs of tribal members. 
 

(29) Project means the public transportation improvement activities eligible for federal 
assistance in an application to FTA and/or in an FTA Award. 
 

(30) Public Transportation, has the same meaning as “transit” or “mass transportation,” and, 
consistent with the definition at 49 U.S.C. § 5302, means regular, continuing shared-
ride surface transportation services that are open to the general public, or open to a 
segment of the general public defined by age, disability, or low income, but does not 
include: 
(a) Intercity passenger rail transportation provided by Amtrak or a successor thereof 

as described in 49 U.S.C. chapter 243, 
(b) Intercity bus service, 
(c) Charter service, 
(d) School bus service. 
(e) Sightseeing service, 
(f) Courtesy shuttle service for patrons of one or more specific establishments, or 

94



(g) Intra-terminal or intra-facility shuttle services. 
 

(31) Recipient or Direct Recipient means a non-federal entity that receives a federal award 
directly from a federal awarding agency to carry out an activity under a federal 
program.  The term “Recipient” does not include a Subrecipient. 
 

(32) Scope of Work means the purpose of the Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement 
and the activities and approaches required to carry out a Project.  The scope of work 
consists of various components, including the Award Budget, beneficiaries, locations, 
and other aspects identified in the approved application.  FTA reserves the right to 
consider other information in determining the scope of the Project or the “scope of work 
of a Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement” when “scope” is used for other 
purposes.  See the latest edition of the FTA Master Agreement. 
 

(33) Split Letter (sometimes referred to as a suballocation letter or government 
subapportionment letter) means a letter in which a Designated Recipient of Urbanized 
Area Formula Grant Program funding authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5307, agrees to a 
reassignment or reallocation of that federal assistance to one or more direct Recipients. 
 

(34) Subagreement or Subgrant means an agreement through which the Recipient awards 
federal assistance to its Subrecipient(s) to support or stimulate any of the Recipient’s or 
Subrecipient’s Projects or related activities supported under the Award, the 
accompanying Underlying Agreement, or Amendments thereto, but does not include a 
third party contract, third party subcontract, or lease. 
 

(35) Subrecipient or Subgrantee means any entity or person that receives federal assistance 
provided by an FTA Recipient instead of FTA directly, but does not include a Third 
Party Contractor, Third Party Subcontractor, or Lessee. 
 

(36) Third Party Agreement includes agreements or arrangements supported in whole or in 
part with federal assistance awarded to a Recipient by FTA, including a subagreement 
with a subrecipient, a third party contract, a third party subcontract, a lease, or similar 
arrangement or agreement as FTA may recognize. 
 

(37) Third Party Contract means a legal instrument by which a Recipient or Subrecipient 
purchases property or services needed to carry out the Grant Agreement or Cooperative 
Agreement.  This does not include an instrument describing a transaction that meets the 
definition of a federal Award, Grant, Cooperative Agreement, Subaward, or 
Subagreement. 
 

(38) Third Party Participant means each participant in the Recipient’s Project, except for 
FTA and the Recipient, whose work under the Project is supported with FTA funding, 
eligible non-federal share dedicated to the Project, or is dedicated as an in-kind 
contribution eligible for non-federal share.  A Third Party Participant may be a 
Subrecipient, Third Party Contractor, Third Party Subcontractor, Lessee, or Similar 

95



Participant in the Recipient’s Project (for example, a partner in a joint development 
venture). 
 

(39) Third Party Subcontract means a subcontract entered into by the Third Party Contractor 
with a Third Party Subcontractor, or a Third Party Subcontractor with another Third 
Party Subcontractor at any tier, and is supported in whole or in part with the federal 
assistance originally derived from FTA, or non-federal share dedicated to the 
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement. 
 

(40) Underlying Agreement means a specific Grant Agreement, Cooperative Agreement, 
Other Agreement, or Master Credit Agreement, including any amendments thereto, 
supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available under the TIFIA 
program. 
 

(41) Unique Entity Identifier has two meanings:  
(a) A Recipient’s or a Subrecipient’s unique entity identifier for purposes of the 

“System of Award Management” (SAM), which currently is the DUNs Number, 
but, 

(b) For FTA purposes, FTA assigns a separate Recipient/Vendor ID as a “unique 
entity identifier,” which is a four digit number and is displayed on the Grant 
Agreement and the Cooperative Agreement following the heading “Recipient ID.” 

 
(42) Waiver has the same meaning as the definition of Approval in this section of this Master 

Agreement.  
 

b. Application of Definitions.  The Recipient also agrees that the definitions in section 2.a 
above apply throughout this Master Agreement. 

 
Section 3.  Implementation.   
 
a. Effective Date.  The Effective Date of Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is the date when 

the authorized FTA official signs the Underlying Agreement.   
 
b. Description of Each Project.  The “Description of Each Project” in the “FTA Award” section 

of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement often provides only a brief description of each 
Project and related activities to be undertaken by the Recipient; therefore, the Recipient 
agrees to perform the work described in the terms of its Underlying Agreement, including all 
the documents and information incorporated by reference and made part of that Underlying 
Agreement. 

 
c. Prompt Implementation.  After receiving notice that the FTA official signed the Underlying 

Agreement, the Recipient agrees to undertake promptly each Project and related activities 
described in the Underlying Agreement. 

 
d. Completion Dates.  The Recipient agrees to complete each Project within the time periods 

specified in the Underlying Agreement.  Unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, the 

96



milestone dates and other completion dates applicable to the Award are good faith estimates 
and are not intended to be firm contractual requirements.  However, FTA and the Recipient 
agree that milestone dates and other completion dates for Full Funding Grant Agreements, 
Small Starts Grant Agreements or other specific agreements in which FTA expressly states 
that the milestone dates or other completion dates for the Underlying Agreement are firm 
dates that may be enforced.  

 
e. The Recipient’s Capacity.  To carry out its Underlying Agreement, the Recipient agrees to 

maintain: 
(1) Sufficient legal, financial, technical, and managerial capacity, and adequate functional 

capacity to: 
(a) Plan, manage, and complete its responsibilities outlined in the Underlying 

Agreement, 
(b) Use the Project property,  
(c) Carry out the safety and security aspects of the Underlying Agreement,  
(d) Comply with the terms and conditions of the Underlying Agreement, the 

Recipient’s annual Certifications and Assurances to FTA, and applicable federal 
laws, regulations, and requirements, and  

(e) Follow applicable federal guidance, except as the Federal Government determines 
otherwise in writing. 

(2) Strong internal controls to assure that it is managing its Award in compliance with 
federal laws, regulations, requirements, and the terms and conditions of the Underlying 
Agreement including, but not limited to: 
(a) Amendments or revisions to its Award Budget, 
(b) Salaries and wages of the Recipient and Subrecipient personnel,  
(c) Protection of personally identifiable information and other sensitive information, 

and 
(d) Other matters that must be in compliance with federal laws, regulations, 

requirements, and the terms and conditions of the Underlying Agreement. 
 

f. U.S. DOT Administrative Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the following 
U.S. DOT requirements (Common Rules) to the extent applicable:  
(1) Requirements Applicable On or After December 26, 2014:  The following requirements 

apply to the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments 
thereto signed by an authorized FTA official on or after December 26, 2014 as follows: 
(a) U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 

and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 1201, which 
incorporates by reference U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 200, and which applies to an Award, the 
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments to any Underlying 
Agreement with a state, local government, Indian tribe, institution of higher 
education (IHE), or nonprofit organization, and  

(b) Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 1201, and Subparts A through E of U.S. OMB 

97



regulatory guidance, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 200, apply to a private for-
profit entity; notably, the Cost Principles of subpart 31.2 of the Federal 
Acquisition Regulation, which permits the payment of profits or fees for work 
under procurement contracts, generally will not apply to private for-profit entities. 

(2) Requirements Applicable Before December 26, 2014.  The following requirements 
apply to the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments 
thereto signed by an authorized FTA official before December 26, 2014 as follows: 
(a) For a state, local government, or Indian tribal government, U.S. DOT regulations, 

“Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to 
State and Local Governments,” former 49 C.F.R. part 18,  

(b) For an institution of higher education or a nonprofit organization, U.S. DOT 
regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements 
with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit 
Organizations,” former 49 C.F.R. part 19, or 

(c) For a private for-profit organization, U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform 
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with Institutions of 
Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-profit Organizations,” former 
49 C.F.R. part 19. 

 
g. Application of Federal, State, and Local Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  

The Recipient agrees to comply with all applicable federal requirements and federal 
guidance.  All standards or limits are minimum requirements when those standards or limits 
are included in the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement, or this Master Agreement.  At the 
time the FTA Authorized Official awards federal assistance to the Recipient in support of the 
Underlying Agreement, the federal requirements and guidance that apply then may be 
modified from time to time, and will apply to the Recipient or the accompanying Underlying 
Agreement.  

 
h. The Recipient’s Responsibility to Comply with Federal Requirements.  Irrespective of 

involvement by any other entity in the Underlying Agreement: 
(1) General.  The Recipient agrees that it must comply with all federal requirements that 

apply to itself and the Underlying Agreement. 
(2) Primary Responsibility for Compliance.   

(a) The Recipient, as the Direct Recipient of federal assistance, agrees that it is 
ultimately responsible for full compliance with federal requirements related to 
itself, its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments 
thereto, even though: 
1 A Third Party Participant provides property or services to support a Project or 

related activities implementing the Award, the accompanying Underlying 
Agreement, any Amendments thereto, or 

2 Another entity or person is involved with the Award, the accompanying 
Underlying Agreement, or any Amendments thereto. 

(b) FTA and the Recipient agree that if FTA makes an Award to a Recipient other 
than the Designated Recipient as defined under 49 U.S.C. § 5302, the Designated 
Recipient is not a party to the Award or the Underlying Agreement and is not 

98



responsible for compliance with federal requirements related to the Underlying 
Agreement.  However, if FTA makes an Award to a Designated Recipient, then 
that Designated Recipient is responsible for compliance with federal requirements 
related to its Underlying Agreement.  FTA and the Recipient further agree to the 
terms of the Designated Recipient’s Split Letter, Suballocation Letter, or 
Government Subapportionment Letter attached in FTA’s Transit Award 
Management System (TrAMS), including the amounts allocated by the 
Designated Recipient to each Direct Recipient, and the commitment to comply 
with the associated transit improvement requirement as stated in that letter.  

(c) Apart from other oversight and reviews FTA may conduct, the Recipient agrees 
that FTA is expressly authorized to conduct oversight of the Recipient’s and its 
Subrecipients’ compliance with federal requirements for safety and security, 
procurement (including Buy America requirements), management, and finance. 
 

i. The Recipient’s Responsibility to Extend Federal Requirements to Third Party Participants.  
In certain circumstances, the Recipient’s compliance with specific federal requirements 
depends on compliance by its Third Party Participant(s) with those federal requirements, and 
therefore: 
(1) General.  The Recipient agrees to ensure that its Third Party Participant(s) will comply 

with applicable federal requirements, and follow applicable federal guidance.  
(2) The Recipient as a “Pass-Through” Entity.  If the Recipient is providing a subaward to a 

Subrecipient to carry out all or part of its Award, the Recipient agrees to obtain the 
agreement of each Subrecipient to comply with U.S. DOT’s administrative 
requirements, as set forth above. 

(3) Performance of the Recipient’s Responsibilities.  If a Third Party Participant is expected 
to fulfill any responsibilities typically performed by the Recipient, the Recipient agrees 
to ensure that the Third Party Participant will carry out the Recipient’s responsibilities 
in compliance with federal requirements, and provide enough information to each Third 
Party Participant so that it understands that it will be expected to follow federal 
guidance. 

(4) Risk.  As provided in 2 C.F.R. part 1201, which incorporates by reference 2 C.F.R. 
part 200, the Recipient agrees to evaluate the risk involved before awarding a 
subagreement to any entity. 

(5) Third Party Agreements.  To comply with federal requirements, the Recipient agrees to 
enter into a written Third Party Agreement with each Third Party Participant in its 
Underlying Agreement and must include all appropriate provisions stating the Third 
Party Participant’s responsibilities to assure the Recipient’s capability to comply with 
applicable federal requirements and guidance and specifying the responsibilities that the 
Third Party Participant will fulfill on the Recipient’s behalf. 

(6) Notice to Third Party Participants.  The Recipient agrees to include notice in each Third 
Party Agreement that: 
(a) Federal requirements that apply to the Recipient or the Award, the accompanying 

Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto may change due to changes 
in federal law, regulation, other requirements, or guidance, or changes in the 
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement including any information incorporated by 
reference and made part of that Underlying Agreement, and 

99



(b) Applicable changes to those federal requirements will apply to each Third Party 
Agreement and parties thereto at any tier. 
 

j. Changed Circumstances.  The Recipient agrees that changed circumstances may occur that 
may impact the Recipient’s ability to comply with the terms and conditions of the Underlying 
Agreement.  
(1) Types of Changes.  Certain circumstances can cause significant changes in performance 

of a Project or related activities or adversely affect the Recipient’s ability to carry out its 
Underlying Agreement, such as a: 
(a) Change in federal requirements or guidance, 
(b) Change in state, territorial, local, or tribal requirements,  
(c) Change in the Recipient’s circumstances, including:  

1 Its legal, financial, technical, or managerial capacity,  
2 Its continuing control of Project property, or 
3 Another similar situation, and 

(d) Any current or prospective legal matter with potentially serious consequences, 
including a major dispute, default, breach, or litigation, or credible evidence that 
the Recipient’s principal, official, employee, agent, or a Third Party Participant, or 
other person has submitted a false claim under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. 
§ 3729 et seq., or has committed a criminal or civil violation of law pertaining to 
fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal 
assistance; suspension, debarment, or other similar administrative or enforcement 
action against the Recipient or any Third Party Participant; or any matter or 
situation, including any other change or legal action that may adversely affect the 
Federal Government’s interest in a Project or related activities. 

(2) Notice.  In the circumstances described above, the Recipient agrees to provide 
immediate written notice to the: 
(a) FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient operates public 

transportation or implements the Underlying Agreement,  
(b) FTA Headquarters Manager that administers the Underlying Agreement, or 
(c) FTA Chief Counsel. 

 
k. Conflict Between Federal Requirements and State, Territorial, Local, or Tribal Requirements.  

FTA and the Recipient understand that a federal requirement may conflict with a state, 
territorial, local, or tribal requirement, and agree that the Recipient must comply with each 
applicable federal requirement that pre-empts the conflicting state, territorial, local, or tribal 
requirement. 
(1) Compliance with State, Territorial, Local or Tribal Requirements.  Unless otherwise 

pre-empted by a federal requirement, FTA and the Recipient agree that: 
(a) FTA expects the Recipient to comply with applicable state, territorial, local, and 

tribal requirements, and 
(b) FTA does not require the Recipient to take any action involving the Underlying 

Agreement that would violate a state, territorial, local, or tribal requirement that is 
in conflict with a federal requirement. 

(2) When a Conflict Arises.  When a federal requirement conflicts with a state, territorial, 
local, or tribal requirement: 

100



(a) The Recipient must notify FTA immediately in writing if compliance with the 
federal requirement would violate a state, territorial, local, or tribal requirement, or 
require the Recipient to violate a state, territorial, local, or tribal requirement. 

(b) The Recipient must make appropriate arrangements with FTA to proceed with its 
responsibilities as set forth in the Underlying Agreement, or terminate the 
Underlying Agreement expeditiously, if necessary. 
 

l. No Federal Government Commitment or Liability to Third Parties.  Except as the Federal 
Government expressly consents in writing, the Recipient agrees that: 
(1) The Federal Government does not and shall not have any commitment or liability 

related to the Underlying Agreement, to any Third Party Participant at any tier, or to 
any other person or entity that is not a party (FTA or the Recipient) to the Underlying 
Agreement, and  

(2) Notwithstanding that the Federal Government may have concurred in or approved any 
Solicitation or Third Party Agreement at any tier that may affect the Underlying 
Agreement, the Federal Government does not and shall not have any commitment or 
liability to any Third Party Participant or other entity or person that is not a party (FTA 
or the Recipient) to the Underlying Agreement. 

 
Section 4.  Ethics.   
 
a. Standards of Conduct.  At a minimum, the Recipient agrees to, and assures that its 

Subrecipients will, establish and maintain written Standards of Conduct covering conflicts of 
interest that: 
(1) Apply to the following individuals who have a present or potential financial interest, or 

other significant interest, such as a present or potential employment interest in the 
selection, award, or administration of a third party contract or subcontract: 
(a) The Recipient or its Subrecipients’ officers, employees, board members, or agents 

engaged in the selection, award, or administration of any third party agreement, 
(b) The immediate family members or partners of those listed above in 

section 4.a(1)(a) of this Master Agreement, and 
(c) An entity or organization that employs or is about to employ any person that has a 

relationship with the Recipient or its Subrecipient listed above in sections 4.a(1)(a) 
and (b) of this Master Agreement; 

(2) Prohibit those individuals listed above in section 4.a(1) from: 
(a) Engaging in any activities involving the Recipient or any of its Subrecipients’ 

present or potential Third Party Participants at any tier, including selection, award, 
or administration of a third party agreement in which the individual has a present 
or potential financial or other significant interest, and 

(b) Accepting a gratuity, favor, or anything of monetary value from a present or 
potential Third Party Participant in the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement, unless 
the gift is unsolicited and has an insubstantial financial or nominal intrinsic value; 
and 

(3) Establish penalties, sanctions, or other disciplinary actions for violations, as permitted 
by state or local law or regulations, that apply to those individuals listed above in 
section 4.a(1) and the Recipient or Subrecipient’s Third Party Participants. 

101



 
b. Debarment and Suspension.  The Recipient agrees to the following: 

(1) It will comply with the following requirements of 2 C.F.R. part 180, subpart C, as 
adopted and supplemented by U.S. DOT regulations at 2 C.F.R. part 1200. 

(2) It will not enter into any arrangement to participate in the development or 
implementation of the Underlying Agreement with any Third Party Participant that is 
debarred or suspended except as authorized by:  
(a) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. 

part 1200,  
(b) U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide 

Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement),” 2 C.F.R. part 180, including any 
amendments thereto,  

(c) Executive Orders No. 12549, “Uniform Suspension, Debarment or Exclusion of 
Participants from Procurement or Nonprocurement Activity,” October 13, 1994, 
31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, as amended by Executive Order No. 12689, “Debarment 
and Suspension,” August 16, 1989, 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, and 

(d) Other applicable federal laws, regulations, or guidance regarding participation with 
debarred or suspended Recipients or Third Party Participants. 

(3) It will review the U.S. GSA “System for Award Management – Lists of Parties 
Excluded from Federal Procurement and Nonprocurement Programs,” 
https://www.sam.gov, if required by U.S. DOT regulations, 2 C.F.R. part 1200. 

(4) It will include, and require each Third Party Participant to include, a similar provision in 
each lower tier covered transaction, ensuring that each lower tier Third Party 
Participant: 
(a) Complies with federal debarment and suspension requirements, and  
(b) Reviews the SAM at https://www.sam.gov, if necessary to comply with U.S. DOT 

regulations, 2 C.F.R. part 1200. 
(5) If the Recipient suspends, debars, or takes any similar action against a Third Party 

Participant or individual, the Recipient will provide immediate written notice to the: 
(a) FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located or 

implements the Underlying Agreement, 
(b) FTA Headquarters Manager that administers the Grant or Cooperative Agreement, 

or 
(c) FTA Chief Counsel. 

 
c. Bonus or Commission.  The Recipient affirms that it has not paid, and agrees that it will not 

pay, any bonus or commission to obtain federal assistance for any Project or related activities 
supported under the Underlying Agreement. 

 
d. Lobbying Restrictions.  The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant 

will use federal assistance to influence any officer or employee of a federal agency, member 
of Congress or an employee of a member of Congress, or officer or employee of Congress on 
matters that involve the Underlying Agreement, including any extension or modification, 
according to the following: 
(1) Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  This includes: 

(a) The Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as amended, 

102

https://www.sam.gov/
https://www.sam.gov/


(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “New Restrictions on Lobbying,” 49 C.F.R. part 20, to the 
extent consistent with 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as amended, and 

(c) Other applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance prohibiting 
the use of federal assistance for any activity concerning legislation or 
appropriations designed to influence the U.S. Congress or a state legislature, and 

(2) Exception.  If permitted by applicable federal law, regulations, requirements, or 
guidance, such lobbying activities described above may be undertaken through the 
Recipient’s or Subrecipient’s proper official channels. 

 
e. Political Activity.  The Recipient agrees to comply with: 

(1) The Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. chapter 15, which limits the political activities of state and local 
government agencies supported in whole or in part with federal assistance, including the 
political activities of state and local government officers and employees whose principal 
governmental employment activities are supported in whole or in part with federal 
assistance,  

(2) U.S. Office of Personnel Management regulations, “Political Activity of State or Local 
Officers or Employees,” 5 C.F.R. part 151, and  

(3) 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(2) and 23 U.S.C. § 142(g), which limits the applicability of the 
Hatch Act, as follows: 
(a) The Hatch Act does not apply to nonsupervisory employees of a public 

transportation system, or any other agency or entity performing related functions, 
based upon the Award of federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or 
23 U.S.C. § 142(a)(2), but 

(b) Notwithstanding the preceding section 4.g(3)(a) of this Master Agreement, the 
Hatch Act does apply to a nonsupervisory employee if imposed for a reason other 
than the Award of federal assistance to its employer under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or 
23 U.S.C. § 142(a)(2). 

 
f. False or Fraudulent Statements or Claims.   

(1) Civil Fraud.  The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that: 
(a) Federal laws, regulations, and requirements apply to itself and its Underlying 

Agreement, including the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as 
amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud 
Civil Remedies,” 49 C.F.R. part 31.  

(b) By executing the Underlying Agreement, the Recipient certifies and affirms to the 
Federal Government the truthfulness and accuracy of any claim, statement, 
submission, certification, assurance, affirmation, or representation that the 
Recipient provides to the Federal Government. 

(c) The Federal Government may impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil 
Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, and other applicable penalties if the Recipient 
presents, submits, or makes available any false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
information.  

(2) Criminal Fraud.  The Recipient acknowledges that 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1) authorizes the 
Federal Government to impose the penalties under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 if the Recipient 
provides a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, certification, 

103



assurance, or representation in connection with a federal public transportation program 
under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or any other applicable federal law. 

 
g. Trafficking in Persons.   

(1) Legal Authorities.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures the compliance of each 
Subrecipient, with federal requirements and guidance, including: 
(a) Section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), as 

amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g), and 
(b) The terms of this section 4.g, which have been derived from U.S. OMB regulatory 

guidance, “Award Term for Trafficking in Persons,” 2 C.F.R. part 175, per 
U.S. OMB’s direction. 

(2) Definitions.  The Recipient agrees that for purposes of this section 4.g: 
(a) Employee means either:  an individual who is employed by the Recipient or a 

Subrecipient, and is participating in a Project or related activities as set forth in the 
Underlying Agreement, or  another person who is participating in a Project or 
related activities as set forth in the Underlying Agreement and is not compensated 
by the Recipient, including, but not limited to, a volunteer, or an individual whose 
services are contributed by the Recipient or Third Party Participant as an in-kind 
contribution toward the cost sharing requirements of the Recipient’s Underlying 
Agreement. 

(b) Forced labor means labor obtained by recruitment, harboring, transportation, 
provision, or other means of obtaining of a person for labor or services through the 
use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of subjection to involuntary 
servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. 

(c) Private entity means any entity other than a state, local government, Indian tribe, 
or foreign public entity, as those terms are defined in 2 C.F.R. § 175.25, and 
includes a for-profit organization, or a nonprofit organization, including any 
nonprofit organization of higher education, hospital, or tribal organization other 
than one included in the definition of Indian Tribe at 2 C.F.R. § 175.25(b). 

(d) Severe forms of trafficking in persons has the meaning given at section 103 of the 
TVPA, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7102. 

(e)  Commercial sex act has the meaning given at section 103 of the TVPA, as 
amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7102. 

(f) Coercion has the meaning given at section 103 of the TVPA, as amended, 
22 U.S.C. § 7102. 

(3) Provisions Applicable to All Recipients.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its 
Subrecipients will: 
(a) Provide Information.  Inform FTA immediately of any information it receives 

from any source alleging a violation of the prohibitions listed in section 4.g(4) of 
this Master Agreement, and 

(b) Subagreement Provision.  Include the following provision in any subagreement it 
enters into with a private entity as defined above in section 4.g(2)(c) of this Master 
Agreement: 

 
____________ agrees that it and its employees that participate in 
the Recipient’s Award, may not: 

104



1. Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the 
period of time that the Recipient’s Award is in effect, 

2. Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the 
Recipient’s Award is in effect, or 

3. Use forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Award 
or subagreements thereunder. 

 
(4) Provisions Applicable to a Private Entity Recipient.  If the Recipient is a private entity, 

it agrees that: 
(a) Prohibitions.  It, its employees, its Subrecipients, and its Subrecipients’ employees 

that participate in the Underlying Agreement will not: 
1 Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that 

the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect, 
2 Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the Recipient’s 

Underlying Agreement is in effect, or 
3 Use forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement 

or subagreements. 
(b) Termination of Federal Assistance.  Section 106(g) of the TVPA, as amended, 

22 U.S.C. § 7104(g), and U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Award Term for 
Trafficking in Persons,” 2 C.F.R. part 175, provide FTA the right to unilaterally 
terminate the Underlying Agreement for a violation of that Act without penalty to 
the Federal Government, if FTA determines that the private entity Recipient or its 
Subrecipient: 
1 Has violated a prohibition described above in section 4.g(4)(a) of this Master 

Agreement, or 
2 Has an employee whose conduct is determined to have violated a prohibition 

described above in section 4.g(4)(a) of this Master Agreement because that 
employee’s conduct is either: 
a Associated with performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement, or  
b Imputed to the Recipient or Subrecipient using the standards of due process 

for conduct of an individual to an organization provided in: 
(i) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and 

Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. part 1200, or 
(ii) U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Guidelines to Agencies on 

Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement),” 
2 C.F.R. part 180. 

(5) Provisions Applicable to a Recipient That is Not a Private Entity.  A Recipient that is 
not a private entity agrees that section 106(g) of the TVPA, as amended, 22 U.S.C. 
§ 7104(g), and U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Award Term for Trafficking in 
Persons,” 2 C.F.R. part 175, provides FTA the right to unilaterally terminate the 
Underlying Agreement, without penalty to the Federal Government, for a violation of 
that Act if FTA determines that: 
(a) A private entity that is the Subrecipient of the Recipient is determined to have 

engaged in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the 
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; procured a commercial sex act 
during the period of time that the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; 

105



or used forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement 
or subagreements thereunder, or 

(b) An employee of a private entity that is the Subrecipient has engaged in severe 
forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the Recipient’s 
Underlying Agreement is in effect; procured a commercial sex act during the 
period of time that the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; or used 
forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement or 
subagreements thereunder, and whose conduct described above is associated with 
performance in the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement; or is imputed to the 
Subrecipient using the standards for due process to impute the conduct of an 
individual to an organization provided in U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, 
“Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension 
(Nonprocurement),” 2 C.F.R. part 180, and U.S. DOT regulations, 
“Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. part 1200. 

(6) Remedies Other Than Termination of Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees that 
FTA’s right to terminate federal assistance as provided in the TVPA and in 
sections 4.g(4)(b) and 4.g(5) are in addition to all other remedies for noncompliance 
available to the Federal Government under this Master Agreement. 
 

Section 5.  Federal Assistance.   
 
a. Total Federal Assistance Awarded and Obligated.  The Recipient agrees that FTA’s 

responsibility to provide federal assistance for its Underlying Agreement is up to the amount 
shown in the Underlying Agreement, as modified by any Amendments thereto, which is 
equal to the smallest of: (1) the maximum amount permitted by federal law or regulation, or 
(2) the “Total FTA Amount Awarded and Obligated,” as stated in the Underlying 
Agreement.  FTA’s responsibility to provide federal assistance is limited to the amounts 
listed in the most recent Award Budget identified in the Underlying Agreement and may not 
exceed the federal share of the actual eligible expenses incurred for participation in the 
Award. 

 
b. Basis of Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees that the “Total FTA Amount Awarded 

and Obligated” stated in the Underlying Agreement and modified by any Amendments 
thereto forms the basis on which FTA determines the “Total FTA Amount Awarded and 
Obligated.” 
(1) “Net Project Cost.”  The Recipient agrees that if federal law or regulation requires an 

Underlying Agreement to be financed on the basis of its “Net Project Cost,” as defined 
in 49 U.S.C. § 5302:  
(a) FTA will provide federal assistance for a percentage of the portion of the “Total 

Award Budget” that the Recipient cannot reasonably finance from its revenues, 
which is the “Net Project Cost,”  

(b) FTA will use the amount of the “Total Award Budget” stated on the Underlying 
Agreement to calculate the “Total FTA Amount Awarded and Obligated,” and 

(c) In TrAMS, the amount stated as the “Total Award Budget” on the Underlying 
Agreement is actually the “Net Project Cost,” as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 5302. 

106



(2) Other Basis for FTA Participation.  The Recipient agrees that if federal law or FTA 
permits an Underlying Agreement to be financed on a basis other than its “Net Project 
Cost,” as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 5302, or under previous authorizing legislation: 
(a) FTA will provide federal assistance for all or part of the cost of the Underlying 

Agreement that is eligible for federal assistance,  
(b) In some instances, FTA has discretion to determine the amount of federal 

assistance to provide for each specific Project or related activities, and 
(c) FTA will use the amount stated in the Underlying Agreement as the “Total Award 

Budget” to calculate the “Total FTA Amount Awarded and Obligated.” 
 

c. Award Budget.  The Recipient agrees that it will prepare an Award Budget that, after FTA 
has provided its approval, will be incorporated by reference and made part of the Underlying 
Agreement. 
(1) Restrictions.  The Recipient agrees that it will not incur costs eligible for FTA 

participation under the Award or withdraw federal assistance for eligible costs incurred 
unless those costs are consistent with the Award Budget. 

(2) Amendments to the Award Budget.  To the extent specified in applicable FTA program 
management guidance, the Recipient agrees that it must obtain prior FTA approval in 
writing before amending its Award Budget or transferring federal assistance for the 
Award if the transfer is not expressly authorized by federal law, regulation, or guidance.  
An Award of additional federal assistance will require an amended Award Budget. 

(3) Revisions to the Award Budget.  To the extent specified in applicable FTA program 
management guidance, the Recipient may revise the Award Budget without prior FTA 
written approval.  The Recipient agrees that all other Award Budget revisions will 
require prior FTA approval in writing.   

(4) Unexpended Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees to inform FTA promptly if it 
believes it will have unexpended federal assistance after the period of performance for 
the Award ends. 

 
Section 6.  Non-Federal Share.   
 
a. Amount.  The Recipient agrees to provide the amount of non-federal share specified in the 

Underlying Agreement.  Except to the extent that FTA has provided its written consent 
permitting the Recipient to defer payment of the non-federal share required by the 
Underlying Agreement, the Recipient agrees to provide its proportionate amount of the non-
federal share no later than the time it draws down the federal share to pay the eligible costs. 
 

b. Duty to Obtain.  The Recipient agrees to complete all proceedings necessary to provide the 
non-federal share and to notify FTA of any changed circumstances adversely affecting its 
ability to pay the non-federal share, including a description of the actions it has taken or will 
take to ensure adequate resources to provide the non-federal share, and a re-affirmation of its 
commitment to provide the non-federal share. 
 

c. Permissible Sources.  The Recipient agrees that the following are permissible sources of the 
non-federal share for the Award: 
(1) Undistributed cash surpluses, 

107



(2) A replacement or depreciation cash fund or reserve, and 
(3) New capital. 

 
d. Restricted Sources.  Because sources of non-federal share differ among FTA’s public 

transportation assistance programs, FTA will specify in an FTA circular or otherwise 
whether the following sources may be used as the non-federal share for a specific Award 
under that program: 
(1) Program income generated by a Project or related activities supported by a prior Grant 

or Cooperative Agreement, which is a form of undistributed cash surplus,  
(2) Advertising revenues, 
(3) Concession revenues, 
(4) Revenues from a service agreement from a state or local social service agency or a 

private social service organization, 
(5) Third party in-kind contributions, 
(6) Proceeds from the issuance of revenue bonds pursuant 49 U.S.C. § 5323(e), 
(7) Transportation development credits (formerly toll revenue credits) pursuant to 

49 U.S.C. § 120(i),  
(8) Revenue from Value Capture pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5323(s),  
(9) Federal assistance made available for the Federal Lands Highway Program authorized 

under 23 U.S.C. § 204, or 
(10) Federal assistance derived from other federal laws that permit their funds to be used as 

the non-federal share.   
 

e. Prohibited Sources.  Except as permitted by federal laws, regulations, requirements, or 
guidance, or approved in writing by FTA, the Recipient agrees  that it will not provide any 
non-federal share for the Underlying Agreement derived from: 
(1) Farebox revenues from providing public transportation services using facilities and 

equipment acquired with federal assistance for the Award,  
(2) Program income derived from the use of facilities or equipment acquired with federal 

assistance for the Award, except if expressly permitted by federal laws, regulations, 
requirements, or FTA guidance, or 

(3) Other federal funds not authorized for use as non-federal share by federal law, 
regulation, or guidance. 

 
f. Reductions or Refunds.   

(1) Reductions.  The Recipient agrees that if it reduces the non-federal share of eligible 
costs required for the Award, then, at the same time, it must reduce the proportionate 
amount of federal assistance for the Award. 

(2) Refunds.  The Recipient agrees that if it accepts a refund of the non-federal share of 
eligible costs provided through the Underlying Agreement, then, at the same time, it 
must provide the Federal Government an amount of that refund proportionate to the 
federal contribution.  

 
Section 7.  Payments to the Recipient.   
 

108



a. Conditions for Accessing Federal Assistance.  In order to seek or obtain federal assistance for 
the costs of implementing the Award, the Recipient agrees that: 
(1) It must execute the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto, 
(2) It must receive and file a properly signed document seeking payment for the expense, 

such as a voucher or other appropriate record, and a properly detailed description of the 
relationship of the expense to the Award, 

(3) It must identify all sources of federal assistance from which the payment is derived, 
(4) It must provide FTA with all financial and progress reports required to date, and 
(5) If the Recipient must provide a non-federal share, unless FTA has stated otherwise in 

writing that the Recipient may defer the non-federal share: 
(a) The Recipient will not request or obtain more federal assistance than justified by 

the eligible non-federal share it has provided,  
(b) The Recipient will not cause the proportion of federal assistance available for the 

Award at any time to exceed the percentage of federal assistance authorized and 
documented in the Underlying Agreement, and 

(c) When combined with federal payments, the Recipient will be able to demonstrate 
that the non-federal share will be adequate to cover all eligible costs incurred in 
support of the Award.  
 

b. Eligible Costs.  Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the 
Recipient agrees, and will obtain the agreement of each Subrecipient, to seek and obtain 
federal assistance only for the eligible costs of the Award that are: 
(1) Consistent with the Description of Each Project, the Award Budget, this Master 

Agreement, and the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto, 
(2) Necessary to carry out the Award, 
(3) Reasonable for the property or services acquired for use in the Project, 
(4) The actual net costs, which consists of the price paid minus reductions of the costs 

incurred, such as any refunds, rebates, or other items of value, but excluding program 
income, 

(5) Incurred for work performed after the Effective Date of the: 
(a) Award, 
(b) Pre-award authority that FTA has provided, or 
(c) Letter of No Prejudice, 

(6) Satisfactorily documented, 
(7) Consistent with federally approved accounting principles and procedures, including 

requirements for indirect costs, consistent with the applicable U.S. DOT common rules, 
and 

(8) Consistent with applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules and other applicable federal law, 
regulations, requirements, and guidance. 

 
c. Ineligible Costs.  The Recipient agrees that, except as the Federal Government determines 

otherwise in writing, FTA will exclude ineligible costs incurred in connection with the 
Award or otherwise, such as: 
(1) A cost the Recipient has incurred before the Effective Date of the Award as documented 

in the Underlying Agreement or any Amendments thereto that is not accompanied by 
FTA’s written approval, including, but not limited to, pre-award authority or a Letter of 

109



No Prejudice, and permitted by applicable federal law, regulation, guidance, or the 
Underlying Agreement or any Amendments thereto, 

(2) A cost not included in the most recent Award Budget, 
(3) A cost for property or services received in connection with any third party agreement 

lacking any FTA approval or concurrence in writing that is required,  
(4) An ordinary governmental or operating cost not applicable to the Award, as prohibited 

by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h),  
(5) A profit or fee for services provided by the Recipient or any of its Subrecipients in 

implementing the Award, or 
(6) A cost that is ineligible for FTA participation as provided in applicable federal law, 

regulation, or guidance. 
 
d. Bond Interest and Other Financing Costs – Limited Eligibility.  The Recipient agrees that 

bond interest and other financing costs are allowable costs to the extent permitted by 
applicable federal law, regulation, and guidance.  FTA’s share of interest and financing costs 
that implement the Award will be limited to an amount that does not exceed the most 
favorable financing terms reasonably available at the time of borrowing, except as the 
Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, 
 

e. Payment Procedures Based on the Type of Federal Assistance Awarded.  The Recipient 
agrees that: 
(1) All payments in connection with the Award will be made through electronic methods.  
(2) Payment procedures for a Recipient differ based upon the type of federal assistance that 

is awarded.  
(3) FTA determines which electronic system it will use to make payments to the Recipient 

as follows: 
(a) For Grants and other types of federal assistance, FTA will use the Electronic 

Clearinghouse Operation Web System (ECHO-Web), Automated Clearing House 
(ACH) payment method, except as provided below in sections 7.e(3)(b) and (c) of 
this Master Agreement, 

(b) For Cooperative Agreements, FTA will use the DELPHI eInvoicing System or 
DELPHI Mark View System if the Recipient is granted a waiver (see the following 
section 7.g of this Master Agreement for more information about payments for 
cooperative agreements and section 7.g of this Master Agreement for information 
about accessing and using the DELPHI eInvoicing System), and 

(c) For Grants requiring more detailed review of supporting documentation before 
receiving federal assistance and as determined by the FTA Manager for the 
Underlying Agreement, FTA will use the DELPHI eInvoicing System (see the 
following section 7.g of this Master Agreement for more information about 
accessing and using the DELPHI eInvoicing System). 

 
f. Payment Procedures Using ECHO.  The Recipient agrees that if payment is made through 

ECHO-Web using an ECHO Control Number, it will comply with the “ECHO Web User 
Manual For FTA and FAA,” July 2012, and it will withdraw federal assistance only to pay 
the eligible costs of implementing the Award. 

110



(1) Major Withdrawals.  When a single withdrawal will exceed $50,000,000, the Recipient 
agrees to notify the appropriate FTA Regional or Program Office at least three (3) days 
before the withdrawal is anticipated. 

(2) Immediate Use.  The Recipient agrees that it will not withdraw federal assistance until 
actually needed for immediate payment of those expenses and will use that federal 
assistance to pay for expenses that implement the Award no later than three (3) days 
after receipt, except as the Federal Government permits otherwise in writing. 

(3) Limits.  The Recipient agrees that it will not withdraw more than the sum of federal 
assistance the Federal Government has awarded or the current available balance for its 
Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, 
whichever is less. 

(4) Control.  The Recipient agrees that it will provide for the control and accountability of 
all federal assistance for its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto. 

(5) Reporting.  Unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient agrees that it 
will report its cash payments and balances promptly. 

(6) Penalties.  If the Recipient fails to comply with this section of this Master Agreement, it 
agrees that it may incur or be subjected to penalties, including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
(a) Access to ECHO-Web.  The Federal Government may revoke or suspend the 

Recipient’s ECHO Control Number and access to the ECHO-Web if the Federal 
Government determines that:   
1 Fraud, waste, mismanagement, or abuse exists in the Recipient’s use and 

application of federal assistance, 
2 The Recipient has failed to use federal assistance it withdrew to pay costs 

incurred that implement the Underlying Agreement within three (3) days of 
withdrawing that federal assistance, 

3 The Recipient has failed to return withdrawn but unspent federal assistance to 
the Federal Government within a reasonable time,   

4 The Recipient has failed to establish procedures to minimize the time between 
advances of federal assistance and payments of costs incurred that implement 
the Underlying Agreement,  

5 The Recipient has been awarded Federal assistance through a Cooperative 
Agreement with FTA and will use the eInvoicing or DELPHI Mark View 
System as its payment method instead of the ECHO-Web System (see 
sections 7.g.) or 

6 For Grants requiring a more detailed review of supporting documentation 
before receiving federal assistance, and as determined by the FTA Manager for 
the Award, the Recipient will use eInvoicing (see section 7.g). 

(b) Interest.  The Recipient agrees to pay interest to the Federal Government on any 
federal assistance withdrawn prematurely, irrespective of whether the federal 
assistance has been deposited in an interest-bearing account. 
1 A State or State Instrumentality.  If the Recipient is a state or state 

instrumentality, it agrees to pay interest calculated as provided in section 5(b) 
of the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as amended, 31 U.S.C. 
§ 6503(b), and U.S. Department of Treasury (U.S. Treasury) regulations, 

111



“Rules and Procedures for Efficient Federal-State Funds Transfers,” 31 C.F.R. 
part 205. 

2 Other than a State or State Instrumentality.  If the Recipient is not a state or 
state instrumentality, it agrees to pay prejudgment common law interest 
determined by the Federal Government, as authorized by joint U.S. Treasury 
and U.S. Department of Justice (joint U.S. Treasury and U.S. DOJ) 
regulations, “Standards for the Administrative Collection of Claims,” 
31 C.F.R. § 901.9(i).  The Federal Government may determine the amount of 
interest due, based on the amount of interest the Recipient demonstrates it 
earned on its premature withdrawals of federal assistance, the amount of 
interest based on the “Treasury tax and loan account” rate prescribed under 
31 U.S.C. § 3717 for debts owed to the United States, or an amount of interest 
as the Federal Government otherwise determines. 

(7) ECHO System.  If the Recipient is authorized to receive payments provided through 
ECHO-Web, FTA does not generally review the drawdown when made; however, FTA 
may review the drawdown at a later time, and subject that drawdown to an audit under a 
financial oversight review, a triennial review, or another audit. 

 
g. Payment Procedures for a Cooperative Agreement.  A Recipient of federal assistance through 

a Cooperative Agreement must use the DELPHI eInvoicing System to obtain federal 
payments for costs incurred that implement the Underlying Agreement, unless a waiver is 
granted. 
(1) Standard Procedures.  To make and receive payments through the DELPHI eInvoicing 

System, the following procedures must be followed: 
(a) Access to the DELPHI eInvoicing System.  To access the DELPHI eInvoicing 

System, the Recipient: 
1 Must have internet access to register and submit payment requests through the 

DELPHI eInvoicing System, 
2 Should contact its FTA Manager for the Underlying Agreement to obtain the 

required DELPHI User access form and approval,  
3 Must complete the required forms that the FAA, Enterprise Service Center’s 

(ESC) Help Desk uses to verify the Recipient’s identity, and present it to a 
Notary Public for verification,  

4 Return that form, completed and notarized, to: 
DOT Enterprise Services Center 
FAA Accounts Payable, AMZ-100 
PO Box 25710 
Oklahoma City, OK 73125, 
and, 

5 Should contact its FTA Manager for the Underlying Agreement with any 
changes to its system profile information. 

(b) Payment Requests.  The Recipient must submit each payment request 
electronically through the DELPHI eInvoicing System, unless a waiver is granted; 
use of the DELPHI eInvoicing System requires the FTA Manager for the 
Underlying Agreement to review all supporting documentation before authorizing 
payment. 

112



(c) Additional Information.  The U.S. DOT DELPHI elnvoicing System website 
(http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphi-einvoicing-system.html) displays additional 
information, including access forms and training materials a Recipient may need. 

(d) Federal Responsibilities.  When FTA so requests, the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) will make payments to FTA Recipients electronically.  On 
behalf of FTA, FAA/ESC must process payment requests to a Recipient of federal 
assistance documented in its Cooperative Agreement with FTA, and will deposit 
that federal assistance with the Recipient’s financial institution (Note: FTA no 
longer issues paper checks). 

(2) Waiver Requests.  On a case-by-case basis, U.S. DOT Financial Management officials 
may waive the requirement for a Recipient to register and use the DELPHI eInvoicing 
System. 
(a) The Recipient’s Responsibilities.  If the Recipient seeks a waiver from the 

requirement to use the DELPHI eInvoicing System:  
1 It must notify U.S. DOT and FTA by downloading the waiver request form, 

which can be obtained on the U.S. DOT elnvoicing website 
(http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphi-einvoicing-system.html), and notifying its FTA 
Manager for the Underlying Agreement that it has requested a waiver from 
using the DELPHI eInvoicing System,  

2 It must send its waiver request to the Director of the Office of Financial 
Management, U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of the Secretary 
(OST), Office of Financial Management, B-30, 1200 New Jersey Avenue SE, 
Washington DC 20590-0001, DOTElectroniclnvoicing@dot.gov, and  

3 If it obtains a waiver from the use of the DELPHI eInvoicing System, then 
payment will be made using the DELPHI Mark View System, and the 
Recipient should submit all invoices and any supporting documentation 
directly to:  
a FTAinvoices@faa.gov (Note: no more than 10 MB of data can be 

transmitted at one time.  For invoices greater than 10MB, split into 
multiple emails and notate in the subject Email 1 of 4; 2 of 4; etc.), or 

b DOT/FAA (FTA Account)  
6500 South MacArthur Blvd. 
AMZ-150, HQ Room 272  
PO Box 269041  
Oklahoma City, OK 73125-69041 

(b) Federal Responsibilities.  FTA and U.S. DOT have the following responsibilities: 
1 The Director, OST, Office of Financial Management, will confirm or deny the 

waiver request within approximately 30 days. 
2 If the request is granted, then payments will be made after receipt of the 

required FTA reporting forms, provided the Recipient has complied with the 
U.S. DOT Common Rules and this Master Agreement. 

(c) DELPHI eInvoicing System or DELPHI Mark View System.  If the Recipient 
receives payments provided through the DELPHI eInvoicing System or DELPHI 
Mark View System, the Recipient must submit a request for payment with 
adequate supporting documentation for FTA to determine that: 
1 It has complied and is complying with the Underlying Agreement, 

113

http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphi-einvoicing-system.html
http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphi-einvoicing-system.html
mailto:DOTElectroniclnvoicing@dot.gov


2 It has made and is making adequate progress toward completion of the Award, 
and 

3 It has satisfied FTA that the federal assistance requested is needed for the 
eligible purposes of the Award in that requisition period. 

(d) Reimbursement.  After it has demonstrated satisfactory compliance with this 
section, FTA may reimburse the federal share of the Recipient’s apparent 
allowable costs incurred or to be incurred in the requisition period if those 
apparent allowable costs are consistent with the Award Budget, and those apparent 
allowable costs do not exceed the maximum amount of federal assistance that may 
be paid through the federal fiscal year of that requisition. 

 
h. Safeguarding Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees to deposit all federal assistance it 

receives in a financial institution and in an insured account whenever possible, and 
understands that FTA encourages it to use financial institutions owned at least fifty 
(50) percent by minority group members. 
 

i. The Recipient’s Duty to Pay Eligible Costs.  When accompanied by appropriate 
documentation, the Recipient agrees to pay the eligible costs incurred that implement the 
Award when due, using federal assistance available provided for the Award and the non-
federal share. 

 
j.  Effect of Federal Payments.  The Recipient agrees that any federal payment made for a cost 

incurred that is supported by its Underlying Agreement does not constitute the Federal 
Government’s final decision about the eligibility of the cost for payment with federal 
assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement, or a waiver of any violation of any 
federal law, regulation, requirement, or guidance, or the Underlying Agreement or this 
Master Agreement. 

 
k. Revocation of Federal Assistance.  The Federal Government may revoke the unexpended 

portion of federal assistance for the Award after the Award has been made and executed. 
 

l. Final Cost Determination.  The Recipient acknowledges that the Federal Government will 
not make a final determination about the eligibility of any cost until the audit of the Award 
and Underlying Agreement has been completed. 

 
m. Closeout.  The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award will not alter: 

(1) The Recipient’s obligation to return any amounts it owes the Federal Government for 
later refunds, corrections, or other similar actions, and 

(2) The Federal Government’s right to disallow costs and recover federal assistance based 
on a later audit or other review. 

 
n. Notification.  If the Federal Government determines that the Recipient is not entitled to any 

portion of federal assistance paid, the Federal Government will notify the Recipient in 
writing. 
 

114



o. Recovery of Improper Payments.  Unless prohibited by federal law or regulation, the Federal 
Government may recover any federal assistance necessary to satisfy any outstanding 
monetary claims it may have against the Recipient. 

 
p. Program Income.  The Recipient agrees that it may use its program income derived from a 

Project receiving federal assistance through the Underlying Agreement as FTA permits.  In 
determining the total amount of program income a Recipient has earned from its Project, 
those costs incident to earning program income that have not been charged to the Award may 
be deducted from the Recipient’s gross income. 
(1) During the Period of Performance.  The Recipient may use program income earned 

during the period of performance of the Underlying Agreement as follows: 
(a) The Recipient may retain the income for other capital or operating public 

transportation expenses.  If the Recipient chooses not to use program income for 
current or future FTA Grants or Cooperative Agreements or for other purposes 
ineligible for federal participation, then the amount of program income used for 
purposes ineligible for federal participation will be deducted from the total 
allowable costs to determine the net allowable costs. 

(b) For each Public Transportation Innovation, Technical Assistance or Workforce 
Development Project or related activities, the Recipient may add to the Award. 

(c) The Recipient may use the program income for the non-federal share for a future 
public transportation Project that will receive federal assistance provided by FTA. 

(2) After the Award Period.  Except as otherwise determined in writing, the Recipient has 
no obligation to the Federal Government regarding the disposition of program income 
earned after the end of the period of performance of the Award (i.e., after the ending 
date of the final Federal Financial Report). 

 
q. Profits.  The Recipient and Subrecipient may earn or keep the profits it may derive as a result 

of an Award, but the Recipient agrees that any such profits must be used in a manner 
consistent with the provisions of this Master Agreement or applicable federal guidance. 
 

r. Excess Payments, Disallowed Costs, Refunds, Claims, Debts, Interest, Penalties, 
Administrative Charges, and Other Amounts Owed to the Federal Government. 
(1) The Recipient’s Responsibility to Pay.  The Recipient agrees that after receiving notice 

of specific amounts due, it will pay the amount it owes the Federal Government for: 
(a) Excess federal payments for disallowed costs, 
(b) Refunds due and amounts recovered from third parties or other sources, 
(c) Federal claims or debts, 
(d) Interest assessed,  
(e) Penalties,  
(f) Administrative charges, or 
(g) Other amounts it owes the Federal Government. 

(2) Amount of Interest Due.  The amount of interest to be assessed depends on the 
procedures used to pursue payment: 
(a) The Debt Collection Act.  When the Federal Government uses the procedures of 

the Debt Collection Act of 1982, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq., to collect 
claims or debts owed by the Recipient for any reason authorized under that Act 

115



(including excess payments and disallowed costs), the Recipient agrees that the 
amount of interest it will owe will be determined by the Joint U.S. Treasury and 
U.S. DOJ regulations, “Standards for the Administrative Collection of Claims,” 
31 C.F.R. part 900, specifically 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(a) – (g), or common law interest 
authorized by 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(i), as the Federal Government determines. 

(b) Other Collection Processes.  When the Federal Government uses methods or 
procedures other than those described in 31 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq. to recover 
money(ies) the Recipient owes the Federal Government, the Recipient agrees that 
common law interest will be due as authorized by Joint U.S. Treasury and 
U.S. DOJ regulations, “Standards for the Administrative Collection of Claims,” 
31 C.F.R. § 901.9(i), but interest for premature withdrawals of federal assistance 
by states or state instrumentalities will be calculated as required under Section 5(b) 
of the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as amended, 31 U.S.C. 
§ 6503(b), and U.S. Treasury regulations, “Rules and Procedures for Efficient 
Federal-State Funds Transfers,” 31 C.F.R. part 205. 

 
s. De-obligation of Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government may 

de-obligate federal assistance the Recipient has not spent both before and after closeout of 
the Award. 
 

Section 8.  Records and Reports Related to the Award and the Underlying Agreement.    
 
a. Records.  The Recipient agrees to maintain satisfactory records of each Project and activities 

related in whole or in part to its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto to the extent FTA requires, including, but not limited to:   
(1) Financial Records.  Accurate financial records in its account for its Award, the 

accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, including, but not 
limited to, records of: 
(a) Assets Received that Implement the Award.  The amount of all assets it receives to 

implement its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto including, but not limited to all federal assistance or the value 
of any property the Federal Government provides that implement its Award, the 
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, and all other 
funds and the value of any property or services it has received from sources other 
than the Federal Government provided for, accruing to, or otherwise received on 
account of its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto. 

(b) Costs Incurred that Implement the Award.  Information about the costs incurred to 
implement its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto, including all costs incurred for the eligible property or 
services, detailed descriptions of the type of property or services acquired, 
including, but not limited, to properly executed payrolls, time records, invoices, 
contracts, vouchers, and other appropriate records, and detailed justifications for 
those costs. 

116



(c) Program Income.  All program income derived from the use of Project property, 
except income FTA determines to be exempt from federal program income record 
requirements.  

(2) Other Records Needed for Reports Related to the Award.  Sufficient records as needed 
to prepare adequate reports related to the Award that it must submit to the Federal 
Government. 

(3) Formats.  Formats for records must be satisfactory to FTA and include, but are not 
limited to, electronic records, including any e-mails related to the Award, records on 
paper, and records created in other formats. 

(4) Availability of Records Related to the Award.  Accessibility for review and separation 
from other records not related to the Award to the extent feasible must be maintained. 

 
b. Reports.  The Recipient agrees to provide to FTA, and others if FTA so directs, all reports 

related in whole or in part required by applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, the 
Underlying Agreement, or at FTA’s express direction in the number and format as FTA 
specifies.  
 

c. National Transit Database.  For each fiscal year the Recipient receives or provides to any 
public transportation operator federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5307 or any provision of 49 U.S.C. § 5311(including the Tribal Transit Program): 
(1) Reporting Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to and assures that it will require the 

public transportation operators participating in its Award, the accompanying Underlying 
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto: 
(a) To facilitate compliance with 49 U.S.C. § 5335(a), which authorizes the National 

Transit Database (NTD),  
(b) To conform to the NTD reporting system and the Uniform System of Accounts 

and Records, 
(c) To comply with FTA regulations, “Uniform System of Accounts and Records and 

Reporting System,” 49 C.F.R. part 630,  
(d) To report information relating to, and the condition of, its public transportation 

assets, as provided in FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management; National 
Transit Database,” 49 C.F.R. parts 625 and 630, 

(e) To comply with any other applicable reporting regulations, and requirements, and 
(f) To follow FTA guidance. 

(2) Voluntary Compliance.  FTA encourages any Recipient that is not required to provide 
information for the NTD, to provide that information voluntarily. 

 
d. U.S. OMB Special Reporting Requirements. 

(1) Authority.  U.S. OMB has issued regulatory guidance in 2 C.F.R. § 25.220 instructing 
federal agencies to include special “award terms” as authorized under federal laws, 
including: 
(a) The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA), 

Public Law No. 109-282, September 26, 2006, 
(b) Section 6202 of the Department of Defense Appropriations Act for Fiscal Year 

2008, Public Law No. 110-252, June 30, 2008, which amended the FFATA, and  

117



(c) Section 872 of the Duncan Hunter National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal 
Year 2009, Public Law No. 110-417, October 14, 2008, which further amended the 
FFATA. 

(2) Universal Identifier and System for Award Management (SAM).  The Recipient agrees 
to comply with the award terms in U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Universal Identifier 
and System for Award Management (SAM),” 2 C.F.R. part 25, appendix A, which FTA 
has included in this Master Agreement at the direction of U.S. OMB: 
(a) Requirements for the System for Award Management (SAM).  Unless exempted 

from SAM as provided in 2 C.F.R. § 25.110, the Recipient agrees to:  
1 Maintain the currency of its information in SAM until the later of the date it 

submits its final financial report required under this Master Agreement, or date 
it receives its final federal payment for the Underlying Agreement, and  

2 Review and update its information in SAM at least annually after the initial 
registration, and more frequently if required by changes in its information, 
another provision of an applicable federal or federally assisted agreement, or 
an applicable federal law or regulation, or U.S. OMB regulatory guidance. 

(b) Requirement for a Unique Entity Identifier [Currently, the Data Universal 
Numbering System (DUNS) Number for SAM].  If the Award includes federal 
assistance intended to support subawards, the Recipient agrees to notify each 
potential Subrecipient and other entity participating in the Award that: 
1 The potential Subrecipient or entity must provide its unique entity identifier for 

SAM [currently, its DUNS number] to the Recipient,  
2 The Recipient may not make any subaward to any potential Subrecipient or 

entity unless that Subrecipient or entity has provided its unique entity identifier 
for SAM [currently, its DUNS number] to the Recipient, and 

3 No Subrecipient or entity, as defined below in section 8.d(4) of this Master 
Agreement, may receive a subaward provided through the Underlying 
Agreement, unless that entity has provided its unique entity identifier for SAM 
[currently, its DUNS number] to the Recipient. 

(3) Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation.  The Recipient agrees to comply 
with the award terms in U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Reporting Subaward and 
Executive Compensation Information,” 2 C.F.R. part 170, appendix A, which FTA has 
included in this Master Agreement at the direction of U.S. OMB: 

(4) Reporting of First-Tier Subawards.  The Recipient agrees that when it takes an action 
that obligates $25,000 or more in federal assistance for a subaward it must report each 
such action as provided below, but it need not report an obligation of $25,000 or more 
in federal assistance, if the Recipient is exempt from U.S. OMB’s Special Reporting 
Requirements as provided below. 
(a) Where and when to report.  The Recipient agrees to report each obligating action 

described below to http://www.fsrs.gov, and the Recipient agrees to report 
subaward information no later than the end of the month after the month in which 
the obligation was made, (for example, if the obligation was made on October 1, 
2015, the obligation must be reported by no later than November 1, 2015). 

(b) What to report.  The Recipient agrees to report the requisite information about 
each obligating action required by the submission instructions posted at 
http://www.usaspending.gov. 

118

http://www.fsrs.gov/
http://www.usaspending.gov/


(c) Reporting Total Compensation of the Recipient’s Executives.  The Recipient 
agrees to report the total compensation for each of its five highest compensated 
executives for the preceding completed fiscal year if: 
1 The total federal assistance authorized to date for the Underlying Agreement is 

$25,000 or more, and 
2 In its preceding fiscal year, the Recipient: 

a Received 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues from federal 
assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. 
§ 170.320 (and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts (and 
subcontracts), 

b Received $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal 
assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. 
§ 170.320 (and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts (and 
subcontracts), and 

c The public does not have access to information about the compensation of 
the Recipient’s executives through periodic reports filed under 
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 
Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(d), 
or Section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 26 U.S.C. § 6104 
(to determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm).  

3 The Recipient agrees to report executive total compensation described above 
as part of Recipient’s registration profile at http://www.sam.gov, and by the 
end of the month after the month in which the Underlying Agreement is 
executed and annually thereafter. 

4 Reporting of Total Compensation of the Subrecipient’s Executives.  Unless 
exempt as provided below, the Recipient agrees to report the names and total 
compensation of each of its first-tier Subrecipient’s five highest compensated 
executives for the Subrecipient’s preceding completed fiscal year if:  
a Received 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues from federal 

assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. 
§ 170.320 (and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts (and 
subcontracts), and 

b Received $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal 
assistance subject to the Transparency Act as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.320 
(and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts (and subcontracts), 

c The public does not have access to information about the compensation of 
the Subrecipient’s executives through periodic reports filed under 
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 
Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(d), 
or Section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 26 U.S.C. § 6104 
(to determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execino,htm). 

119

http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm
http://www.sam.gov/
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execino,htm


5 The Recipient agrees to report the Subrecipient’s executives’ total 
compensation described above to FTA and elsewhere as may be determined by 
the Federal Government, and by the end of the month following the month 
during which the Recipient makes the subaward (for example, if a subaward is 
obligated on any date during the month of October of a given year, i.e., 
between October 1 and 31, the Recipient must report any required 
compensation information about the Subrecipient by November 30 of that 
year). 

6 Any Recipient that had gross income under $300,000 from all sources in the 
previous tax year is exempt from those federal requirements to report 
subawards, and the total compensation of the five highest compensated 
executives of any Subrecipient. 

(5) Other Prospective U.S. OMB Reporting Guidance.  U.S. OMB proposed regulatory 
guidance, “Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters,” to be published in 2 C.F.R. 
part 35, contains a mandatory “award term” that would affect the Recipient’s reporting 
requirements (for more information, see 17 C.F.R. § 229.402(c)(2). 

 
e. Closeout.  The Recipient agrees that closeout of its Award does not alter the record-keeping 

and reporting requirements of this section of this Master Agreement. 
 

Section 9.  Record Retention and Access to Sites of Performance.   
 
a. Types of Records.  The Recipient agrees that it will retain, and will require its Third Party 

Participants to retain, complete and readily accessible records related in whole or in part to 
the Underlying Agreement, including, but not limited to, data, documents, reports, statistics, 
subagreements, leases, third party contracts, arrangements, other third party agreements of 
any type, and supporting materials related to those records. 
 

b. Retention Period.  The Recipient agrees that it will comply with the record retention 
requirements in the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rule.  Records pertaining to its Award, 
the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto must be retained 
from the day the Underlying Agreement was signed by the authorized FTA official through 
the course of the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments 
thereto until three years after the Recipient has submitted its last or final expenditure report, 
and other pending matters are closed. 

 
c. Access to Recipient and Third Party Participant Records.  The Recipient agrees and assures 

that each Subrecipient, if any, will agree to:  
(1) Provide, and require its Third Party Participants at each tier to provide, sufficient access 

to inspect and audit records and information related to its Award, the accompanying 
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto to the U.S. Secretary of 
Transportation or the Secretary’s duly authorized representatives, to the Comptroller 
General of the United States, and the Comptroller General’s duly authorized 
representatives, and to the Recipient and each of its Subrecipients, 

(2) Permit those individuals listed above to inspect all work and materials related to its 
Award, and to audit any information related to its Award under the control of the 

120



Recipient or Third Party Participant within books, records, accounts, or other locations, 
and 

(3) Otherwise comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5325(g), and federal access to records requirements 
as set forth in the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules.  

 
d. Access to the Sites of Performance.  The Recipient agrees to permit, and to require its Third 

Party Participants to permit, FTA to have access to the sites of performance of its Award, the 
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, and to make site visits 
as needed in compliance with the U.S. DOT Common Rules. 
 

e. Closeout.  Closeout of the Award does not alter the record retention or access requirements 
of this section of this Master Agreement. 

 
Section 10.  Completion, Audit, Settlement, and Closeout.   
 
a. Completion.  Within ninety (90) calendar days after completion or termination of the Award, 

the Recipient agrees to submit: 
(1) Its final Federal Financial Report, either electronically or on Federal Financial Report 

Standard Form 425 (SF-425),  
(2) A certification of expenses incurred that implement its Award, the accompanying 

Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, and  
(3) The necessary audit reports of its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, 

and any Amendments thereto. 
 

b. Audit of the Recipient.  Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, 
the Recipient agrees that: 
(1) Audits Required.  It must obtain the following audits:  

(a) Annual “Single Audit.”  A financial and compliance audit consistent with the 
requirements of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, 31 U.S.C. § 7501 
et seq., and applicable U.S. DOT “Single Audit” requirements of 2 C.F.R. 
part 1201, which incorporate by reference 2 C.F.R. part 200, for each Award, the 
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments to any Underlying 
Agreement, and 

(b) Other Audits.  Other audits the Federal Government may require. 
(2) Auditing Standards.  It must comply with the “Audit Requirements” of 2 C.F.R. 

part 200, subpart F, and conform to U.S. Government Accountability Office 
(U.S. GAO) “Government Auditing Standards” in the conduct of audits of its Award, 
the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto. 

(3) Costs of Audits.  The audit costs for the administration and management of the Award, 
the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments to any Underlying 
Agreement are allowable to the extent authorized by the cost principles of 49 C.F.R. 
part 1201, which incorporate by reference 2 C.F.R. part 200. 

 
c. Amounts Owed to the Federal Government.  The Recipient agrees to return to the Federal 

Government any excess federal payments it receives for disallowed costs, and the Federal 
Government’s proportionate part of any amounts it recovers from third parties or other 

121



sources, including refunds due and amounts recovered from third parties or other sources, 
interest assessed, penalties, and administrative charges. 
 

d. Closeout.  The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award occurs when FTA notifies the 
Recipient that the Award is closed, and approves the final federal payment, or acknowledges 
receipt of the proper refund.  Closeout of the Award does not alter the Recipient’s audit 
responsibilities and does not invalidate any continuing requirements of applicable federal 
law, regulations, or requirements, this Master Agreement or the Underlying Agreement. 

 
Section 11.  Right of the Federal Government to Terminate.   
 
a. Justification.  After providing written notice to the Recipient, the Recipient agrees that the 

Federal Government may suspend, suspend then terminate, or terminate all or any part of the 
federal assistance for the Award if: 
(1) The Recipient has failed to make reasonable progress implementing the Award,  
(2) The Federal Government determines that continuing to provide federal assistance to 

support the Award does not adequately serve the purposes of the law authorizing the 
Award, or  

(3) The Recipient has violated the terms of the Underlying Agreement, especially if that 
violation would endanger substantial performance of the Underlying Agreement. 

 
b. Financial Implications.  In general, termination of federal assistance for the Award will not 

invalidate obligations properly incurred before the termination date to the extent that the 
obligations cannot be canceled.  The Federal Government may recover the federal assistance 
it has provided for the Award, including the federal assistance for obligations properly 
incurred before the termination date if it determines that the Recipient has misused its federal 
assistance by failing to make adequate progress, failing to make appropriate use of the 
Project property, or failing to comply with the Underlying Agreement, and require the 
Recipient to refund the entire amount or a lesser amount, as the Federal Government may 
determine including obligations properly incurred before the termination date. 
 

c. Expiration of the Period of Performance.  Except for a Full Funding Grant Agreement, 
expiration of any period of performance established for the Award does not, by itself, 
constitute an expiration or termination of the Award; FTA may extend the period of 
performance to assure that each Formula Project or related activities and each Project or 
related activities funded with “no year” funds can receive FTA assistance to the extent FTA 
deems appropriate. 

 
Section 12.  Civil Rights.   
 
a. Civil Rights Requirements.  The Recipient agrees that it must comply with applicable federal 

civil rights laws, regulations, and requirements, and follow applicable federal guidance, 
except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing.  Therefore, unless a 
Recipient or a federal program, including the Tribal Transit Program or the Indian Tribe 
Recipient, is specifically exempted from a civil rights statute, FTA requires compliance with 
that civil rights statute, including compliance with equity in service. 

122



 
b. Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs.  The Recipient agrees to, and 

assures that it and each Third Party Participant, will: 
(1) Prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex 

(including gender identity), disability, or age. 
(2) Prohibit the: 

(a) Exclusion from participation in employment or a business opportunity for reasons 
identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332,  

(b) Denial of program benefits in employment or a business opportunity identified in 
49 U.S.C. § 5332, or  

(c) Discrimination identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332, including discrimination in 
employment or a business opportunity identified in. 

(3) Follow: 
(a) The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and 

Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” to the extent consistent 
with applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, and other 
applicable federal guidance that may be issued, but 

(b) FTA does not require an Indian Tribe to comply with FTA program-specific 
guidelines for Title VI when administering its Underlying Agreement supported 
with federal assistance under the Tribal Transit Program. 

 
c. Nondiscrimination – Title VI of the Civil Rights Act.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures 

that each Third Party Participant, will: 
(1) Prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin,  
(2) Comply with: 

(a) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 
(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the 

Department of Transportation – Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964,” 49 C.F.R. part 21, and  

(c) Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, and 
(3) Follow:  

(a) The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and 
Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” to the extent consistent 
with applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, 

(b) U.S. DOJ, “Guidelines for the enforcement of Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964,” 
28 C.F.R. § 50.3, and 

(c) All other applicable federal guidance that may be issued. 
 

d. Equal Employment Opportunity.   
(1) Federal Requirements and Guidance.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that each 

Third Party Participant will, prohibit, discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, 
sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin, and: 
(a) Comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e et seq., 
(b) Facilitate compliance with Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment 

Opportunity” September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any 

123



later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it in part and is applicable to 
federal assistance programs,  

(c) Comply with federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as provided in 
section 12 of this Master Agreement,  

(d) FTA Circular 4704.1 “Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements and 
Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” and 

(e) Follow other federal guidance pertaining to EEO laws, regulations, and 
requirements, and prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability, 

(2) Specifics.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that each Third Party Participant will: 
(a) Prohibited Discrimination.  Ensure that applicants for employment are employed 

and employees are treated during employment without discrimination on the basis 
of their race, color, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, or status as a parent, as provided in Executive Order No. 11246 
and by any later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it, and as specified by 
U.S. Department of Labor regulations, 

(b) Affirmative Action.  Take affirmative action that includes, but is not limited to: 
1 Recruitment advertising, recruitment, and employment, 
2 Rates of pay and other forms of compensation, 
3 Selection for training, including apprenticeship, and upgrading, and 
4 Transfers, demotions, layoffs, and terminations, but 

(c) Indian Tribe.  Recognize that Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 
amended, exempts Indian Tribes under the definition of “Employer,” and 

(3) Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements for Construction Activities.  Comply, 
when undertaking “construction” as recognized by the U.S. Department of Labor 
(U.S. DOL), with: 
(a) U.S. DOL regulations, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal 

Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor,” 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and 
(b) Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal 

Employment,” September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any 
later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 U.S.C. 
§ 2000e note. 

 
e. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise.  To the extent authorized by applicable federal laws, 

regulations, or requirements, the Recipient agrees to facilitate, and assures that each Third 
Party Participant will facilitate, participation by small business concerns owned and 
controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals, also referred to as 
“Disadvantaged Business Enterprises” (DBEs), in the Underlying Agreement as follows:  
(1) Statutory and Regulatory Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to comply with: 

(a) Section 1101(b) of the FAST Act, 23 U.S.C. § 101 note,  
(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in 

Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 26, 
and 

(c) Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as provided in section 12 of this 
Master Agreement. 

(2) DBE Program Requirements.  A Recipient that receives planning, capital and/or 
operating assistance and that will award prime third party contracts exceeding $250,000 

124



in a federal fiscal year must have a DBE program that is approved by FTA and meets 
the requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26. 

(3) Special Requirements for a Transit Vehicle Manufacturer (TVM).  The Recipient agrees 
that: 
(a) TVM Certification.  Each TVM, as a condition of being authorized to bid or 

propose on FTA-assisted transit vehicle procurements, must certify that it has 
complied with the requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26, and 

(b) Reporting TVM Awards.  Within 30 days of any third party contract award for a 
vehicle purchase, the Recipient must submit to FTA the name of the TVM 
contractor and the total dollar value of the third party contract, and notify FTA that 
this information has been attached to FTA’s electronic award management system.  
The Recipient must also submit additional notifications if options are exercised in 
subsequent years to ensure that the TVM is still in good standing. 

(4) Assurance.  As required by 49 C.F.R. § 26.13(a): 
(a) Recipient Assurance.  The Recipient agrees and assures that: 

1 It must not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in 
the award and performance of any FTA or U.S. DOT-assisted contract, or in 
the administration of its DBE program or the requirements of 49 C.F.R. 
part 26,  

2 It must take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 C.F.R. part 26 to 
ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of U.S. DOT-
assisted contracts,  

3 Its DBE program, as required under 49 C.F.R. part 26 and as approved by 
U.S. DOT, is incorporated by reference and made part of the Underlying 
Agreement, and  

4 Implementation of its DBE program approved by U.S. DOT is a legal 
obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a violation of this 
Master Agreement. 

(b) Subrecipient/Third Party Contractor/Third Party Subcontractor Assurance.  The 
Recipient agrees and assures that it will include the following assurance in each 
subagreement and third party contract it signs with a Subrecipient or Third Party 
Contractor and agrees to obtain the agreement of each of its Subrecipients, Third 
Party Contractors, and Third Party Subcontractors to include the following 
assurance in every subagreement and third party contract it signs: 
1 The Subrecipient, each Third Party Contractor, and each Third Party 

Subcontractor must not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
or sex in the award and performance of any FTA or U.S. DOT-assisted 
subagreement, third party contract, and third party subcontract, as applicable, 
and the administration of its DBE program or the requirements of 49 C.F.R. 
part 26,  

2 The Subrecipient, each Third Party Contractor, and each Third Party 
Subcontractor must take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 C.F.R. 
part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of 
U.S. DOT-assisted subagreements, third party contracts, and third party 
subcontracts, as applicable,  

125



3 Failure by the Subrecipient and any of its Third Party Contractors or Third Party 
Subcontractors to carry out the requirements of this subparagraph 12.e(4)(b) is 
a material breach of this subagreement, third party contract, or third party 
subcontract, as applicable, and 

4 The following remedies, or such other remedy as the Recipient deems 
appropriate, include, but are not limited to, withholding monthly progress 
payments; assessing sanctions; liquidated damages; and/or disqualifying the 
Subrecipient, Third Party Contractor, or Third Party Subcontractor from future 
bidding as non-responsible. 

(5) Remedies.  Upon notification to the Recipient of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, FTA or U.S. DOT may impose sanctions as provided for under 49 C.F.R. 
part 26, and, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under either or both 
18 U.S.C. § 1001, and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. 
§ 3801 et seq. 

 
f. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex.  The Recipient agrees to comply with federal 

prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of sex, including: 
(1) Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.,  
(2) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs 

or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. part 25, and  
(3) Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332. 

 
g. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age.  The Recipient agrees to comply with federal 

prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of age, including: 
(1) The Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621 – 634, which prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of age,  
(2) U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations, “Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, 
(3) The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., which 

prohibits discrimination against individuals on the basis of age in the administration of 
Programs, Projects, and related activities receiving federal assistance, 

(4) U.S. Health and Human Services regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age 
in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, 
and 

(5) Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332. 
 

h. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the 
following federal prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability: 
(1) Federal laws, including: 

(a) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, 
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability in the administration of 
federally assisted Programs, Projects, or activities,  

(b) The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 12101 et seq., which requires that accessible facilities and services be made 
available to individuals with disabilities: 
1 For FTA Recipients generally, Titles I, II, and III of the ADA apply, but 

126



2 For Indian Tribes, Titles II and III of the ADA apply, but Title I of the ADA 
does not apply because it exempts Indian Tribes from the definition of 
“employer,”  

(c) The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq., 
which requires that buildings and public accommodations be accessible to 
individuals with disabilities,  

(d) Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, which now includes disability as 
a prohibited basis for discrimination, and 

(e) Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements pertaining to access 
for seniors or individuals with disabilities. 

(2) Federal regulations and guidance, including: 
(a) U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities 

(ADA),” 49 C.F.R. part 37, 
(b) U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs 

and Activities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance,” 
49 C.F.R. part 27, 

(c) Joint U.S. Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board 
(U.S. ATBCB) and U.S. DOT regulations, “Americans With Disabilities (ADA) 
Accessibility Specifications for Transportation Vehicles,” 36 C.F.R. part 1192 and 
49 C.F.R. part 38, 

(d) U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation for Individuals with Disabilities: Passenger 
Vessels,” 49 C.F.R. part 39, 

(e) U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in State and 
Local Government Services,” 28 C.F.R. part 35, 

(f) U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public 
Accommodations and in Commercial Facilities,” 28 C.F.R. part 36, 

(g) U.S. EEOC, “Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1630, 

(h) U.S. Federal Communications Commission regulations, “Telecommunications 
Relay Services and Related Customer Premises Equipment for Persons with 
Disabilities,” 47 C.F.R. part 64, Subpart F, 

(i) U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility 
Standards,” 36 C.F.R. part 1194,  

(j) FTA regulations, “Transportation for Elderly and Handicapped Persons,” 
49 C.F.R. part 609,  

(k) FTA Circular 4710.1, “Americans with Disabilities Act: Guidance,” and 
(l) Other applicable federal civil rights and nondiscrimination regulations and 

guidance. 
 

i. Drug or Alcohol Abuse – Confidentiality and Other Civil Rights Protections.  The Recipient 
agrees to comply with the confidentiality and civil rights protections of:  
(1) The Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, as amended, 21 U.S.C. § 1101 

et seq., 
(2) The Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and 

Rehabilitation Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4541 et seq., and  
(3) The Public Health Service Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 290dd – 290dd-2. 

127



 
j. Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency.  The Recipient agrees to 

promote accessibility of public transportation services to persons with limited understanding 
of English by following:  
(1) Executive Order No. 13166, “Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited 

English Proficiency,” August 11, 2000, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-1 note, and  
(2) U.S. DOT Notice, “DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients’ Responsibilities to 

Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Persons,” 70 Fed. Reg. 74087, December 14, 2005. 
 

k. Other Nondiscrimination Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  The Recipient 
agrees to comply with other applicable federal nondiscrimination laws, regulations, and 
requirements, and follow federal guidance prohibiting discrimination. 
 

l. Remedies.  Remedies for failure to comply with applicable federal Civil Rights laws, 
regulations, requirements, and guidance may be enforced as provided in those federal laws, 
regulations, or requirements. 
 

Section 13.  Planning.   
 
a. Standard Planning Provisions.  The Recipient agrees to the following: 

(1) Planning Requirements and Guidance.  To assure that its Underlying Agreement is 
consistent with the Planning requirements that apply, the Recipient agrees to: 
(a) Comply with the Metropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303, and 

joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Planning and Assistance Standards” 
(for Metropolitan Transportation Planning and Programming), 23 C.F.R. part 450 
and 49 C.F.R. part 613, to the extent those regulations are consistent with the 
metropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303,  

(b) Comply with the statewide and nonmetropolitan planning requirements of 
49 U.S.C. § 5304, and joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Planning and 
Assistance Standards” (for statewide transportation planning and programming), 
23 C.F.R. part 450 and 49 C.F.R. part 613, to the extent those regulations are 
consistent with the state planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304, and  

(c) Follow any guidance FTA issues to implement requirements of 49 U.S.C. §§ 5303 
and 5304. 

(2) Participation of State or Local Governmental and Private Nonprofit Providers of 
Nonemergency Transportation.  The Recipient agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5323(k) by assuring that it will, as feasible: 
(a) Provide the opportunity to participate and coordinate with the Recipient in the 

design and the delivery of federally assisted transportation services, and be 
included in planning for the Recipient’s federally assisted transportation services, 
and 

(b) Make that opportunity available to federally-assisted state or local governmental 
agencies and nonprofit organizations that receive federal assistance for 
nonemergency transportation, but do not receive federal assistance for 
nonemergency transportation from U.S. DOT. 

 

128



b. Tribal Transit Program Planning Provisions.  The Indian Tribe agrees that: 
(1) Planning Requirements.  The federal assistance it receives for its Tribal Transit Program 

will be consistent with its documents, including any formal plan provided to FTA in 
support of the development and basis of its Award of federal assistance under the Tribal 
Transit Program, and are or will be coordinated with transportation service funded by 
other federal sources to the maximum extent feasible. 

(2) Participation of State or Local Governmental and Private Nonprofit Providers of 
Nonemergency Transportation.  The Recipient agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5323(k) by assuring that it will, as feasible: 
(a) Provide the opportunity to participate and coordinate with the Recipient in the 

design and the delivery of federally assisted transportation services, and be 
included in planning for the Recipient’s federally assisted transportation services, 
and 

(b) Make that opportunity available to federally-assisted state or local governmental 
agencies and nonprofit organizations that receive federal assistance for 
nonemergency transportation, but do not receive federal assistance for 
nonemergency transportation from U.S. DOT. 

 
Section 14.  Private Enterprise.   

 
a. Protections.  The Recipient agrees to protect the interests of private enterprise affected by 

federal public transportation programs by: 
(1) Encouraging private enterprise to participate in the planning of public transportation 

and programs that provide public transportation, to the extent permitted under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5306, and 

(2) Providing just compensation for the Project property it acquires, including the 
franchises of private providers of public transportation, as required under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5323(a)(1)(C).  

 
b. Infrastructure Investment.  The Recipient agrees to follow the infrastructure investment 

recommendations of: 
(1) Executive Order No. 12803, “Infrastructure Privatization,” April 30, 1992, 31 U.S.C. 

§ 501 note, and  
(2) Executive Order No. 12893, “Principles for Federal Infrastructure Investments,” 

January 26, 1994, 31 U.S.C. § 501 note. 
 

c. Joint Development.  If joint development is involved, the Recipient agrees to follow the latest 
edition of FTA Circular 7050.1, “Federal Transit Administration Guidance on Joint 
Development.”   

 
Section 15.  Preference for United States Products and Services.   
 
Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient agrees to 
comply with FTA’s U.S. domestic preference requirements and follow federal guidance, 
including: 

129

http://www.fta.dot.gov/legislation_law/12349_16123.html
http://www.fta.dot.gov/legislation_law/12349_16123.html
http://www.fta.dot.gov/legislation_law/12349_16123.html


a. Buy America.  The domestic preference procurement requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), 
and FTA regulations, “Buy America Requirements,” 49 C.F.R. part 661, to the extent 
consistent with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), 
 

b. Cargo Preference.  Preference – Use of United States-Flag Vessels.  The shipping 
requirements of 46 U.S.C. § 55305, and U.S. Maritime Administration regulations, “Cargo 
Preference – U.S.-Flag Vessels,” 46 C.F.R. part 381, and 

 
c. Fly America.  The air transportation requirements of Section 5 of the International Air 

Transportation Fair Competitive Practices Act of 1974, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 40118, and 
U.S. General Services Administration (U.S. GSA) regulations, “Use of United States Flag 
Air Carriers,” 41 C.F.R. §§ 301-10.131 – 301-10.143. 

 
Section 16.  Procurement.   
 
a. Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  The Recipient agrees: 

(1) To comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and other applicable federal 
laws, regulations, and requirements in effect now or later that affect its third party 
procurements,  

(2) To comply with the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules, and 
(3) To follow the most recent edition and any revisions of FTA Circular 4220.1, 

“Third Party Contracting Guidance,” to the extent consistent with applicable federal 
laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance. 

 
b. Full and Open Competition.  The Recipient agrees to conduct all of its third party 

procurements using full and open competition as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(a), and as 
determined by FTA. 
 

c. Exclusionary or Discriminatory Specifications.  The Recipient agrees that it will not use any 
federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 for any procurement based on exclusionary or 
discriminatory specifications, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(h), unless authorized by other 
applicable federal laws, regulations, or requirements. 
 

d. Required Clauses in Third Party Contracts.  In addition to other applicable provisions of 
federal law, regulations, requirements, and guidance, all third party contracts made by the 
Recipient under the Federal award must contain provisions covering the following, as 
applicable: 
(1) Contracts for more than the simplified acquisition threshold currently set at $150,000, 

which is the inflation adjusted amount determined by the Civilian Agency Acquisition 
Council and the Defense Acquisition Regulations Council (Councils) as authorized by 
41 U.S.C. § 1908, must address administrative, contractual, or legal remedies in 
instances where contractors violate or breach contract terms, and provide for such 
sanctions and penalties as appropriate. 

(2) All contracts in excess of $10,000 must address termination for cause and for 
convenience by the non-Federal entity including the manner by which it will be effected 
and the basis for settlement. 

130



(3) Equal Employment Opportunity.  Except as otherwise provided under 41 C.F.R. 
part 60, all contracts that meet the definition of “federally assisted construction 
contract” in 41 C.F.R. part 60-1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided 
under 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.4(b), in accordance with Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal 
Employment Opportunity” (30 FR 12319, 12935, 3 C.F.R. part 1964-1965 Comp., 
p. 339), as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, “Amending Executive Order 
No. 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and implementing regulations 
at 41 C.F.R. part 60, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal 
Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” 

(4) Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3148).  When required by Federal 
program legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by 
non-Federal entities must include a provision for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act 
(40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 - 3144, and 3146 – 3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor 
regulations (29 C.F.R. part 5, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 
Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction”).  In accordance with the 
statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate 
not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination made by the 
Secretary of Labor.  In addition, contractors must be required to pay wages not less than 
once a week.  The non-Federal entity must place a copy of the current prevailing wage 
determination issued by the Department of Labor in each solicitation.  The decision to 
award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the wage 
determination.  The non-Federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations 
to the Federal awarding agency.  The contracts must also include a provision for 
compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. § 3145), as 
supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. part 3, “Contractors and 
Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by 
Loans or Grants from the United States”).  The Act provides that each contractor or 
subrecipient must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in 
the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the 
compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled.  The non-Federal entity must 
report all suspected or reported violations to the Federal awarding agency. 

(5) Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3701 – 3708).  Where 
applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-Federal entity in excess of $100,000 that 
involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for 
compliance with 40 U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor 
regulations (29 C.F.R. part 5).  Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702 of the Act, each contractor must 
be required to compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a 
standard work week of 40 hours.  Work in excess of the standard work week is 
permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a 
half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work 
week.  The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and 
provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under 
working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous.  These requirements 
do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on 
the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. 

131



(6) Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement.  If the Federal award meets 
the definition of “funding agreement” under 37 C.F.R. § 401.2(a) and the recipient or 
subrecipient wishes to enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit 
organization regarding the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of 
experimental, developmental, or research work under that “funding agreement,” the 
recipient or subrecipient must comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R. part 401, 
“Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms 
Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” and any 
implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency. 

(7) Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1387), as amended—Contracts and subgrants of amounts in 
excess of $150,000 must contain a provision that requires the non-Federal award to 
agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 
the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act as amended (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1387).  Violations must be reported to the Federal 
awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA). 

(8) Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders Nos. 12549 and 12689)—A contract 
award (see 2 C.F.R. § 180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the 
governmentwide exclusions in the System for Award Management (SAM), in 
accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 C.F.R. § 180 that implement Executive 
Orders Nos. 12549 (3 C F R part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 C.F.R. part 1989 
Comp., p. 235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of 
parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties 
declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 
No. 12549. 

(9) Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. § 1352)—Contractors that apply or bid for 
an award exceeding $100,000 must file the required certification.  Each tier certifies to 
the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any 
person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee 
of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee 
of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or 
any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352.  Each tier must also disclose any 
lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any 
Federal award.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-Federal 
award. 

(10) A Recipient that is a state agency or agency of a political subdivision of a state and its 
contractors must comply with section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended 
by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.  The requirements of Section 6002 
include procuring only items designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) at 40 C.F.R. part 247 that contain the highest percentage of recovered 
materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of competition, 
where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the value of the quantity 
acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring solid waste 
management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; and 

132



establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered 
materials identified in the EPA guidelines. 

 
e. Geographic Restrictions.  The Recipient agrees that it will not use any state or local 

geographic preference, except as permitted by federal law, regulation, requirement, or 
guidance.  

 
f. In-State Bus Dealer Restrictions.  The Recipient agrees that any state law requiring buses to 

be purchased through in-state dealers will not apply to purchases of vehicles supported with 
federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, as provided in 
49 U.S.C. § 5325(i). 
 

g. Organizational Conflict of Interest.  The Recipient agrees that it will not enter into a 
procurement that involves a real or apparent organizational conflict of interest. 
 

h. Project Labor Agreements.  As a condition of third party contract award, the Recipient may 
require the Third Party Contractor or Subcontractor to have an affiliation with a labor 
organization, such as a Project Labor Agreement, consistent with Executive Order 
No. 13502, “Use of Project Labor Agreements for Federal Construction Projects,” 
February 6, 2009, 41 U.S.C. chapter 39, Refs. & Annos. 

 
i. Force Account.  The Recipient agrees that FTA may determine the extent to which federal 

assistance may be used to participate in force account costs. 
 

j. FTA Technical Review.  The Recipient agrees that FTA may review and approve the 
Recipient’s technical specifications and requirements to the extent FTA believes necessary to 
ensure proper administration of the Underlying Agreement. 

 
k. Relationship of the Award to Third Party Contract Approval.  The Recipient agrees that the 

terms of the Underlying Agreement do not, by themselves, constitute approval of any non-
competitive third party contract associated with the Award, unless FTA indicates otherwise 
in writing. 
 

l. National Intelligent Transportation Systems Architecture and Standards.  The Recipient 
agrees to conform to the National Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Architecture 
requirements of 23 U.S.C. § 517(d), unless it obtains an exemption from those requirements, 
and follow FTA Notice, “FTA National ITS Architecture Policy on Transit Projects,” 
66 Fed. Reg. 1455, January 8, 2001, and all other applicable federal guidance. 

 
m. Rolling Stock.  The Recipient agrees that any procurement for rolling stock will comply with 

49 U.S.C. § 5325 (Contract Requirements), 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j) (Buy America 
Requirements), 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m) (Pre-Award and Post Delivery Requirements), and 49 
U.S.C. § 5318(e) (Bus Testing Requirements), and their implementing regulations.   

 
n. Bonding.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the following bonding requirements and 

restrictions as provided in federal regulations and guidance: 

133



(1) Construction.  As provided in federal regulations and modified by FTA guidance, for 
each Project or related activities implementing the Underlying Agreement that involve 
construction, it will provide bid guarantee bonds, contract performance bonds, and 
payment bonds. 

(2) Activities Not Involving Construction.  For each Project or related activities 
implementing the Underlying Agreement not involving construction, the Recipient will 
not impose excessive bonding and will follow FTA guidance. 

 
o. Architectural Engineering and Related Services.  When procuring architectural engineering 

or related services supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 
49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or provided in any other law requiring the Award to be administered 
under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, the Recipient agrees that it will comply and assures that each of 
its Subrecipients will comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5325(b).   
 

p. Design-Build Projects.  As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(d), the Recipient may use a design-
build procurement to carry out its Design-Build Project, provided that it complies with 
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and follows federal guidance. 
 

q. Award to Other than the Lowest Bidder.  As permitted under 49 U.S.C. § 5325(c), the 
Recipient may award a third party contract to other than the lowest bidder, if that award 
furthers an objective (for example, improved long-term operating efficiency and lower long-
term costs) consistent with the purposes of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and any implementing 
federal regulations, requirements, or guidance that FTA may issue. 

 
r. Award to Responsible Third Party Contractors.  The Recipient agrees that it will award third 

party contracts only to contractors able to carry out the procurement successfully, as provided 
in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(j), and before awarding a third party contract, it will consider the 
proposed contractor’s integrity, compliance with public policy,  past performance, and 
financial and technical resources. 
 

s. Access to Third Party Contract Records.  The Recipient agrees to require, and assures that 
each of its Subrecipients will require, its Third Party Contractors at each tier to provide: 
(1) The U.S. Secretary of Transportation and the Comptroller General of the United States, 

the state, or their duly authorized representatives, access to all third party contract 
records (at any tier) as required under 49 U.S.C. § 5325(g), and  

(2) Sufficient access to all third party contract records (at any tier) as needed for 
compliance with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements or to assure 
proper management of Underlying Agreement as determined by FTA. 

 
t. Electronic and Information Technology.  The Recipient agrees that reports or information it 

provides to or on behalf of the Federal Government will use electronic or information 
technology that complies with the accessibility requirements of Section 508 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794d, and U.S. ATBCB regulations, 
“Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility Standards,” 36 C.F.R. part 1194. 
 

134



u. Veterans Preference.  As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(k), to the extent practicable, the 
Recipient agrees and assures that each of its Subrecipients: 
(1) Will give a hiring preference to veterans, as defined in 5 U.S.C. § 2108, who have the 

skills and abilities required to perform construction work required under a third party 
contract in connection with a Capital Project supported with federal assistance 
appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, and  

(2) Will not require an employer to give a preference to any veteran over any equally 
qualified applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority, female, an 
individual with a disability, or a former employee.  

 
v. Acquisition by Lease.  The Recipient agrees that if it intends to acquire Project property 

through a lease it will comply, as applicable, with 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and section 3019 of 
the FAST Act, and FTA regulations, “Capital Leases,” 49 C.F.R. part 639 to the extent those 
regulations are consistent with federal laws. 

 
Section 17.  Patent Rights.   
 
a. General.  The Recipient agrees that: 

(1) Depending on the nature of the Underlying Agreement, the Federal Government may 
acquire patent rights when the Recipient or Third Party Participant produces a patented 
or patentable invention, improvement, or discovery, 

(2) The Federal Government’s rights arise when the patent or patentable information is 
conceived or reduced to practice with federal assistance provided through the 
Underlying Agreement, or 

(3) When a patent is issued or patented information becomes available as described in the 
preceding section 17.a(2) of this Master Agreement, the Recipient will notify FTA 
immediately, and provide a detailed report satisfactory to FTA. 

 
b. Federal Rights.  The Recipient agrees that: 

(1) Its rights and responsibilities, and each Third Party Participant’s rights and 
responsibilities, in that federally assisted invention, improvement, or discovery will be 
determined as provided in applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and 
guidance, including any waiver thereof, and  

(2) Unless the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, irrespective of its 
status or the status of any Third Party Participant as a large business, small business, 
state government, state instrumentality, local government, Indian tribe, nonprofit 
organization, institution of higher education, or individual, the Recipient will transmit 
the Federal Government’s patent rights to FTA, as specified in 35 U.S.C. § 200 et seq., 
and U.S. Department of Commerce regulations, “Rights to Inventions Made by 
Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, 
Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” 37 C.F.R. part 401. 

 
c. License Fees and Royalties.  Consistent with the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules, the 

Recipient agrees that license fees and royalties for patents, patent applications, and 
inventions produced with federal assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement are 
program income, and must be used in compliance with applicable federal requirements.  

135



 
Section 18.  Rights in Data and Copyrights.   
 
a. Definition of “Subject Data.”  As used in this section, “subject data” means recorded 

information whether or not copyrighted, and that is delivered or specified to be delivered as 
required by the Underlying Agreement.  Examples of “subject data” include, but are not 
limited to computer software, standards, specifications, engineering drawings and associated 
lists, process sheets, manuals, technical reports, catalog item identifications, and related 
information, but do not include financial reports, cost analyses, or other similar information 
used for performance or administration of the Underlying Agreement. 
 

b. General Federal Restrictions.  The following restrictions apply to all subject data first 
produced in the performance of the Underlying Agreement: 
(1) Prohibitions.  The Recipient may not publish or reproduce any subject data, in whole, in 

part, or in any manner or form, or permit others to do so. 
(2) Exceptions.  The prohibitions do not apply to publications or reproductions for the 

Recipient’s own internal use, an institution of higher learning, the portion of subject 
data that the Federal Government has previously released or approved for release to the 
public, or the portion of data that has the Federal Government’s prior written consent 
for release. 

 
c. Federal Rights in Data and Copyrights.  The Recipient agrees that: 

(1) General.  It must provide a license to its “subject data” to the Federal Government that 
is royalty-free, non-exclusive, and irrevocable.  The Federal Government’s license must 
permit the Federal Government to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use the subject data 
or permit other entities or individuals to use the subject data provided those actions are 
taken for Federal Government purposes, and 

(2) U.S. DOT Public Access Plan – Copyright License.  The Recipient grants to U.S. DOT 
a worldwide, non-exclusive, non-transferable, paid-up, royalty-free copyright license, 
including all rights under copyright, to any and all Publications and Digital Data Sets as 
such terms are defined in the U.S. DOT Public Access plan, resulting from scientific 
research funded either fully or partially by this funding agreement.  The Recipient 
herein acknowledges that the above copyright license grant is first in time to any and all 
other grants of a copyright license to such Publications and/or Digital Data Sets, and 
that U.S. DOT shall have priority over any other claim of exclusive copyright to the 
same.  

 
d. Special Federal Rights in Data for Research, Development, Demonstration, Deployment, 

Technical Assistance, and Special Studies Programs.  In general, FTA’s purpose in providing 
federal assistance for a research, development, demonstration, deployment, technical 
assistance, or special studies program is to increase transportation knowledge, rather than 
limit the benefits of the Award to the Recipient and its Third Party Participants.  Therefore, 
the Recipient agrees that: 
(1) Publicly Available Report.  When an Award providing federal assistance for any of the 

programs described above is completed, it must provide a report of the Underlying 
Agreement that FTA may publish or make available for publication on the Internet.  

136



(2) Other Reports.  It must provide other reports related to the Award that FTA may 
request.  

(3) Availability of Subject Data.  FTA may make available its copyright license to the 
subject data, and a copy of the subject data to any FTA Recipient or any Third Party 
Participant at any tier, except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in 
writing.   

(4) Identification of Information.  It must identify clearly any specific confidential, 
privileged, or proprietary information submitted to FTA. 

(5) Incomplete.  If the Award is not completed for any reason whatsoever, all data 
developed with federal assistance for the Award becomes “subject data” and must be 
delivered as the Federal Government may direct. 

(6) Exception.  This section does not apply to an adaptation of any automatic data 
processing equipment or program that is both for the Recipient’s use, and acquired with 
FTA capital program assistance. 

 
e. License Fees and Royalties.  Consistent with the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules, the 

Recipient agrees that license fees and royalties for patents, patent applications, and 
inventions produced with federal assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement are 
program income, and must be used in compliance with federal applicable requirements. 
 

f. Hold Harmless.  Upon request by the Federal Government, the Recipient agrees that if it 
intentionally violates any proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, and if its 
violation under the preceding section occurs from any of the publication, translation, 
reproduction, delivery, use or disposition of subject data, then it will indemnify, save, and 
hold harmless against any liability, including costs and expenses of the Federal 
Government’s officers, employees, and agents acting within the scope of their official duties.  
The Recipient will not be required to indemnify the Federal Government for any liability 
described in the preceding sentence, if the violation is caused by the wrongful acts of federal 
officers, employees or agents, or if indemnification is prohibited or limited by applicable 
state law. 

 
g. Restrictions on Access to Patent Rights.  Nothing in this section of this Master Agreement 

pertaining to rights in data either implies a license to the Federal Government under any 
patent, or may be construed to affect the scope of any license or other right otherwise granted 
to the Federal Government under any patent. 

 
h. Data Developed Without Federal Assistance or Support.  The Recipient agrees that in certain 

circumstances it may need to provide to FTA data developed without any federal assistance 
or support.  Nevertheless, this section generally does not apply to data developed without 
federal assistance, even though that data may have been used in connection with the Award.  
The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government will not be able to protect data developed 
without federal assistance from unauthorized disclosure unless that data is clearly marked 
“Proprietary,” or “Confidential.”  
 

137



i. Requirements to Release Data.  The Recipient understands and agrees that the Federal 
Government may be required to release data and information the Recipient submits to the 
Federal Government as required under: 
(1) The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, 
(2) The U.S. DOT Common Rules,  
(3) U.S. DOT Public Access Plan, which provides that the Recipient agrees to satisfy the 

reporting and compliance requirements as set forth in the U.S. DOT Public Access plan, 
including, but not limited to, the submission and approval of a Data Management Plan, 
the use of Open Researcher and Contributor ID (ORCID) numbers, the creation and 
maintenance of a Research Project record in the Transportation Research Board’s 
(TRB) Research in Progress (RiP) database, and the timely and complete submission of 
all required publications and associated digital data sets as such terms are defined in the 
DOT Public Access plan.  Additional information about how to comply with the 
requirements can be found at: http://ntl.bts.gov/publicaccess/howtocomply.html, or 

(4) Other federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance concerning access to 
records pertaining to the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto. 

 
Section 19.  Use of Real Property, Equipment, and Supplies.   
 
a. Federal Interest.  The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government retains a federal interest 

in all real property, equipment, and supplies acquired or improved for use in connection with 
a Project (Project property) until, and to the extent that, the Federal Government removes its 
federal interest. 
 

b. FTA Requirements and Guidance for Use of Project Property.  The Recipient agrees that:  
(1) Satisfactory Continuing Control.  It will maintain continuing control of the use of its 

Project property as satisfactory to FTA, which is defined as the legal assurance that 
Project property will remain available to be used for its originally authorized purpose 
throughout its useful life or until disposition. 

(2) Appropriate Use.  It will use its Project property for appropriate purposes (including 
joint development purposes as well as uses that provide program income to support 
public transportation) for the duration of the useful life of its Project property, which 
may extend beyond the duration of the Award, and consistent with other requirements 
FTA may impose. 

(3) Delay or Failure to Use Project Property.  The Federal Government may require it to 
return the entire amount of federal assistance spent on its Project property if, during the 
useful life of its Project property, it has unreasonably delayed using its Project property, 
or failed to use its Project property. 

(4) Notification.  It will notify FTA immediately when it uses any of its Project property in 
a manner substantially different from the representations in its Application or other 
documents submitted in support of the Award, or the requirements of the accompanying 
Underlying Agreement, or it withdraws any of its Project property from appropriate use. 

(5) FTA Guidance.  It will consult FTA guidance through its circulars or other written 
documents for ways in which FTA property requirements should be implemented.  FTA 
guidance will apply unless FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

138

http://ntl.bts.gov/publicaccess/howtocomply.html


 
c. General Federal Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the applicable 

U.S. DOT property management provisions contained in the U.S. DOT Common Rules and 
this Master Agreement.  The Recipient also agrees that it will follow FTA’s reimbursement 
provisions pertaining to premature dispositions of certain equipment, as provided in this 
Master Agreement and FTA guidance. 
 

d. Maintenance.  As provided in federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and as provided in 
federal guidance, the Recipient agrees to maintain its Project property in good operating 
order, and comply with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management; National Transit 
Database,” 49 C.F.R. parts 625 and 630. 
 

e. Property Records.  The Recipient agrees that it will keep satisfactory records of its use of its 
project property, and, upon request, it will provide FTA the necessary information required to 
assure compliance with this Master Agreement. 

 
f. Incidental Use.   

(1) The Recipient agrees that any incidental use of Project property will not exceed what is 
permitted under applicable federal requirements and federal guidance. 

(2) As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5323(p), it may permit nontransit public entities and private 
entities to have incidental use of its federally assisted alternative fueling facilities and 
equipment, only if: 
(a) The incidental use does not interfere with public transportation operations or 

violate the provisions of the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto,  
(b) It fully recaptures all the costs related to the incidental use from any nontransit 

public entity or private entity that uses the alternative fueling facilities or 
equipment, 

(c) It uses revenues it receives from the incidental use in excess of costs for planning, 
capital, and operating expenses that are incurred in providing public transportation, 
and 

(d) Private entities pay all applicable excise taxes on fuel. 
 

g. Reasonable Access for Private Intercity or Charter Transportation Operators.  The Recipient 
agrees that it must comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(r), and may not deny reasonable access for 
a private intercity or charter transportation operator to federally funded public transportation 
facilities, including intermodal facilities, park and ride lots, and bus-only highway lanes.  In 
determining reasonable access, capacity requirements of the Recipient of assistance and the 
extent to which access would be detrimental to existing public transportation services must 
be considered. 
 

h. Encumbrance of Project Property.  Absent the express consent of the Federal Government in 
writing, the Recipient agrees to preserve the federal interest in its Project property, and to 
maintain satisfactory continuing control of its Project property as follows: 
(1) Written Transactions.  The Recipient agrees that it will not execute any documents that 

would either adversely affect the federal interest in or impair its continuing control of 
the use of its Project property including, but not limited to, lease, transfer of title, lien, 

139



pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, third party contract, subagreement, grant anticipation 
note, alienation, innovative finance arrangements, such as a cross-border or leveraged 
lease, or other types of innovative financing arrangements, or any restriction, constraint, 
or commitment that may apply to the Project property.  Upon request, the Recipient will 
provide a copy of any document described above to FTA. 

(2) Oral Transactions.  The Recipient agrees it will not obligate itself in any way through an 
oral statement to any third party with respect to its Project property that would either 
adversely affect the federal interest in or impair its continuing control of the use of its 
Project property. 

(3) Other Actions.  The Recipient agrees that it will not take any other action that would 
either adversely affect the federal interest in or impair its continuing control of the use 
of its Project property. 

 
i. Useful Life of Project Property.  The Recipient agrees that: 

(1) Determining the Useful Life.  FTA may establish the useful life of Project property,  
(2) Required Use.  It will use its Project property continuously and appropriately 

throughout the useful life of that property, 
(3) Expired Useful Life.  When the useful life of its Project property has expired, it will 

comply with FTA’s disposition requirements, and 
(4) Premature Withdrawal.  The Federal Government retains a federal interest in the fair 

market value of Project property or remaining useful life in Project property calculated 
on the basis of straight line depreciation (including Project equipment acquired by a 
state).  Therefore, if the Recipient withdraws that property from public transportation 
use prematurely, it will notify FTA immediately when any of its Project property is 
prematurely withdrawn from appropriate use, whether by planned withdrawal, misuse, 
or casualty loss. 
(a) Amount of Federal Interest.  The federal interest in the Recipient’s or any of its 

Subrecipients’ Project property will be determined on the basis of the ratio of the 
federal assistance provided for that property to the actual cost of that property. 

(b) Financial Commitments to the Federal Government.  Except as otherwise 
approved in writing by the Federal Government, the Recipient agrees that if its 
Project property is prematurely withdrawn from appropriate use: 
1 It will return an amount equal to the remaining federal interest in the 

withdrawn property to the Federal Government, or 
2 With FTA approval, it will invest an amount equal to the remaining federal 

interest in the withdrawn property in other transit property eligible for federal 
assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement. 

 
j. Calculating the Value of Prematurely Withdrawn Project Property.  The Recipient agrees that 

the fair market value of Project property prematurely withdrawn from use in support of the 
Award (including the fair market value of project equipment acquired or improved by a state) 
will be calculated as follows: 
(1) Equipment and Supplies.  The fair market value of project equipment or supplies will be 

calculated by straight-line depreciation, based on the useful life of that equipment or 
supplies as established or approved by FTA.  The fair market value of the Project 
equipment and supplies withdrawn from proper use will be based on the value of that 

140



property immediately before it was withdrawn from appropriate use irrespective of 
whether the Project property was withdrawn from use due to fire, casualty, or natural 
disaster, and irrespective of the extent of insurance coverage.  

(2) Real Property.  The Recipient agrees that the fair market value of Project real property 
shall be determined by: 
(a) Competent appraisal based on an appropriate date as approved by FTA, consistent 

with U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 
Acquisition for Federal and Federally-Assisted Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 24,  

(b) Straight line depreciation of improvements to the Project real property coupled 
with the value of the land determined by FTA on the basis of appraisal, or  

(c) Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements. 
(3) Exceptional Circumstances.  The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government may 

require another method of valuation to be used to determine the fair market value of 
Project real property withdrawn from service.  In unusual circumstances, the Recipient 
may request permission to use another reasonable valuation method including, but not 
limited to accelerated depreciation, comparable sales, or established market values. 

 
k. Insurance Proceeds.  The Recipient agrees to use any insurance proceeds it receives for 

Project property that has been damaged or destroyed (including insurance proceeds for 
Project equipment acquired or improved by a state) as follows: 
(1) Replacement.  It may apply those insurance proceeds to the cost of replacing that 

damaged or destroyed property,  
(2) Another Purpose.  It may use those insurance proceeds for another authorized purpose, 

provided that it has obtained FTA’s consent in writing, or  
(3) Return to the Federal Government.  It may return to the Federal Government an amount 

equal to the amount of the remaining federal interest in that property that has been 
damaged or destroyed. 

 
l. Misused or Damaged Project Property.  If any damage to Project property results from abuse 

or misuse occurring with the Recipient’s knowledge and consent, the Recipient agrees to 
restore the Project property that has been damaged to its original condition, or refund the 
value of the federal interest in its Project property (including the remaining federal interest in 
Project equipment acquired by a state), as the Federal Government may require. 

 
m. Disposition of Project Property.  The Recipient agrees that disposition of its Project property 

may be made as provided in FTA’s enabling legislation, 49 U.S.C. § 5334(h), U.S. DOT 
Common Rules, and the most recent edition of FTA Circular 5010.1, to the extent consistent 
with applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance.  The Recipient 
understands and agrees that under certain circumstances, the Recipient must obtain 
disposition instructions from FTA before disposing of Project property, including real 
property, equipment including rolling stock, and supplies. 

 
n. Responsibilities After Closeout.  The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award will not 

change the Recipient’s property management responsibilities for its Project property as 
provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance effective now or at a later 
date, and this section of the Master Agreement. 

141



 
Section 20.  Transit Asset Management.   
 
a. Transit Asset Management Plan.  The Recipient agrees to develop a Transit Asset 

Management Plan that complies with federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5326 and 
5337(a)(4), FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management; National Transit Database,” 
49 C.F.R. parts 625 and 630, and other applicable federal laws, regulations, and 
requirements. 

 
b. When Compliance is Required.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that each Third Party 

Participant will comply with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management; National Transit 
Database,” 49 C.F.R. parts 625 and 630, and follow applicable federal guidance. 

 
Section 21.  Insurance.   
 
a. Flood Insurance.  The Recipient agrees and assures that its third party participants will agree 

to comply with flood insurance laws and guidance as follows: 
(1) It will have flood insurance as required by the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, 

42 U.S.C. § 4012a(a), for any building located in a special flood hazard area (100-year 
flood zone), before accessing federal assistance to acquire, construct, reconstruct, 
repair, or improve that building. 

(2) Each such building and its contents will be covered by flood insurance in an amount at 
least equal to the federal investment (less estimated land cost) or to the maximum limit 
of coverage made available with respect to the particular type of property under the 
National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. § 4001 et seq., whichever is less.  

(3) It will follow FTA guidance, except to the extent FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 

b. Other Insurance Requirements.  It will comply with the insurance requirements normally 
imposed by its state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. 

 
Section 22.  Relocation and Real Property.   
 
a. Relocation Protections.  Irrespective of whether federal assistance is used to pay relocation 

costs required under federal laws, regulations, or requirements, the Recipient agrees that it 
will:  
(1) Provide fair and equitable treatment to displaced individuals and businesses that must 

be relocated as a result of any Project for which the FTA has provided federal 
assistance, and 

(2) Comply with federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(b), which requires 
compliance with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition 
Policies Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, 
“Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition for Federal and 
Federally-Assisted Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 24. 

 
b. Nondiscrimination in Housing.  The Recipient agrees that when it must provide housing for 

individuals as a result of relocation, it will comply with Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act 

142



of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq., and facilitate and follow Executive Order 
No. 12892, “Leadership and Coordination of Fair Housing in Federal Programs: 
Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing,” January 17, 1994, 42 U.S.C. § 3608 note, except as 
the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing. 
 

c. Prohibition Against the Use of Lead-Based Paint.  The Recipient agrees that if it constructs 
or rehabilitates residential structures on behalf of individuals displaced by its any Project, it 
will not use lead-based paint, and it will comply with Section 401(b) of the Lead-Based Paint 
Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 U.S.C. § 4831(b), and U.S. Housing and Urban Development 
regulations, “Lead-based Paint Poisoning Prevention in Certain Residential Structures,” 
24 C.F.R. part 35. 

 
d. Real Property Acquisition Protections.  Irrespective of whether federal assistance is used to 

pay real property acquisition costs required to implement the Award, the Recipient agrees 
that it will provide fair and equitable treatment to owners of real property or interests in real 
property that must be acquired as a result of any Project, and comply with federal transit 
laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(b), which requires compliance with the Uniform 
Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, 
42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Relocation Assistance and 
Real Property Acquisition for Federal and Federally-Assisted Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 24. 

 
e. Covenant Against Discrimination.  The Recipient agrees to include a covenant in the title of 

the real property acquired for use in any Project that assures nondiscrimination during the 
useful life of that real property. 

 
f. Recording the Title to Real Property.  The Recipient agrees to record the federal interest in 

the title to real property used in connection with any Project if FTA so requires. 
 

g. FTA Approval of Changes in Real Property Ownership.  Unless it receives permission or 
instructions from FTA, the Recipient agrees that it will not dispose of, modify the use of, or 
change the title to real property used in any Project, or any other interests in the site and 
facilities used in any Project. 

 
Section 23.  Construction.   
 
a. Construction Plans and Specifications.  The Recipient agrees to comply with all applicable 

statutes, regulations, and requirements, and follow FTA guidance in the development and 
implementation of construction plans and specifications, including drafting, review, and 
approval, for the Award.  

 
b. Seismic Safety.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the Earthquake Hazards Reduction Act 

of 1977, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7701 et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Seismic Safety,” 
49 C.F.R. part 41, specifically, 49 C.F.R. § 41.117. 
 

143



c. Supervision of Construction.  The Recipient agrees to maintain competent and adequate 
engineering supervision at the construction site of any Project to ensure that the completed 
work conforms to the approved plans and specifications. 

 
d. Construction Reports.  For any Project or related activities involving construction, the 

Recipient agrees to provide progress reports and other relevant information or data, as 
required by FTA or the state in which construction takes place. 

 
e. Major Capital Investment Projects.  If the Recipient’s Project involves a Major Federal 

Project, it agrees to comply with all applicable federal regulations, including FTA 
regulations, “Major Capital Investment Projects,”49 C.F.R. part 611, and “Project 
Management Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 633, to the extent that they are consistent with 
applicable FTA enabling legislation, and follow all applicable federal guidance. 

 
Section 24.  Employee Protections.   
 
a. Awards Involving Construction.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that each Third 

Party Participant will comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements providing 
protections for construction employees involved in each Project or related activities with 
federal assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement, including the: 
(1) Prevailing Wage Requirements of:  

(a) Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5333(a), (FTA’s “Davis-Bacon 
Related Act”), 

(b) The Davis-Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3144, 3146, and 3147, and  
(c) U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor Standards 
Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction Contracts Subject to the Contract Work 
Hours and Safety Standards Act),” 29 C.F.R. part 5. 

(2) Wage and Hour Requirements of:  
(a) Section 102 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended, 

40 U.S.C. § 3702, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq., an  
(b) U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor Standards 
Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction Contracts Subject to the Contract Work 
Hours and Safety Standards Act),” 29 C.F.R. part 5. 

(3) “Anti-Kickback” Prohibitions of: 
(a) Section 1 of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act, as amended, 18 U.S.C. § 874,  
(b) Section 2 of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act, as amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, 

and 
(c) U.S. DOL regulations, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or 

Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United 
States,” 29 C.F.R. part 3. 

(4) Construction Site Safety of: 
(a) Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended, 

40 U.S.C. § 3704, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq., 
and 

144



(b) U.S. DOL regulations, “Recording and Reporting Occupational Injuries and 
Illnesses,” 29 C.F.R. part 1904; “Occupational Safety and Health Standards,” 
29 C.F.R. part 1910; and “Safety and Health Regulations for Construction,” 
29 C.F.R. part 1926. 

 
b. Awards Not Involving Construction.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that each 

Third Party Participant will comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements 
providing wage and hour protections for nonconstruction employees, including Section 102 
of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3702, and 
other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq., and U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor 
Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted 
Construction (also Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction Contracts 
Subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act),” 29 C.F.R. part 5. 
 

c. Awards Involving Commerce.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that each Third 
Party Participant will comply with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. § 201 
et seq. to the extent that the FLSA applies to employees performing work with federal 
assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement involving commerce, and as the 
Federal Government otherwise determines applicable. 
 

d. Public Transportation Employee Protective Arrangements.  As a condition of award of 
federal assistance appropriated or made available for FTA programs involving public 
transportation operations, the Recipient agrees to comply and assures that each Third Party 
Participant will comply with the following employee protective arrangements of 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5333(b): 
(1) U.S. DOL Certification.  When its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, or 

any Amendments thereto involve public transportation operations and are supported 
with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307 – 5312, 
5316, 5318, 5323(a)(1), 5323(b), 5323(d), 5328, 5337, 5338(b), or 5339, or former 
49 U.S.C. §§ 5308, 5309, 5312, or other provisions of law as required by the Federal 
Government, U.S. DOL must provide a certification of employee protective 
arrangements before FTA may provide federal assistance for that Award.  The 
Recipient agrees that the certification issued by U.S. DOL is a condition of the 
Underlying Agreement and that the Recipient must comply with its terms and 
conditions.  

(2) Special Warranty.  When its Underlying Agreement involves public transportation 
operations and is supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 
49 U.S.C. § 5311, U.S. DOL will provide a Special Warranty for its Award, including 
its Award of federal assistance under the Tribal Transit Program.  The Recipient agrees 
that its U.S. DOL Special Warranty is a condition of the Underlying Agreement and the 
Recipient must comply with its terms and conditions.  

(3) Special Arrangements for Underlying Agreements for Federal Assistance Authorized 
under 49 U.S.C. § 5310.  The Recipient agrees, and assures that any Third Party 
Participant providing public transportation operations will agree, that although pursuant 
to 49 U.S.C. § 5310, and former 49 U.S.C. §§ 5310 or 5317, FTA has determined that it 
was not “necessary or appropriate” to apply the conditions of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) to 

145



any Subrecipient participating in the program to provide public transportation for 
seniors (elderly individuals) and individuals with disabilities, FTA reserves the right to 
make case-by-case determinations of the applicability of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) for all 
transfers of funding authorized under title 23, United States Code (flex funds), and 
make other exceptions as it deems appropriate. 

 
Section 25.  Early Systems Work Agreement. 
 
a. Statutory Requirements.  If FTA enters into an Early System Work Agreement (ESWA) with 

the Recipient to advance the implementation of the Recipient’s Capital Project, the Recipient 
agrees that provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5309(k)(3) will apply to that ESWA, the Recipient, and 
FTA. 

 
b. ESWA Provisions.  Except to the extent that the Federal Government determines otherwise 

in writing, the Recipient understands and agrees that the following provisions apply to its 
ESWA, unless the ESWA contains specific requirements to the contrary: 
(1) Recipient Representations.  In view of the standards and commitments imposed on the 

Recipient by 49 U.S.C. § 5309(k)(3), the Recipient has provided sufficient 
representations and information to FTA so that FTA has reason to believe the 
following: 
(a) FTA and the Recipient will enter into a Full Funding Grant Agreement for the 

Project, and 
(b) The terms of the ESWA will promote the ultimate completion of the Project more 

rapidly and at less cost.  
(2) FTA Commitments.  By entering into an ESWA with the Recipient, FTA has agreed to 

provide for reimbursement of the preliminary costs of carrying out the Project, 
including:  
(a) Land acquisition, 
(b) Timely procurement of system elements for which the specifications are decided, 

and  
(c) Other activities that FTA decides are appropriate to make efficient, long-term 

Project management easier. 
(3) Time Period of the ESWA.  FTA reserves the right to determine the period of time in 

which the ESWA will remain in effect, even if that period extends beyond the time of 
the authorization of federal funding that will support the Project costs covered by the 
ESWA. 

(4) Interest and Other Financing Costs.  Interest and other financing costs of carrying out 
the ESWA efficiently and within a reasonable time are eligible ESWA costs, provided 
that: 
(a) The interest and financing costs claimed do not exceed the cost of the most 

favorable financing terms reasonably available for the Project at the time of 
borrowing, 

(b) The Recipient has certified that it will show reasonable diligence in seeking the 
most favorable financing terms, and 

(c) The Recipient is able to show reasonable diligence in seeking the most favorable 
financing terms to support this ESWA. 

146



(5) Contingent Commitment.  In providing funding for the ESWA: 
(a) In its discretion, FTA may include a commitment, contingent on amounts made 

available under a later-enacted law, to obligate an additional amount from future 
available budget authority to support the costs of the Recipient’s ESWA, and 

(b) If FTA does make a commitment to provide funding contingent on future amounts 
to be specified in law, that commitment is not an obligation of the Federal 
Government. 

(6) Failure to Carry Out the Project.  If, for reasons within its control, the Recipient does 
not carry out the Project for which its ESWA was made available by FTA, the Recipient 
must: 
(a) Repay all Federal Grant funds awarded under the ESWA from all Federal funding 

sources for all Project activities, facilities, and equipment, and 
(b) Pay reasonable interest and penalty charges: 

1 As established by FTA before or after FTA provided funding for the ESWA, or 
2 Allowable under law. 

 
Section 26.  Environmental Protections.   
 
a. General.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants will, comply 

with all applicable environmental and resource use laws, regulations, and requirements, and 
follow applicable guidance, now in effect or that may become effective in the future, 
including state and local laws, ordinances, regulations, and requirements and follow 
applicable guidance.  
 

b. National Environmental Policy Act.  An Award of federal assistance requires the full 
compliance with applicable environmental laws, regulations, and requirements.  Accordingly, 
the Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants will: 
(1) Comply and facilitate compliance with federal laws, regulations, and requirements, 

including, but not limited to: 
(a) Federal transit laws, such as 49 U.S.C. § 5323(c)(2), and 23 U.S.C. § 139, 
(b) The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. 

§§ 4321 et seq., as limited by 42 U.S.C. § 5159, and CEQ’s implementing 
regulations 40 C.F.R. part 1500 – 1508, 

(c) Joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Environmental Impact and Related 
Procedures,” 23 C.F.R. part 771 and 49 C.F.R. part 622,  

(d) Executive Order No. 11514, as amended, “Protection and Enhancement of 
Environmental Quality,” March 5, 1970, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 note, and 

(e) Other federal environmental protection laws, regulations, and requirements 
applicable to the Recipient or the Award, the accompanying Underlying 
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto. 

(2) Follow the federal guidance identified herein to the extent that the guidance is 
consistent with applicable authorizing legislation: 
(a) Joint FHWA and FTA final guidance, “Interim Guidance on MAP-21 

Section 1319, Accelerated Decisionmaking in Environmental Reviews,” 
January 14, 2013, 

147



(b) Joint FHWA and FTA final guidance, “SAFETEA-LU Environmental Review 
Process (Pub. L. 109-59),” 71 Fed. Reg. 66576, November 15, 2006, and 

(c) Other federal environmental guidance applicable to the Recipient or the Award, 
the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto. 

 
c. Environmental Justice.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants 

will, promote environmental justice by following: 
(1) Executive Order No. 12898, “Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 

Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations,” February 11, 1994, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 4321 note, as well as facilitating compliance with that Executive Order,  

(2) U.S. DOT Order 5610.2, “Department of Transportation Actions To Address 
Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations,” 
62 Fed. Reg. 18377, April 15, 1997, and 

(3) The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4703.1, “Environmental Justice Policy 
Guidance for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” August 15, 2012, to the extent 
consistent with applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance. 

 
d. Other Environmental Federal Laws.  The Recipient agrees to comply or facilitate compliance 

and assures that its Third Party Participants will comply or facilitate compliance with all 
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and will follow applicable guidance, 
including, but not limited to, the Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act, Wild and Scenic Rivers 
Act of 1968, Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, the Endangered Species Act of 1973, 
Magnuson Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act, Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, 
Executive Order No. 11990 relating to “Protection of Wetlands,” and Executive Order 
Nos. 11988 and 13690 relating to “Floodplain Management.” 

 
e. Corridor Preservation.  The Recipient agrees that: 

(1) It will not develop any right-of-way acquired under 49 U.S.C. § 5323(q) in anticipation 
of implementing its Award until all required environmental reviews for each Project or 
related activities have been completed, and  

(2) It will follow FTA Final Guidance on the Application of 49 U.S.C § 5323(q) to 
Corridor Preservation for a Transit Project, October 17, 2014. 

 
f. Use of Certain Public Lands.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third Party 

Participants will comply with U.S. DOT laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 303 (often referred to 
as “section 4(f)), and joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Parks, Recreation Areas, Wildlife 
and Waterfowl Refuges, and Historic Sites,” 23 C.F.R. part 774, and referenced in 49 C.F.R. 
part 622. 

 
g. Historic Preservation.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants 

will: 
(1) Comply with U.S. DOT laws, including 49 U.S.C. § 303 (often referred to as 

“section 4(f)”), which requires certain findings be made before an Award may be 
undertaken if it involves the use of any land from a historic site that is on or eligible for 
inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places. 

148



(2) Encourage compliance with the federal historic and archaeological preservation 
requirements of section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, 
54 U.S.C. § 306108. 

(3) Comply with the Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, as amended, 
54 U.S.C. § 312501 et seq. 

(4) Comply with U.S. Advisory Council on Historic Preservation regulations, “Protection 
of Historic Properties,” 36 C.F.R. part 800. 

(5) Comply with federal requirements and follow federal guidance to avoid or mitigate 
adverse effects on historic properties. 

 
h. Indian Sacred Sites.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants 

will facilitate compliance with federal efforts to promote the preservation of places and 
objects of religious importance to American Indians, Eskimos, Aleuts, and Native Hawaiians, 
and facilitate compliance with the American Indian Religious Freedom Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1996, and Executive Order No. 13007, “Indian Sacred Sites,” May 24, 1996, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 3161 note. 
 

i. Mitigation of Adverse Environmental Effects.   
(1) The Recipient agrees that it will comply with all environmental mitigation measures 

that may be identified as conditions that the Federal Government might impose in 
finding of no significant impact or record of decision or commitments in the 
environmental documents that apply to the Award, such as environmental assessments, 
environmental impact statements, categorical exclusions, memoranda of agreement, 
documents required under 49 U.S.C. § 303, and other environmental documents.  

(2) The Recipient agrees that: 
(a) Any mitigation measures agreed on will be incorporated by reference and made 

part of the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto, 
(b) Any deferred mitigation measures will be incorporated by reference and made part 

of the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto as soon as agreement 
with the Federal Government is reached, and  

(c) Any mitigation measures agreed on will not be modified or withdrawn without the 
written approval of the Federal Government. 

 
j. Energy Conservation.  The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Subrecipients, if any, will 

comply with the mandatory energy standards and policies of its state energy conservation 
plans under the Energy Policy and Conservation Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6321 et seq., 
and perform an energy assessment for any building constructed, reconstructed, or modified 
with federal assistance required under FTA regulations, “Requirements for Energy 
Assessments,” 49 C.F.R. part 622, subpart C. 

 
Section 27.  State Management and Monitoring Systems.   
 
The Recipient agrees to comply with joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Management and 
Monitoring Systems,” 23 C.F.R. part 500, and FTA regulations, “Transportation Infrastructure 
Management,” 49 C.F.R. part 614. 
 

149



Section 28.  Charter Service.   
 
a. Prohibitions.  The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant involved in 

the Award will engage in charter service, except as permitted under federal transit laws, 
specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d), (g), and (r), FTA regulations, “Charter Service,” 49 C.F.R. 
part 604, any other Federal Charter Service regulations, federal requirements, or federal 
guidance. 
 

b. Exceptions.  Apart from exceptions to the Charter Service restrictions in FTA’s Charter 
Service regulations, FTA has established the following additional exceptions to those 
restrictions: 
(1) FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to equipment or facilities supported 

with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. § 5307 to support a 
Job Access and Reverse Commute (JARC)-type Project or related activities that would 
have been eligible for assistance under repealed 49 U.S.C. § 5316 in effect in Fiscal 
Year 2012 or a previous fiscal year, provided that the Recipient uses that federal 
assistance for FTA program purposes only, and 

(2) FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to equipment or facilities supported 
with the federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. § 5310 to 
support a New Freedom-type Project or related activities that would have been eligible 
for federal assistance under repealed 49 U.S.C. § 5317 in effect in Fiscal Year 2012 or a 
previous fiscal year, provided the Recipient uses that federal assistance for program 
purposes only. 

 
c. Violations.  If it or any Third Party Participant engages in a pattern of violations of FTA’s 

Charter Service regulations, FTA may require corrective measures and remedies, including 
withholding an amount of federal assistance as provided in FTA’s Charter Service 
regulations, 49 C.F.R. part 604, appendix D, or barring it or the Third Party Participant from 
receiving federal assistance provided in 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, 23 U.S.C. § 133, or 23 U.S.C. 
§ 142.  
 

Section 29.  School Bus Operations.   
 
a. Prohibitions.  The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant that is 

participating in its Award will engage in school bus operations exclusively for the 
transportation of students or school personnel in competition with private school bus 
operators, except as permitted by federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) or (g), FTA 
regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 49 C.F.R. part 605, and any other applicable federal 
“School Bus Operations” laws, regulations, federal requirements, or applicable federal 
guidance. 
 

b. Violations.  If a Recipient or any Third Party Participant has operated school bus service in 
violation of FTA’s School Bus laws, regulations, or requirements, FTA may require the 
Recipient or Third Party Participant to take such remedial measures as FTA considers 
appropriate, or bar the Recipient or Third Party Participant from receiving federal transit 
assistance. 

150



 
Section 30.  Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data.   
 
The Recipient agrees that each Project or related activity that implements the Award will 
conform to the Federal Geographic Data Committee’s National Spatial Data Infrastructure if the 
Project or related activity directly or indirectly involves spatial data, or geographic information 
systems, and it will follow U.S. OMB Circular A-16, “Coordination of Geographic Information 
and Related Spatial Data Activities,” August 19, 2002, and U.S. OMB Circular A-16 
Supplemental Guidance, “Geospatial Line of Business,” November 10, 2010. 
 
Section 31.  Federal “$1 Coin” Requirements.   
 
The Recipient agrees that it will comply with section 104 of the Presidential $1 Coin Act of 
2005, 31 U.S.C. § 5112(p), its equipment and facilities will be fully capable of accepting and 
dispensing $1 coins when coins or currency are required to use that equipment or those facilities, 
and it will display signs and notices of the $1 coin capability of its equipment and facilities on its 
premises, including vending machines, where coins or currency are used. 
 
Section 32.  Public Transportation Safety.   
 
a. Public Transportation Agency Safety Program.  In accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5329, the 

Recipient agrees to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and requirements and follow 
applicable guidance that implement the Public Transportation Safety Program provisions of 
49 U.S.C. § 5329(b) through (d), except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. 
 

b. State Safety Oversight of Rail Fixed Guideway Public Transportation Systems.  The 
Recipient agrees as follows: 
(1) Laws.  It will comply with section 20030(e) of MAP-21, which amended 49 U.S.C. 

§ 5329(e) to require states to revise their State Safety Oversight programs to comply 
with the new MAP-21 requirements.   

(2) Regulations.  Although FTA published FTA regulations, “State Safety Oversight,” 
49 C.F.R. part 674, effective April 15, 2016, Congress provided states with up to three 
years following April 15, 2016 to come into full compliance following publication of 
those regulations.  The Recipient agrees that depending on how far it has progressed in 
developing a State Safety Oversight program that is fully compliant with FTA 
regulations, “State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 674, the following FTA 
regulations will apply: 
(a) States With a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA 

regulations, “State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 674, will apply when its State 
Safety Oversight program is fully compliant with FTA’s requirements. 

(b) States Without a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA 
regulations, “Rail Fixed Guideway Systems; State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. 
part 659, will continue to apply to those states that have not yet implemented a 
Public Transportation Safety Program that is fully compliant with FTA’s 
requirements. 
 

151



Section 33.  Motor Carrier Safety.   
 
a. Financial Responsibility.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third Party 

Participants will comply with the economic and insurance registration requirements of the: 
(1) U.S. Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (U.S. FMCSA) regulations, 

“Minimum Levels of Financial Responsibility for Motor Carriers,” 49 C.F.R. part 387, 
if it is engaged in operations requiring compliance with 49 C.F.R. part 387, it is 
engaged in interstate commerce, and it is not within a defined commercial zone, and  

(2) The provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 31138(e)(4), which supersede inconsistent provisions of 
49 C.F.R. part 387, and also reduce the amount of insurance the Recipient must obtain 
to the highest amount required by any state in which the public transportation provider 
operates, if it operates within a public transportation service area located in more than 
one state, and receives federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5310, and 5311. 

 
b. U.S. FMCSA Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third Party 

Participants will comply with: 
(1) The safety requirements of U.S. FMCSA regulations, “Federal Motor Carrier Safety 

Regulations,” 49 C.F.R. parts 390 – 397, to the extent applicable; and 
(2) The driver’s license requirements of U.S. FMCSA regulations, “Commercial Driver’s 

License Standards, Requirements, and Penalties,” 49 C.F.R. part 383, and “State 
Compliance with Commercial Driver's License,” 49 C.F.R. part 384, to the extent 
applicable, with the substance abuse requirements and guidance of U.S. FMCSA’s 
regulations, “Drug and Alcohol Use and Testing Requirements,” 49 C.F.R. part 382, 
and implementing federal guidance, to the extent applicable. 

 
Section 34.  Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles.   
 
a. Seat Belt Use.  The Recipient agrees to implement Executive Order No. 13043, “Increasing 

Seat Belt Use in the United States,” April 16, 1997, 23 U.S.C. § 402 note, by: 
(1) Adopting and promoting on-the-job seat belt use policies and programs for its 

employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, company-rented 
vehicles, or personally operated vehicles, and  

(2) Including a “Seat Belt Use” provision in each third party agreement related to the 
Award. 

 
b. Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving.  The Recipient agrees to 

comply with: 
(1) Executive Order No. 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While 

Driving,” October 1, 2009, 23 U.S.C. § 402 note,  
(2) U.S. DOT Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving,” December 30, 2009,  
(3) The following U.S. DOT Special Provision pertaining to Distracted Driving: 

(a) Safety.  The Recipient agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to 
decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text 
messaging while using an electronic device supplied by an employer, and driving a 
vehicle the driver owns or rents, a vehicle Recipient owns, leases, or rents, or a 

152



privately-owned vehicle when on official business in connection with the Award, 
or when performing any work for or on behalf of the Award, 

(b) Recipient Size.  The Recipient agrees to conduct workplace safety initiatives in a 
manner commensurate with its size, such as establishing new rules and programs 
to prohibit text messaging while driving, re-evaluating the existing programs to 
prohibit text messaging while driving, and providing education, awareness, and 
other outreach to employees about the safety risks associated with texting while 
driving, and 

(c) Extension of Provision.  The Recipient agrees to include the preceding Special 
Provision of section 34.b(3)(a) – (b) of this Master Agreement in its third party 
agreements, and encourage its Third Party Participants to comply with this Special 
Provision, and include this Special Provision in each third party subagreement at 
each tier supported with federal assistance. 

 
Section 35.  Substance Abuse.   
 
a. Drug-Free Workplace.  The Recipient agrees to: 

(1) Comply with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, as amended, 41 U.S.C. § 8103 
et seq., 

(2) Comply with U.S. DOT regulations, “Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-Free 
Workplace (Financial Assistance),” 49 C.F.R. part 32, and  

(3) Follow and facilitate compliance with U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, 
“Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance),” 
2 C.F.R. part 182, particularly where the U.S. OMB regulatory guidance supersedes 
comparable provisions of 49 C.F.R. part 32. 

 
b. Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use.   

(1) Requirements.  The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third Party 
Participants will comply with: 
(a) Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5331,  
(b) FTA regulations, “Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use in 

Transit Operations,” 49 C.F.R. part 655, and 
(c) Applicable provisions of U.S. DOT regulations, “Procedures for Transportation 

Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 40. 
(2) Remedies for Non-Compliance.  The Recipient agrees that if FTA determines that the 

Recipient or a Third Party Participant receiving federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. 
chapter 53 is not in compliance with 49 C.F.R. part 655, the Federal Transit 
Administrator may bar that Recipient or Third Party Participant from receiving all or a 
portion of the federal transit assistance for public transportation it would otherwise 
receive. 

 
Section 36.  Protection of Sensitive Security and Other Sensitive Information.   
 
a. The Recipient agrees to comply with the following requirements for the protection of 

sensitive security information: 

153



(1) The Homeland Security Act, as amended, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 40119(b), and 
U.S. DOT regulations, “Protection of Sensitive Security Information,” 49 C.F.R. 
part 15,  

(2) The Aviation and Transportation Security Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 114(r), and 
U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Transportation Security Administration 
regulations, “Protection of Sensitive Security Information,” 49 C.F.R. part 1520, and  

(3) U.S. DOT Common Rules, which require the Recipient to implement, and to require its 
Subrecipients, if any, to implement, reasonable measures to safeguard protected 
personally identifiable information as well as any information that the FTA or pass-
through entity designates as sensitive. 

 
Section 37.  Special Notification Requirements for States.   
 
a. Types of Information.  To the extent required under federal law, the State, as the Recipient, 

agrees to provide the following information about federal assistance awarded for its State 
Program, Project, or related activities: 
(1) The Identification of FTA as the federal agency providing the federal assistance for a 

State Program or Project,  
(2) The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number of the program from which the 

federal assistance for a State Program or Project is authorized, and  
(3) The amount of federal assistance FTA has provided for a State Program or Project. 

 
b. Documents.  The State agrees to provide the information required under this provision in the 

following documents: (1) applications for federal assistance, (2) requests for proposals, or 
solicitations, (3) forms, (4) notifications, (5) press releases, and (6) other publications. 

 
Section 38.  Freedom of Information.   
 
a. Applicability.  The Recipient agrees that the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552, as amended, applies to most information submitted to FTA and U.S. DOT, whether 
electronically or in typewritten hard copy. 
 

b. Records.  The Recipient agrees that all applications and materials it submits to FTA that are 
related to its Award have or will become federal agency records, and are or will be subject to 
FOIA and to public release through individual FOIA requests, unless FTA determines that a 
valid exemption under FOIA or another statute applies. 

 
c. Confidentiality.  President Obama’s “Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments 

and Agencies on the Freedom of Information Act,” dated January 21, 2009, directs federal 
agencies to adopt a presumption that information should generally be disclosed when 
requested, and therefore the Recipient agrees that:  
(1) Unless a federal law or regulation requires that a document or other information be 

withheld, FTA does not consent to withhold information, irrespective of its format, 
merely because it is accompanied by a “routine” confidentiality statement that may 
appear on: 

154



(a) Information about the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto, 

(b) Information accompanying or supplementing the Award, the accompanying 
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or 

(c) Any other information FTA may obtain. 
(2) As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA will review 

the information and documents that are the subject of each FOIA request to determine 
the extent to which FTA must or should exercise its discretion to withhold that 
information or those documents. 

(3) Any genuinely confidential or privileged information should be marked clearly and 
specifically, and justified as confidential or privileged under FOIA standards.  

 
Section 39.  Disputes, Breaches, Defaults, or Other Litigation.   
 
a. FTA Interest.  FTA has a vested interest in the settlement of any violation of federal law, 

regulation, or disagreement involving the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, 
and any Amendments thereto including, but not limited to, a default, breach, major dispute, 
or litigation, and FTA reserves the right to concur in any settlement or compromise. 
 

b. Notification to FTA.  If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal 
Government emerges, the Recipient must promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel, or FTA 
Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located.   
(1) The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a 

major dispute, breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party 
to litigation or a legal disagreement in any forum for any reason.  

(2) Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the 
Federal Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying 
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration 
or enforcement of federal laws, regulations, and requirements. 

(3) If the Recipient has credible evidence that a Principal, Official, Employee, Agent, or 
Third Party Participant of the Recipient, or other person has submitted a false claim 
under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has committed a criminal or 
civil violation of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, 
gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal assistance, the Recipient must 
promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General, in addition to the FTA Chief Counsel 
or Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located. 

 
c. Federal Interest in Recovery.  The Federal Government retains the right to a proportionate 

share of any proceeds recovered from any third party, based on the percentage of the federal 
share for the Underlying Agreement.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Recipient 
may return all liquidated damages it receives to its Award Budget for its Underlying 
Agreement rather than return the federal share of those liquidated damages to the Federal 
Government, provided that the Recipient receives FTA’s prior written concurrence. 
  

d. Enforcement.  The Recipient must pursue its legal rights and remedies available under any 
third party agreement, or any federal, state, or local law or regulation. 

155



 
Section 40.  Amendments to the Underlying Agreement.   
 
a. When Required.  An Amendment to the Underlying Agreement is required under the 

following circumstances: 
(1) A change in the scope of work or addition of federal assistance to an existing Award 

(regardless of whether the source of assistance is the same or different);  
(2) Changes to the scope of work that necessitate a change in the distribution of federal 

assistance across scope codes or activities; or  
(3) The Award includes multiple sources of financial assistance and the action requires the 

addition of a new Scope to a Project.  
b. Process.  An amendment to the Underlying Agreement must be submitted through and 

approved in FTA’s Electronic Award Management System, and must meet the same 
application requirements as a request for a new Award.   

 
Section 41.  FTA’s Electronic Award Management System.   
 
The Recipient agrees that it will submit its application for an Award, reports, documents, or other 
required information through FTA’s electronic award management system, also known as 
TrAMS.  To submit information, reports, and documents to FTA, any signature submitted in 
TrAMS must comply with the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (E-
Sign Act), Public Law No. 106-229, June 30, 2000, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et seq.  
 
Section 42.  Information Obtained through Internet Links.   
 
Although this Master Agreement may include electronic links to federal laws, regulations, 
requirements, and guidance, FTA does not guarantee the accuracy of information accessed 
through such links.  Accordingly, the Recipient understands and agrees that any information 
obtained through any electronic link within this Master Agreement does not represent an official 
version of a federal law, regulation, or requirement, and might be inaccurate.  Thus, information 
obtained through such links is neither incorporated by reference nor made part of this Master 
Agreement.  The Federal Register and the Code of Federal Regulations are the official sources 
for regulatory information pertaining to the Federal Government. 
 
Section 43.  Severability.   
 
The Recipient agrees that if any provision of the Underlying Agreement or any Amendments 
thereto is determined invalid, then the remaining provisions thereof that conform to federal laws, 
regulations, requirements, and guidance will continue in effect. 
 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMS 
 
Section 44.  Special Provisions for All Public Transportation Innovation, Technical 
Assistance or Workforce Development Programs.   
 

156



a. Applicability.  The Recipient understands and agrees that this section applies to the following 
programs to which FTA provides federal assistance, including the following programs: 
(1) Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5312, irrespective of the fiscal year for which 

the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized, 
(2) Programs authorized under former 49 U.S.C. § 5313, irrespective of the fiscal year for 

which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized, 
(3) Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5314, irrespective of the fiscal year for which 

the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized, 
(4) Programs authorized by the repealed section 3045 of SAFETEA-LU, 
(5) Programs authorized under repealed section 3046 of SAFETEA-LU, and 
(6) Other similar Programs for which FTA awards federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. 

§§ 5312 or 5314, as amended by the FAST Act, or other authorizing legislation. 
 

b. Provisions for Underlying Agreements for Public Transportation Innovation or Technical 
Assistance and Workforce Development Awards.  The Recipient agrees that the following 
provisions will apply to the Underlying Agreement for a Public Transportation Innovation or 
Technical Assistance and Workforce Development Project or related activities: 
(1) Report.  The Recipient agrees that in addition to any other Report FTA may require, the 

Recipient will prepare and submit to FTA a Report of each Project and related activities 
that describes the subject (or subjects) investigated, the methods used, the results, and 
the conclusions reached, is satisfactory, sufficiently organized, well-written, and 
comprehensive. 

(2) Disclaimer.  The Report must contain the following disclaimer:  
 
This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the United 
States Department of Transportation, Federal Transit 
Administration, in the interest of information exchange.  The United 
States government assumes no liability for the contents or use 
thereof.  
 
The United States government does not endorse products or 
manufacturers.  Trade or manufacturers’ names appear herein 
solely because they are considered essential to the contents of the 
report. 

 
(3) Format.  The Report must comply with the accessibility requirements of Section 508 of 

the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794d, and U.S. ATBCB 
regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility Standards,” 
36 C.F.R. part 1194, and the specific publication elements and report style guide at 
http://www.fta.dot.gov/research/program_requirements.  The Report must identify 
clearly and precisely any specific information or data that is confidential, privileged, or 
proprietary that is contained within any report or document. 

(4) Publication.  Except for confidential, privileged, or proprietary information in the 
Report, FTA may publish the Report, and make it available for publication on the 
Internet or in any other venue. 

(5) Identification of Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees that: 

157

http://www.fta.dot.gov/research/program_requirements


(a) It will display notice on any product developed with federal assistance for 
49 U.S.C. § 5312 that the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit 
Administration provided federal assistance to support the development of the 
product that is tangible and is produced from, or is a result of, a Project, is a 
deliverable, and visible to the public, or is or will be made available to other 
research organizations, or public transportation providers, and consists of 
equipment, a prototype, hardware, construction, reports, data, software, internet 
pages, or any similar item. 

(b) The notice will be given using an appropriate sign, designation, or notice. 
 

c. Special Disposition Provision.  In addition to other disposition provisions, FTA may vest title 
in tangible personal property used in the conduct of basic or applied scientific research in a 
nonprofit institution of higher education or in a nonprofit organization whose primary 
purpose is conducting scientific research, provided the requirements of 31 U.S.C. § 6306 are 
met. 
 

d. Protection of Human Subjects.  The Recipient agrees to comply with protections for human 
subjects involved in a Project or related activities supported through the Underlying 
Agreement as required by the National Research Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 289 et seq., 
and U.S. DOT regulations, “Protection of Human Subjects,” 49 C.F.R. part 11. 

 
e. Protection of Animals.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the protections for animals 

involved in a Project or related activities, as required by the Animal Welfare Act, as 
amended, 7 U.S.C. § 2131 et seq., and U.S. Department of Agriculture regulations, “Animal 
Welfare,” 9 C.F.R. parts 1, 2, 3, and 4. 

 
f. Export Control.  The Recipient understands and agrees that before exporting any information 

that is subject to federal export requirements, it must first obtain the necessary federal 
license(s), and comply with the federal export control regulations of the U.S. Department of 
Commerce, Bureau of Industry and Security, “Export Administration Regulations,” 
specifically, 15 C.F.R. parts 730 et seq., U.S. Department of State, U.S. Department of the 
Treasury, and U.S. Department of Defense.  

 
Section 45.  Special Provisions for the State Safety Oversight Grant Program.   
 
a. Applicability.  The Recipient agrees that this section  applies to any State Safety Oversight 

Grant Program Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments 
thereto, supported with federal assistance for 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6). 
 

b. Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  In administering any State Safety 
Oversight Grant Program Award under 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6), as amended by the FAST 
Act, the Recipient agrees to comply with the following: 
(1) 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6), as amended by the FAST Act, 
(2) 49 U.S.C. § 5330, which is repealed three (3) years after the effective date of the final 

FTA State Safety Oversight regulations required under 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e), as 
amended by the FAST Act and section 20021(b) of MAP-21,  

158



(3) 49 C.F.R. part 659, until those regulations are repealed or superseded by regulations 
that FTA promulgates in the future that implement 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e) as amended by 
the FAST Act,  

(4) Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and the Underlying 
Agreement and any Amendments thereto, and all other applicable provisions of this 
Master Agreement, and  

(5) Applicable federal guidance, including the most recent FTA Notice of Availability for 
federal assistance made available for the State Safety Oversight Grant Program 
authorized by MAP-21, to the extent that its provisions are consistent with applicable 
requirements of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, and other applicable federal laws, regulations, 
requirements, and guidance. 

 
c. Other Special Provisions for State Safety Oversight Grant Program.  The Recipient agrees 

that federal assistance for the State Safety Oversight Grant Program will be used to develop 
or carry out its State Safety Oversight Grant Program for purposes of coming into 
compliance with 49 U.S.C. §§ 5329(e)(3) and 5329(e)(4), including the establishment of a 
State Safety Oversight Agency (SSOA) that: 
(1) Has an appropriate staffing level that is commensurate with the number, size, and 

complexity of the rail fixed guideway public transportation systems that the Recipient 
oversees, 

(2) Requires its employees and other designated personnel of the SSOA who are 
responsible for rail fixed guideway public transportation safety oversight to be qualified 
to perform such functions through appropriate training, including successful completion 
of the public transportation safety certification training program when established under 
49 U.S.C. § 5329(c), and 

(3) Is prohibited from receiving federal assistance from any public transportation agency 
that the SSOA oversees pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(4). 

 
Section 46.  Special Provisions for the State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Program.   
 
a. Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  The State. as the Recipient, agrees 

to administer its Underlying Agreement to support its SIB consistent with federal laws, 
regulations, requirements, and guidance, including, but not limited to: 
(1) Title 23, U.S.C. (Highways), specifically 23 U.S.C. § 610, to the extent required under 

the FAST Act, and other applicable federal legislation, 
(2) Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o), which requires compliance with 

49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5309, and 5337 for Underlying Agreements to which MAP-21 and 
the FAST Act apply,  

(3) Section 350 of the National Highway System Designation Act of 1995, as amended, 
(NHS Act), 23 U.S.C. § 101 note, to the extent this section has not been superseded by 
23 U.S.C. § 610,  

(4) Any federal law enacted or federal regulation or requirements promulgated at a later 
date applicable to the Underlying Agreement, 

(5) All other applicable federal guidance that may be issued,  
(6) The terms and conditions of any U.S. DOL certification(s) of employee protective 

arrangements,  

159



(7) The SIB Cooperative Agreement establishing the SIB in the state, signed by the 
Executive Director of the Build America Bureau, the Federal Transit Administrator, 
authorized state official(s) or their authorized designees, and if applicable, the 
administrator (or designee) for any other federal modal agency that the State wishes to 
include in its SIB, and  

(8) The FTA Grant Agreement providing federal assistance for the Underlying Agreement 
in support of its SIB, except that any provision of this Master Agreement that would 
otherwise apply to a SIB Project does not apply to the Underlying Agreement if it 
conflicts with any other federal law or regulation applicable to a SIB, federal SIB 
Guidelines, the SIB Cooperative Agreement, or the Underlying Agreement, or the 
Underlying Agreement, but the conflicting provision of this Master Agreement will 
prevail, however, if FTA expressly determines so in writing. 

 
b. Limitations on Accessing Federal Assistance in the Transit Account.  The Recipient 

understands that the total amount of federal assistance awarded under the Grant Agreement 
to be supported with SIB deposits may not be available for immediate withdrawal.  The State 
and the Recipient agree to restrict the amount of federal assistance it withdraws from its SIB 
to an amount not exceeding the limits specified in its Grant Agreement in support of the SIB 
or the Award Budget for that Grant Agreement. 

 
Section 47.  Special Provisions for the TIFIA Program.   
 
a. Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance.  The Recipient agrees to administer 

any Underlying Agreement financed with federal credit assistance authorized by the 
Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA), as amended, as required 
under:  
(1) Title 23, U.S.C. (Highways), specifically 23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609, to the extent required 

under the FAST Act, and other applicable federal legislation, 
(2) Federal transit laws, more specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o), which requires compliance 

with 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5309, and 5337 for any Underlying Agreement to which 
49 U.S.C. chapter 53 apply,  

(3) Section 350 of the National Highway System Designation Act of 1995, as amended,  
(4) Joint U.S. DOT and FTA regulations, “Credit Assistance for Surface Transportation 

Projects,” 49 C.F.R. parts 80 and 640 that have not been superseded by the FAST Act, 
or any other statute in effect and that applies to the matter at issue, and 

(5) Any federal statute signed into laws and regulations promulgated at a later date that 
would affect the Underlying Agreement. 

 
b. Default.  The Recipient agrees that FTA may declare the Recipient in violation of the Master 

Agreement if it has defaulted on a TIFIA Loan, Loan Guarantee, Line of Credit, or Master 
Credit Agreement, and that default has not been cured within 90 days. 
 

c. Order of Precedence.  Any provision of this Master Agreement that is applicable to the 
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement for TIFIA assistance and Recipient, but that conflicts 
with the laws, regulations, and requirements identified in this section, will not apply to the 

160



Recipient’s TIFIA Loan, Loan Guarantee, Line of Credit, or Master Credit Agreement, 
unless FTA determines otherwise in writing.  

 
Section 48.  Special Provisions for the Joint FTA – FRA Program.   
 
a. General Legal Requirements.  When both FTA and the U.S. Federal Railroad Administration 

(FRA) make federal assistance available for the same Underlying Agreement, the Recipient 
understands and agrees that it will administer the Underlying Agreement to achieve 
maximum compliance with FTA’s statutory and regulatory requirements, FRA’s statutory 
and regulatory requirements, and other federal statutory requirements. 
 

b. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises.   
(1) The Recipient acknowledges and understands that the statutory and regulatory 

provisions relating to disadvantaged business enterprises (DBE) differ significantly 
between FTA and FRA, including Section 1101(b) of the FAST Act (23 U.S.C. § 101 
note) and U.S. DOT regulations, “Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 
in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs,” 49 C.F.R. part 26, 
both of which apply to FTA, but not to FRA. 

(2) FRA is not authorized to use FTA’s DBE regulations, and consequently the Recipient 
agrees to comply with the statutory and regulatory DBE provisions that apply to federal 
assistance provided by FTA when using that federal assistance for purchases.  

(3) The Recipient agrees to use the “contracting with small and minority firms, women's 
business enterprise” provisions of the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules. 

 
c. Buy America.  The Recipient agrees that statutory and regulatory Buy America provisions 

that apply to federal assistance authorized for FTA differ from those that apply to federal 
assistance authorized for FRA.  Therefore, the Recipient agrees that: 
(1) It must comply with FTA’s statutory and regulatory Buy America provisions to the 

extent that the purchases are for a Project or related activities that implement the 
Underlying Agreement,  

(2) It must comply with FRA’s statutory and regulatory Buy America provisions, 
specifically section 301(a) of the Passenger Rail Investment and Improvement Act of 
2008 (PRIIA), Pub L. 110-432, October 16, 2008, and 49 U.S.C. § 24405(a), to the 
extent that the purchases are required to comply with FRA Buy America requirements, 
and  

(3) If it uses federal assistance authorized for FTA and for FRA to finance a purchase, the 
Recipient agrees that it must comply with both FTA’s and FRA’s requirements. 

 
d. Force Account – Procurement.  The Recipient agrees that FTA deems section 16.k of this 

Master Agreement to be satisfied for work that is performed by the railroad’s force account 
employees if a Project or related activities are being conducted on the property of a railroad, 
and under the railroad’s collective bargaining agreements with its employees, certain work to 
be performed for the Recipient must be performed by force account employees. 
 

e. Procurement of Rolling Stock.  The Recipient agrees that if FRA requires the Recipient to 
acquire any rolling stock for the Underlying Agreement from the Next Generation Corridor 

161



Equipment Pool Committee that has been established under section 305 of PRIIA, FTA 
deems section 15 of this Master Agreement to be satisfied. 

 
f. Use of Real Property, Equipment, and Supplies.  The Recipient agrees that application of 

section 19 of this Master Agreement is reserved. 
 

g. Davis-Bacon.  The Recipient agrees that, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 24312, wages paid to 
railroad employees at rates provided in a collective bargaining agreement negotiated under 
the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., are deemed to comply with the requirements 
of the Davis-Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3141 et seq., and satisfy section 24 of this Master 
Agreement.  

 
h. Employee Protective Arrangements.  The Recipient agrees to pass down to a railroad 

employee subject to the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., protective arrangements 
as provided in a special Attachment to FTA’s Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement 
with the Recipient, and not pass down employee protective arrangements as provided in 
section 24 of this Master Agreement. 

 
i. Motor Carrier Safety.  The Recipient agrees that railroad signal employees and their 

employers must comply with the hours of service requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 21104, see 
49 U.S.C. § 21104(e), and FRA’s hours of service regulation, specifically 49 C.F.R. part 228, 
and Section 31 of this Master Agreement does not apply to railroad signal employees 
concerning hours of service. 

 
j. Railroad Safety.  The Recipient agrees that a railroad subject to FRA’s safety jurisdiction 

must comply with the federal railroad safety laws.  
 

### 
 
  

162



APPENDIX A 
 

TRIBAL TRANSIT PROGRAM – APPLICABLE PROVISIONS 
 
FTA recognizes that several provisions of the Master Agreement generally applicable to other 
programs do not apply to the Tribal Transit Programs or the Indian Tribes that are the Direct 
Recipients of federal assistance under those Programs.  The following sections of the Master 
Agreement are not applicable to the Tribal Transit Programs: 
 
Section 14.a(1) & 14.b – Private Enterprise 
Section 22.e – Relocation and Real Property 
Section 27 – State Management and Monitoring Systems 
Section 30 – Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data 
Section 37 – Special Notification Requirement for States 
 
However, this list is not intended to be comprehensive and FTA may determine that other 
provisions are applicable depending upon the Underlying Agreement for the Tribal Transit. 
 

163



Mountain Rides Agenda Action Item Summary

Date: From:

Action Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee

Purview:

Previously

discussed at board 

level:

yes no

Recommended

Motion:

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

5e. Approve a resolution of the Mountain Rides Board of Directors

recognizing the outstanding efforts of the Mountain Rides staff during our

recent "snowpocalypse"

N/A

I move to approve Mountain Rides' board resolution 2017-1 in recognition of

extraordinary heroic staff efforts to keep buses running safely and on-time

during our recent "snowpocalypse" heavy snow storms.

n/a

n/a

Board Chair Conard requested that the Mountain Rides' Board of Directors

formally recognize the hard work that all Mountain Rides staff has been

putting in to keep things running during very challenging conditions in the

past few weeks.

164



Mountain Rides Agenda Discussion Item Summary

Date: From:

Discussion Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee

Purview:

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

5f. Discuss draft strategic priorities for 2017, as discussed at Mountain Rides'

annual strategic workshop

Both Committees

FY2017 and FY2018 budgets

5 year capital plan and annual service plan

Attached is the outcome of the Mountain Rides' annual strategic planning

workshop, held on January 4th. This draft of priorities is organized around

seven priorities with associated strategies and will form the basis of the 2017

work plan.

165



 

2017 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES and INITIATIVES 

In 2016, Mountain Rides completed, adopted, and implemented a 5-year Strategic Business Plan for 2016-2020. 

This plan plots the course for Mountain Rides and has been an effective tool in organizing and planning out 

work; 2016 implementation was right on track with almost all the goals and objectives successfully completed.  

To continue to execute this 5-year plan, Mountain Rides must follow the year-by-year goals of the plan and put 

these goals into action by creating priorities and initiatives for each year. The following list of strategic priorities 

and initiatives was created at Mountain Rides’ strategic workshop for 2017, held on January 4th, 2017. 

  

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #1 – Build internal capacity for improved administration and support 

 Initiative 1A – establish 1-2 internship positions for marketing and IT functions 

 Initiative 1B – continue to cross-train more employees internally 

 Initiative 1C – add average of 1.5 FTE for better maintenance, administration, and operations support 

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #2 – Market and educate to build awareness and ridership 

 Initiative 2A – educate public officials on impact of Mountain Rides services; use rider/user experiences 

to tell the story 

 Initiative 2B – continue marketing initiatives of 5-year plan; grow marketing budget to support 

increased marketing and customer information tools 

 Initiative 2C – develop ambassador and volunteer program to help with community awareness, 

especially for new and improved services 

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #3 – Work towards development of a downtown transportation center in Ketchum 

 Initiative 3A – educate community on need and importance of this project and how it helps Ketchum 

economy and quality of life 

 Initiative 3B – engage in City of Ketchum dialogue on public parking and how to manage 

 Initiative 3C – look at private-public development funding models for this project  

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #4 – Follow the vision of the 5-year plan for service and program development 

 Initiative 4A – continue to improve core routes and services 

 Initiative 4B – evaluate new services like Galena and Airport and determine ways to expand and 

improve 

166



 Initiative 4C – look at possibility of starting limited Twin Falls service with support from new funding 

partners 

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #5 – Improve and support development of enhanced on-street and downtown 

infrastructure 

 Initiative 5A – carry  out bus stop improvement project for signage, lighting, benches, and shelters 

 Initiative 5B – support city efforts to improve bike and pedestrian infrastructure and increase use of 

biking and walking 

 Initiative 5C – develop better entitlements for bus stops through easements and use agreements 

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #6 – Develop new financial and planning partnerships with outside agencies 

 Initiative 6A – evaluate opportunity to include Ride ‘n Fly airport bus into 1% for air local option tax 

 Initiative 6B – work closely with city and county planning staff on transportation issues 

 Initiative 6C – engage in regional discussions on land use, housing, and economic development 

 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY #7 – Consider long-range organizational needs and start planning 

 Initiative 7A – evaluate options for dealing with physical space constraints of Mountain Rides’ 

maintenance and administration facilities 

 Initiative 7B – develop 1-3 year staffing plan that supports service growth 

 Initiative 7C – continue development of better transit technology like electronic fareboxes 

 Initiative 7D – develop plan for transition to electric buses with goal of first electric buses in operation 

by 2019 

 

This list is not comprehensive. There are ongoing services, programs, and planning that will continue and are 

inherent in the day-to-day work of Mountain Rides. This list identifies specific initiatives and projects above and 

beyond the “baseline” work of Mountain Rides. 

167



Mountain Rides Agenda Discussion Item Summary

Date: From:

Discussion Item:

Committee Review: yes

no

Committee

Purview:

Fiscal Impact:

Related Policy or 

Procedural Impact:

Background:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

5g. Discuss budget priorities for midyear budget amendment for FY2017 and

for next budget year FY2016

Finance & Performance

FY2017 and FY2018 budget years

Budget

One of the discussion points at the annual strategic planning session was the

need to start discussing budget priorities earlier. This agenda item will allow

board and staff to discuss adjustments needed for this current FY2017

budget year and budget goals for FY2018. There aren't any attachments for

this agenda item - staff will provide input and numbers for this discussion at

the board meeting.

168



PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD - RIDERSHIP, NOVEMBER 2016

Definition:  One way 
rides for the month 

divided by the number 
of bus revenue service 
hours for the month 
(aka productivity) - 

being higher than goal is 
good.  15 is reasonable 
goal for a resort-rural 
fixed route system.

2014 YTD Ridership
462534

Definition:   Monthly 
ridership  compared with 
one year ago, two years 

ago and the 5 year 
average.

425,891

422,833

2013 YTD Ridership

2012 YTD Ridership

2016 YTD Ridership
454952

2015 YTD Ridership
431779

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0

Valley

Town

Hailey

Total

16.5 

6.0 

16.5 

10.7 

16 

12 

12 

14 

Riders/hr 

Ridership per hour 

GOAL

Nov-16

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

# 
of

 R
id

er
s 

Total Ridership by Month 

5 yr AVG

2013

2014

2015

2016

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

# 
of

 R
id

er
s 

Town Routes 

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

169



PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD - RIDERSHIP BY ROUTE, NOVEMBER 2016

0
2000
4000
6000
8000

10000
12000
14000
16000
18000

# 
of

 R
id

er
s 

Valley Route 

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

0
500

1,000
1,500
2,000
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,000
4,500
5,000

# 
of

 R
id

er
s 

Hailey Route 

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

# 
of

 R
id

er
s 

Vanpool 

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

170



PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD - FINANCIAL, NOVEMBER 2016

Definition:  Costs for services are 
taken in total for the month and 

then divided by the mileage 
operated for the month.  Costs are 

also calculated for each department 
to show the contribution to costs 

per mile. The budget is established 
based on historical averages and 

what is reasonable on a statewide 
basis for a rural fixed route system.

Definition:  Monthly costs 
divided by the number of 
bus revenue service hours 
operated for the month.  
Being lower than goal is 
good.  Monthly numbers 

are compared to 6 and 12 
month averages in order to 

give a longer time period 
for reference (monthly 

fluctuations can be great).

$20.00 $30.00 $40.00 $50.00 $60.00 $70.00 $80.00 $90.00 $100.00

Valley

Town

Hailey

TOTAL Bus

$90.37 

$79.41 

$69.33 

$80.98 

$95.89 

$91.22 

$80.11 

$91.56 

$86.00 

$89.00 

$72.00 

$86.33 

Costs per hour 

Not to exceed

6 mo avg

12 mo avg

$0.00 $1.00 $2.00 $3.00 $4.00 $5.00 $6.00

Fuel

Maint

Ops

Admin

TOTAL

Costs per mile: NOVEMBER 2016 

Budget not to
exceed
6 mo avg

12 mo avg

Ops 
57% Maint 

23% 

Admin 
10% 

Other 
10% 

Costs by Department  
NOVEMBER 2016  
(total costs = $) 

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

Revenues
for mo.

Expenses
for mo.

Revenues
FYTD

Expenses
FYTD

Budget $218,162 $234,908 $442,224 $488,006
Actual $272,895 $229,318 $516,728 $413,176

Budget vs Actual - NOVEMBER 2016 

171



Safety Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16
Incidents 0 0 0
Accidents 0 0 0
Road Calls 1 0 0

 Road Call is defined as a vehicle that is taken out 
of revenue service because of a need for 

unscheduled maintenance.

Incident is defined as an event that involved a 
minor collision, injury or altercation that may have 
caused physical damage or injury  (less than $200) 

to  MRTA property or persons only.  No outside 
parties involved.

PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD - SAFETY, NOVEMBER 2016

Definition:  This is the rate 
at which these safety 

related items are 
happening at a rate that is 
consistent with industry 

MAINTENANCE DAYS WITHOUT 
A LOSS TIME ACCIDENT OR 

INJURY: Current 1072

Accident is defined as an event that caused  
damage to one or more MR vehicles or property 

in excess of $200  OR damage to vehicles, 
property or persons unrelated to MRTA in any 

amount.

0.00 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.00

Incidents per 100,000 mi

Road Calls per 10,000 mi

Accidents per 100,000 mi

0.00 

0.50 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

2.00 

1.00 

1.00 

Quantity of occurence 

Safety occurence rate 

Not to
Exceed
Nov-16

Average 3
mo

172



Mountain Rides Staff Report

Date: Staff Member:

Department:

Department

Highlights from the 

Previous Month:

Progress on 

projects/initiatives:

Challenges/

Opportunities:

01/18/2017 Jim Finch

Operations

December 2016 total passenger trips +2% 64,103 trips compared to 62,705 in '15

TOWN ROUTES: TOTAL 45,803 TRIPS +2%

BLUE 25,322 TRIPS +11%

RED 2,198 TRIPS -4%

SILVER 17,390 TRIPS -5%

BRONZE 869 TRIPS -4%

ON DEMAND 24 TRIPS GREEN route 2015=732 trips

AIRPORT 18 TRIPS

GALENA 101 TRIPS

HAILEY 2,547 TRIPS -21%

VALLEY 12,956 TRIPS +11%

VANS 2,645 TRIPS -1%

No accidents or incidents reported.

Attrition and personal absences have resulted in a manpower shortage. Cost is reflected in

significant driver overtime as more people work days off. Maintenance and Management

personnel have helped mitigate the situation.

Holiday snow storms are mixed blessing. Great for skier numbers and passenger trips, but it

drains all municipal operating budgets for snow removal.

173



Mountain Rides Staff Report

Date: Staff Member:

Department:

Department

Highlights from the 

Previous Month:

Progress on 

projects/initiatives:

Challenges/

Opportunities:

01/18/2017 Kim MacPherson

Marketing Outreach

The Galena ribbon cutting was a success. Thank you to the board members who came out

for it.

Through the holidays, I was able to help drive ADA clients and Demand response riders.

Work continues on outreach for the new routes. See attached photo of the new poster which

is hanging up at the airport.

I find people using the RouteShout app and continue to tell people about it when I ride the

bus and answer the phone when they ask "Did I miss the bus?". I continue my weekly

meetings with RouteMatch about the app and they are working on all the issues we have

addressed so far.

This week I will have a training regarding the dashboard for the app so we can use the data

the app provides.

Mountain Rides is involved in a group put together by St. Luke's and the Senior Connection

about "aging friendly" solutions for our community. I think it's very important for Mountain

Rides to be a part of this very important conversation.

As the toughpads in the buses age, we are looking to other solutions with which to replace

them. We are testing two Galaxy Tab E tablets for 30 days to see if they will be a good and

less expensive solution for us as the older toughpads start wearing out.

Maintenance installed them in Buses 4 and 28 which are primarily on Blue and Silver so they

will get some use.

174



175



Mountain Rides Staff Report

Date: Staff Member:

Department:

Department 

Highlights from the 

Previous Month:

Progress on 

projects/initiatives:

Challenges/

Opportunities:

01/18/2017 Ben Varner

Maintenance

Maintenance made it through the busy holiday season with a minimal amount of fleet related 

issues. Kudos to all Maintenance Staff for putting out safe, clean, dependable buses throughout 

the busy season!

The formal purchase order with New Flyer has been signed and we are on their production 

schedule.  

 

The Maintenance Department has otherwise been 100% supporting operations, so not much time 

left for longer term projects this time of year.

The large snowstorm(s) last week presented everything that could possibly be thrown at us, but 

we made it through quite well. Everyone in each department contributed to an incredibly 

successful week at MRTA.

176



Mountain Rides Staff Report

Date: Staff Member:

Department:

Department

Highlights from the 

Previous Month:

Progress on 

projects/initiatives:

Challenges/

Opportunities:

01/18/2017 Business Manager

Business-Finance

Continuing to gain knowledge of processes and procedures. My understanding of

quickbooks continues to grow.

Addressing personnel questions that arise, mostly regarding benefits, and researching to

learn and provide clear answers.

177



Mountain Rides Staff Report

Date: Staff Member:

Department:

Department

Highlights from the 

Previous Month:

Progress on 

projects/initiatives:

Challenges/

Opportunities:

01/18/2017 Jason Miller

Executive Director

Record numbers! The 2016 total ridership was 523,195, which is 2nd highest ridership ever

(compared to 2014 record of 523,880). From Christmas Eve to NY day, we carried an all-time

holiday record of over 30,000 riders in just over a week!! And we clocked 4 of our top 5 days

in the past 20 years during this 2016-17 holiday week!

Incredible teamwork! The past 3 weeks have been some of the most challenging weeks for

Mountain Rides. Huge passenger loads, tons of snow, and staffing challenges combined to

make it very stressful. The good news is that we weathered the storms very well; service ran

on-time with minimal disruptions and our staff pulled through with professionalism and safety

- we didn't have any at-fault incidents or accidents in any bus. And everyone worked together

so skillfully that I couldn't be more proud of what the Mountain Rides team did over the past

few weeks.

Strategic planning session - thank you all for a great strategic workshop with lots of energy

and enthusiasm for the new year. I look forward to working with you all to put the ideas into

action.

Phone app - The major glitches are fixed and it is generally working very well. We still have

some small tweaks, but we’re happy with it overall. For the past month (12/10-1/10), we saw

726 unique users and 67,726 hits to different stops/routes in the app (like a web page hit).

Other projects - with so much going on operationally, including heavy ridership and big snow

storms, there isn't much progress being made on large projects or initiatives. I believe that

will change in February, as things calm down.

Staffing - we are extremely thinly staffed for the coming 6 weeks. We lost a couple of trainees

and a full-time driver. Everyone has been pitching in, with admin and maintenance staff

picking up driving shifts and many drivers working overtime.

Snow - the 2 recent 12" plus storms we had strained our system and its ability to continue

running. When multiple buses became stuck, service was halted in the late evening.

178



                                                                                      RECORDED 
 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
MOUNTAIN RIDES TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

Wednesday, December 21, 2016, 12:30 p.m. 
Ketchum City Hall Meeting Room, Ketchum, Idaho 

 
Board Members of the Mountain Rides Transportation Authority met in a Regular Meeting in the 
Ketchum City Hall Meeting Room, Ketchum, Idaho. 
 
PRESENT: Chair David Patrie (Blaine County), Secretary Joe Miczulski (Bellevue), Becki Keefer 

(Hailey), Anne Corrock (Ketchum),  Kristin Derrig (Ketchum), Joyce Fabre (Sun Valley) 
and Tory Canfield (at-large) 

NOT PRESENT: Vice-chair Jane Conard (Sun Valley) 

ALSO   
PRESENT: Mountain Rides Executive Director Jason Miller 
   Mountain Rides Business Manager Tucker Van Law 
   Mountain Rides Operation Manager Jim Finch 
   Mountain Rides Maintenance Manager Ben Varner 
   Mountain Rides Support Specialist Kim MacPherson  
   Mountain Rides Operations Supervisor Stuart Gray 
   Mountain Rides Bike-Ped Coordinator Kaz Thea 
      
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair David Patrie called to order the meeting of Wednesday, December 21, 2016 at 12:33pm; 
Secretary Joe Miczulski took roll and determined that a quorum was present.   

 
2.  COMMENTS FROM THE CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBER THOUGHTS  

There were none. 
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (including questions from Press) 
There were none. 

 
4.  ACTION ITEMS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 a. Action item:  

Action to approve award of 35’ heavy duty bus Request for Proposals 092016-1 
Ben Varner stated that the original bid was released in September and Gillig and New Flyer 
were the respondents. We are very familiar with Gillig buses however New Flyer chose to bring 
a bus down and spend a day with staff showing them the bus. New Flyer came in as low bidder 
and was New Flyer was chosen which a new manufacturer is for us. This bus will be used for 
the Valley route. New Flyer has not looked at bids our size in the past but has started looking 
at smaller agencies. Mountain Rides openly communicated with both manufacturers.  Both 
companies make great buses so it could have gone both ways. Jason Miller stated that Gillig 
would not provide financials being a privately held company. We were impressed with New 

179



Flyer’s internal process for quality control etc. The review committee consisted of Jason Miller, 
Ben Varner, Carlos Tellez, head mechanic, and a few operations staff members. Jason Miller 
stated that we are going with the low bid. We will be getting this bus 6 months ahead of other 
bidder and from a cost stand point we will be saving $40-50,000. Training has been 
recommended for this bus and ITD said the training will be covered by RTAP. New Flyer has a 
very robust online training program. The price of the bus does include a bike rack as well. Ben 
Varner stated that there will not be a significant impact to holding parts for the bus. Jason 
Miller stated we buy “new” when we can. We will use the bus for 600-800,000 miles. 
Joyce Fabre made a motion to approve to award RFP 092106-1 to New Flyer and move to 
authorize the Executive Director to execute the purchase contract in an amount not to 
exceed $413,000. Joe Miczulski seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  

  
 b. Action item:  

Action to approve award of purchase of fuel Invitation for Bid 2016-11-16 
Ben Varner stated that this is our annual fuel bid and have working with United Oil for the last 
year. United oil was also the low bidder for this year. We changed the bidding process last year 
to be more cost plus and has been working well. Ben Varner stated he is able to track day to 
day. It is essential that we are able to fuel in Shoshone, ID. There was one other bidder that the 
price structure was non-conforming. In the past, when it was retail minus we would get 2-3 
bidders.  
Kristin Derrig made a motion to approve awarding the 2017 Fuel Bid to United Oil and 
authorize the Executive Director to sign the fuel contract for 2017. Tory Canfield seconded.  
The motion passed unanimously. 

  
 c. Action item:  

Action to approve board and committee meeting schedule for 2017 
Joe Miczulski made a motion to approve the meeting schedule for 2017, as presented. Kristin 
Derrig seconded.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 d. Action item:  
Action to approve board officers for 2017 
Dave Patrie stated that Jane Conard will become chair, Joe Miczulski will continue with 
secretary. Kristin Derrig said yes to accept the nomination for board vice chair. 
Becki Keefer made a motion to approve the following slate of officers for 2017: Jane Conard 
as chair, Kristin Derrig as vice-chair and Joe Miczulski as secretary. Tory Canfield seconded.  
The motion passed unanimously. 

 
 e. Action item:  

Action to approve committee membership for 2017 
Joe Miczulski made a motion to maintain the Planning and Marketing Committee and 
Finance and Performance Committee membership for 2017.  Joyce Fabre seconded.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
 Jason Miller asked to amend agenda to add and action item. 
 

180



Becki Keefer made a motion to amend the agenda to add an action item. The reason for 
amending the agenda during the meeting was that information just became available that 
we did not have prior to the meeting. Anne Corrock seconded and the motion carried. 
 

 h. Action item: 
Approve adding Tucker Van Law to our various banking and benefit accounts as contact and 
taking Wendy Crosby off those accounts 
Becki Keefer made a motion to approve adding Tucker Van Law to Mountain Rides’ various 
banking and benefit accounts and taking Wendy Crosby off those accounts. Anne Corrock 
seconded and the motion carried. 
 
f. Discussion item: 
Discuss draft agenda for January strategic planning session 
The meeting time will be from 11am – 3 pm at Ketchum City Hall on January 4th.  
 
g. Discussion item: 
Discuss e-bikes and regional discussion on e-bike policy 
Dave Patrie stated that a county wide discussion has started around pedal assist e-bikes. These 
bikes are in the shops and being rented and technically are not allowed on the bike path.  
Kaz Thea stated that it is based on horsepower for the City of Sun Valley. Sales of e-bikes are 
increasing. There is not an adequate policy regarding e-bikes. 
Kaz said that they are looking at other states and how they are dealing with them. There is a 
working group who are preparing for the next meeting which will be on January 19th to present 
to the public. The group will be looking at getting public input on this subject. 
Dave Patrie wants to encourage the Mountain Rides board to be involved in the conversation. 
The working group consists of the cities, Blaine County, BCRD, Mountain Rides, WRBC and St 
Luke’s has been invited. The goal is to have one cohesive policy and coordinated effort for all.  

 Michelle Stennett will be asked for input on the state level.  
Tory Canfield stated that we should keep the shoulders on the highways for all transportation 
but we need to keep them updated. 
E-bikes don’t emit pollution and they don’t make any noise. 
Joe Miczulski asked about motorized wheelchairs on the bike path. Joe said he had some 
safety concerns regarding the speed that e-bikes can go and the Three-tiered system.  
Dave Patrie stated that the bike path should be viewed as a transportation corridor. 
Becki Keefer stated that she appreciates an alternative transportation corridor. The City of 
Hailey states that the path is for non-motorized use but motorized vehicles use it. Becki Keefer 
is torn as she is a walker and is conflicted. This is a great idea with the right restrictions on it. 
There are good and bad users. Wood River Trail is first and foremost for recreation.  
 

5.  Committee Reports 
 Planning & Marketing committee for December. 

Committee members approved the minutes for Planning & Marketing for December.  
 Finance & Performance committee report for December.  

Committee members approved the minutes for Finance & Performance for December.  
 
6. Staff reports  

181



a. Dashboard performance reports for October 2016 – Jason Miller stated that we will break 
half a million riders for 2016. To get more service the three factors needed are funding, 
demand and political will. 
b. Operations report  
c. Marketing and Outreach report – Joyce Fabre asked about the “Symphony” bus in the 
summer. Kim MacPherson said we are doing outreach right now but we can always use help.  
Kristin Derrig said she would help with social media.  
d. Maintenance report – The 2002 used Gillig is running in Silver and Blue.  
e. Business Manager report 
f. Executive Director report – Dave Patrie asked about the Ketchum parking situation. Jason 
Miller went to the city council meeting and Mountain Rides is interested in being a part of the 
paid parking discussion. When there is an assembly place there are needs for more alternative 
transportation and needs to deal with on street parking. Jason Miller said it was a strong 
meeting regarding parking and kudos to the city for taking the lead. Anne Corrock said the 
demands on parking are due to employee parking and they will probably consider paid parking 
at the dollhouse parking lot. The development community wants more development rights and 
fewer requirements. City of Ketchum has been working on infrastructure needs. 

 
7. Consent Calendar items  

a. Approve minutes for November 16th regular board meeting 
b. Receive & File October 2016 financials and bills paid  
Joyce Fabre moved to approve the consent calendar. Kristin Derrig seconded. The motion 
passed.  

 
8. Adjournment  

Tory Canfield moved to adjourn the meeting at 2:17pm. Becki Keefer seconded and the 
motion carried unanimously. 

  
 
  
 ______________________________________ 
 Chair David Patrie 

182



  

 
 

MINUTES 
Special Meeting of the Mountain Rides Transportation Authority Board of Directors 

STRATEGIC PLANNING WORKSHOP for 2017 
11:00am to 3:00pm, January 4, 2017 

Ketchum City Hall council chambers, Ketchum, ID 83340 
 

PRESENT: Chair David Patrie (Blaine County), Vice-chair Jane Conard (Sun Valley), Secretary Joe 
Miczulski (Bellevue), Becki Keefer (Hailey), Anne Corrock and Grant Gager (Ketchum),  
Kristin Derrig (Ketchum), Joyce Fabre (Sun Valley) and Tory Canfield (at-large) 

ALSO PRESENT:  
 Mountain Rides Executive Director Jason Miller 
   Mountain Rides Business Manager Tucker Van Law 
   Mountain Rides Maintenance Manager Ben Varner 
   Mountain Rides Support Specialist Kim MacPherson  
   Mountain Rides Operations Supervisor Stuart Gray 
 
 
11:00a Dave Patrie called the meeting to order. There was an introduction of Grant Gager 

who will be the new representative for the City of Ketchum. 
 
 
11:00a – 11:30a Review of Mountain Rides 5 year plan and implementation progress in 2016 

• Look at each goal and initiative in 5 year plan 
 
 
12:30p – 2:30p   Goal setting and priorities for 2017 
(with working lunch) 

• Service improvements, changes, and needs 
• Admin, staffing, and organizational needs 
• Capital projects and planning 

 
 
2:30p – 3:00p   Wrap up, review, and next steps 
 
 

3:05p Jane Conard moved to adjourn the meeting at 3:05pm. Becki Keefer seconded and 
the motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 

 

183



Nov 16 Budget % of Budget Oct - Nov 16 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

41000 · Federal Funding
41200 · Federal - 5311 108,770.00 85,000.00 128.0% 225,704.00 170,000.00 132.8% 1,118,648.00
41400 · Federal - 5317 4,196.00 3,000.00 139.9% 8,440.00 6,000.00 140.7% 35,000.00
41600 · Federal -  SRTS 0.00 1,000.00 0.0% 0.00 4,000.00 0.0% 12,000.00

Total 41000 · Federal Funding 112,966.00 89,000.00 126.9% 234,144.00 180,000.00 130.1% 1,165,648.00

43000 · Local Funding
43100 · Local - Ketchum 41,791.67 41,791.67 100.0% 83,583.34 83,583.34 100.0% 501,500.00
43200 · Local - Hailey 5,135.42 5,135.42 100.0% 10,270.84 10,270.84 100.0% 61,625.00
43300 · Local - Bellevue -750.00 354.17 -211.8% 3,500.00 708.34 494.1% 4,250.00
43400 · Local - Blaine County 9,208.33 9,208.34 100.0% 18,416.66 18,416.68 100.0% 110,500.00
43500 · Local - Sun Valley 20,895.83 20,895.83 100.0% 41,791.66 41,791.66 100.0% 250,750.00
43600 · Local - Sun Valley Company 37,400.00 13,033.33 287.0% 37,400.00 26,066.66 143.5% 156,400.00
43700 · Local - Other Business 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 12,000.00

Total 43000 · Local Funding 113,681.25 90,418.76 125.7% 194,962.50 180,837.52 107.8% 1,097,025.00

44000 · Fares
44100 · Fares - Valley Cash 4,627.20 7,500.00 61.7% 10,386.05 15,000.00 69.2% 95,000.00
44150 · Fares-Airport Service Cash 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 10,000.00
44200 · Fares - Valley Passes 8,790.62 12,000.00 73.3% 26,929.12 27,000.00 99.7% 155,000.00
44250 · Fares- Hailey Route- Cash 540.75 400.00 135.2% 1,235.75 700.00 176.5% 4,000.00
44300 · Fares - Vanpool 23,878.71 10,833.33 220.4% 31,573.46 21,666.66 145.7% 130,000.00
44400 · Fares - ADA 0.00 85.00 0.0% 36.00 170.00 21.2% 1,000.00
44500 · Fares- Galena Service 2,000.00 0.00 100.0% 2,000.00 0.00 100.0% 5,000.00

Total 44000 · Fares 39,837.28 30,818.33 129.3% 72,160.38 64,536.66 111.8% 400,000.00

45000 · Revenue
45100 · Rev - Advertising 4,093.75 6,250.00 65.5% 10,950.00 12,500.00 87.6% 75,000.00

45450 · Rev - Misc. 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 500.00
45500 · Rev - Charter/Special Event 490.00 0.00 100.0% 737.00 1,000.00 73.7% 18,000.00
45600 · Rev - Bike Share- Bike Swap 0.00 0.00 0.0% 119.59 0.00 100.0% 3,000.00

Total 45000 · Revenue 4,583.75 6,250.00 73.3% 11,806.59 13,500.00 87.5% 96,500.00

47000 · Private Donations
47300 · Priv. Donation - Other 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,000.00

Total 47000 · Private Donations 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,000.00

48000 · Transfers
48400 · Transfer - Housing Fund 1,666.67 1,666.67 100.0% 3,333.34 3,333.34 100.0% 20,000.00

Total 48000 · Transfers 1,666.67 1,666.67 100.0% 3,333.34 3,333.34 100.0% 20,000.00

49000 · Interest Income 109.61 8.33 1,315.8% 221.18 16.66 1,327.6% 100.00
49800 · Excess Operating Funds 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 23,625.00

Total Income 272,844.56 218,162.09 125.1% 516,627.99 442,224.18 116.8% 2,803,898.00

Gross Profit 272,844.56 218,162.09 125.1% 516,627.99 442,224.18 116.8% 2,803,898.00

1:06 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Revenue & Expenditures Budget Performance
Accrual Basis November 2016

Page 1
184



Nov 16 Budget % of Budget Oct - Nov 16 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

Expense
51000 · Payroll Expenses

51100 · Salaries and Wages 94,497.75 120,000.00 78.7% 186,119.62 230,000.00 80.9% 1,469,300.00
51300 · FICA Expense 5,624.15 7,500.00 75.0% 11,012.81 14,000.00 78.7% 88,158.00
51350 · Medicare Tax Expense 1,315.31 1,750.00 75.2% 2,575.54 3,250.00 79.2% 20,570.20
51400 · Retirement Plan Expenses 7,631.83 0.00 100.0% 11,760.57 25,000.00 47.0% 99,973.30
51500 · Workers Comp Expense 15,530.00 0.00 100.0% 15,530.00 14,000.00 110.9% 63,000.00
51600 · SUI Expense 654.66 1,800.00 36.4% 1,287.45 3,400.00 37.9% 22,039.50
51650 · FUTA  Expense 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
51700 · Medical Ins. Expense 13,712.60 13,500.00 101.6% 27,732.46 27,000.00 102.7% 160,000.00
51800 · Dental Ins. Expense 1,149.94 1,700.00 67.6% 2,315.12 3,400.00 68.1% 20,000.00
51900 · Employee Assistance expense 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 2,500.00
51950 · Employee Performance Bonus 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 7,500.00
51000 · Payroll Expenses - Other 185.75 175.00 106.1% 293.25 340.00 86.3% 2,000.00

Total 51000 · Payroll Expenses 140,301.99 146,425.00 95.8% 258,626.82 320,390.00 80.7% 1,955,041.00

52000 · Insurance Expense
52100 · Ins. - Vehicles 8,990.00 9,000.00 99.9% 17,980.00 18,000.00 99.9% 108,000.00
52150 · Ins- Deductibles/claims 0.00 0.00 0.0% 483.87 0.00 100.0% 5,000.00

Total 52000 · Insurance Expense 8,990.00 9,000.00 99.9% 18,463.87 18,000.00 102.6% 113,000.00

53000 · Professional Fees
53100 · Accounting & Audit 945.00 600.00 157.5% 1,890.00 1,200.00 157.5% 15,500.00
53200 · IT Systems 12,500.00 833.33 1,500.0% 12,822.10 1,666.66 769.3% 10,000.00
53400 · Legal Fees 130.00 291.67 44.6% 383.50 583.34 65.7% 3,500.00
53450 · Planning/ Design 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 5,000.00
53500 · Other Professional Fees 546.75 1,000.00 54.7% 1,405.75 2,000.00 70.3% 12,000.00

Total 53000 · Professional Fees 14,121.75 2,725.00 518.2% 16,501.35 5,450.00 302.8% 46,000.00

54000 · Equipment/ Tool Expense
54100 · Shop Equipment/ Tools 64.36 1,000.00 6.4% 1,521.28 2,000.00 76.1% 7,000.00
54300 · Office Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 7,500.00

Total 54000 · Equipment/ Tool Expense 64.36 1,000.00 6.4% 1,521.28 2,000.00 76.1% 14,500.00

55000 · Rent and Utilities
55200 · Utilities 1,230.19 3,500.00 35.1% 2,361.56 5,500.00 42.9% 25,000.00

Total 55000 · Rent and Utilities 1,230.19 3,500.00 35.1% 2,361.56 5,500.00 42.9% 25,000.00

56000 · Supplies
56200 · Janitorial & Safety Supplies 1,144.32 200.00 572.2% 1,942.66 400.00 485.7% 6,500.00
56300 · Department & Office Supplies 783.39 500.00 156.7% 1,293.10 1,000.00 129.3% 7,000.00
56400 · Uniforms 3,594.33 2,500.00 143.8% 3,844.48 2,500.00 153.8% 8,000.00
56500 · Postage and Delivery 139.95 75.00 186.6% 193.31 150.00 128.9% 900.00

Total 56000 · Supplies 5,661.99 3,275.00 172.9% 7,273.55 4,050.00 179.6% 22,400.00

57000 · Repairs and Maintenance
57100 · Equipment Repairs/Maintenance 0.00 750.00 0.0% 1,030.78 750.00 137.4% 2,500.00
57200 · Building Repairs/Maintenance 508.51 0.00 100.0% 1,571.99 2,500.00 62.9% 15,000.00
57250 · Bus Stop Repairs/Maint 157.97 0.00 100.0% 157.97 0.00 100.0% 3,500.00
57300 · Grounds Repairs/Maintenance 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 7,000.00
57400 · Bike Share Repairs/Maintenance 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,500.00
57500 · Janitorial Services 182.00 200.00 91.0% 364.00 400.00 91.0% 6,000.00

Total 57000 · Repairs and Maintenance 848.48 950.00 89.3% 3,124.74 3,650.00 85.6% 35,500.00

1:06 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Revenue & Expenditures Budget Performance
Accrual Basis November 2016

Page 2

RouteMatch

Timing

185

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight



Nov 16 Budget % of Budget Oct - Nov 16 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

58000 · Communications Expense
58100 · Office Phone Expense 557.43 375.00 148.6% 898.69 750.00 119.8% 4,500.00
58200 · Cell & Two-Way Mobile 648.00 1,000.00 64.8% 1,394.73 2,000.00 69.7% 13,000.00
58300 · Internet/Website 1,029.45 250.00 411.8% 1,424.46 500.00 284.9% 3,000.00
58400 · On-Board Vehicle Computers 0.00 0.00 0.0% 750.00 0.00 100.0% 13,500.00

Total 58000 · Communications Expense 2,234.88 1,625.00 137.5% 4,467.88 3,250.00 137.5% 34,000.00

59000 · Travel and Training
59100 · Vehicle/Airfare 0.00 0.00 0.0% 342.96 0.00 100.0% 1,500.00
59200 · Lodging 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,000.00
59300 · Food/Meals/Entertainment 262.81 0.00 100.0% 262.81 0.00 100.0% 1,500.00
59400 · Training/Education 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 500.00
59500 · Safety Curriculum 0.00 500.00 0.0% 0.00 500.00 0.0% 3,500.00

Total 59000 · Travel and Training 262.81 500.00 52.6% 605.77 500.00 121.2% 8,000.00

60000 · Business Expenses
60100 · Vehicle Registration Fees 92.46 0.00 100.0% 139.38 100.00 139.4% 1,000.00
60400 · Membership,Dues & Subscriptions 84.48 1,500.00 5.6% 1,392.56 1,500.00 92.8% 3,500.00
60500 · Bank Fees 81.56 41.67 195.7% 100.65 83.34 120.8% 500.00

Total 60000 · Business Expenses 258.50 1,541.67 16.8% 1,632.59 1,683.34 97.0% 5,000.00

61000 · Advertising
61100 · Print Advertising 198.95 1,000.00 19.9% 1,049.33 2,000.00 52.5% 12,000.00
61200 · Radio Advertising 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,500.00
61300 · Online Advertising 0.00 250.00 0.0% 0.00 500.00 0.0% 3,000.00
61400 · Vehicle Graphics 4,623.75 0.00 100.0% 8,978.75 4,000.00 224.5% 10,000.00
61500 · Bus Adv. Contract 3,626.29 1,333.33 272.0% 3,626.29 2,666.66 136.0% 16,000.00

Total 61000 · Advertising 8,448.99 2,583.33 327.1% 13,654.37 9,166.66 149.0% 42,500.00

62000 · Marketing and Promotion
62100 · Info. Displays-Stop Signage 391.24 2,500.00 15.6% 485.02 2,500.00 19.4% 6,000.00
62200 · Graphic Design 10,180.00 3,000.00 339.3% 10,180.00 9,000.00 113.1% 14,000.00
62300 · Promotional Items 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 1,000.00
62400 · Customer Events and Misc. 5.00 0.00 100.0% 64.00 0.00 100.0% 2,000.00
62500 · Staff Appreciation/ Events 167.75 400.00 41.9% 366.66 500.00 73.3% 4,000.00

Total 62000 · Marketing and Promotion 10,743.99 5,900.00 182.1% 11,095.68 12,000.00 92.5% 27,000.00

63000 · Printing and Reproduction
63100 · Copies, Passes & Flyers 686.90 600.00 114.5% 1,003.69 800.00 125.5% 2,500.00
63200 · Schedules, Maps & Brochures 6,766.00 5,000.00 135.3% 6,766.00 5,000.00 135.3% 10,000.00
63000 · Printing and Reproduction - Other 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

Total 63000 · Printing and Reproduction 7,452.90 5,600.00 133.1% 7,769.69 5,800.00 134.0% 12,500.00

64000 · Fuel Expense 14,388.32 18,000.00 79.9% 24,095.80 34,000.00 70.9% 222,957.00
65000 · Vehicle Maintenance

65100 · Parts Expense
65150 · Vehicle Maintenance- freight 170.17 250.00 68.1% 433.93 500.00 86.8% 3,000.00
65100 · Parts Expense - Other 8,563.95 10,000.00 85.6% 20,757.47 18,000.00 115.3% 100,000.00

Total 65100 · Parts Expense 8,734.12 10,250.00 85.2% 21,191.40 18,500.00 114.5% 103,000.00

65200 · Fluids Expense 1,563.34 1,500.00 104.2% 2,925.13 3,000.00 97.5% 19,000.00
65300 · Tires Expense 5,785.96 15,000.00 38.6% 11,806.33 30,000.00 39.4% 39,000.00
65400 · Purchased Services 155.00 0.00 100.0% 1,579.00 0.00 100.0% 10,000.00
65500 · Vehicle Computer/Diagnostic 225.54 333.33 67.7% 1,367.19 666.66 205.1% 4,000.00
65600 · Vehicle Glass/Windshield Repai 476.23 200.00 238.1% 743.06 400.00 185.8% 5,500.00

Total 65000 · Vehicle Maintenance 16,940.19 27,283.33 62.1% 39,612.11 52,566.66 75.4% 180,500.00

1:06 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Revenue & Expenditures Budget Performance
Accrual Basis November 2016

Page 3

Route updates

Timing

Schedule/Passes

186

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight



Nov 16 Budget % of Budget Oct - Nov 16 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

69500 · Contingency Expense 5,000.00 5,000.00 100.0% 10,000.00 10,000.00 100.0% 60,000.00

Total Expense 236,949.34 234,908.33 100.9% 420,807.06 488,006.66 86.2% 2,803,898.00

Net Ordinary Income 35,895.22 -16,746.24 -214.3% 95,820.93 -45,782.48 -209.3% 0.00

Net Income 35,895.22 -16,746.24 -214.3% 95,820.93 -45,782.48 -209.3% 0.00

1:06 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Revenue & Expenditures Budget Performance
Accrual Basis November 2016

Page 4
187



188



189



190



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

11100 · Mountain West Checking 96,650.12
Liability Check 11/01/2016 E-pay United States Treasury 82-0382250 QB Tracking # 391602397 -11,328.04 85,322.08
Deposit 11/01/2016 Deposit 135.00 85,457.08
Liability Check 11/02/2016 QuickBooks Payroll Service Created by Payroll Service on 11/01/2016 -34,637.75 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Aguilar, Hortencia Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Conlago, Maira P. Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Cosio-Tamayo, Jeronimo Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Espinoza-Mercado, Franck Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Finch, James F Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Garcia-Izarraras, Gerardo Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Gray, Stuart Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Heuett, Kelly M Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Johnson, Mark F Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Kelly, David W Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Kirkpatrick, Wendy J Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Knudson, Michael W Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Leamon, Connor Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Leon, Teofilo O Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD MacPherson, Kim Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Miller, Jason M Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Nestor, Robert A Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Romero-Campos, Raul Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Selisch, Kurt Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Smith, Scott A Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Sproule, William Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Tellez, Carlos Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Thea, Karen J Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Torres, April L Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Uberuaga, Richard S Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Varner, Benjamin N Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Victorino, Jose L Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Wahlgren, Allan Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Walsh, Murray S. Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Paycheck 11/03/2016 DD Williams-Mehra, Colleen Direct Deposit 0.00 50,819.33
Deposit 11/03/2016 Deposit 67.67 50,887.00
Liability Check 11/03/2016 6233 Idaho Child Support Receipting 326231 -200.76 50,686.24
Liability Check 11/03/2016 ACH Mountain Rides Transportation WFH Apt Rent -250.00 50,436.24
Liability Check 11/03/2016 ACH MRTA Mountain Rides FSA 0.00 50,436.24
Deposit 11/04/2016 Deposit 113.00 50,549.24
Deposit 11/04/2016 Deposit 491.00 51,040.24
Deposit 11/04/2016 Deposit 5,410.00 56,450.24
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6185 L.L. Green's Hardware -19.76 56,430.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6186 Copy & Print -128.51 56,301.97
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6187 Gillig LLC 36869600 -2,121.91 54,180.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6188 NAPA Auto Parts -3,490.51 50,689.55
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6189 AC Houston Lumber Company 16203-1 -185.01 50,504.54
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6190 Access Idaho -137.10 50,367.44
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6191 Allstar Property Services, Inc. -182.00 50,185.44
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6192 Atkinsons' Grocery -37.45 50,147.99

1:08 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Checks Issued
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2016

Page 1
191



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6193 Business As Usual -40.78 50,107.21
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6194 Certified Folder Display Service... 14-0086946 -76.00 50,031.21
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6195 City of Ketchum -318.43 49,712.78
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6196 Clear Creek Disposal 1327 -98.08 49,614.70
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6197 Clear Mind Graphics, Inc -3,300.00 46,314.70
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6198 Cummins Rocky Mountain LLC -124.13 46,190.57
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6199 Express Publishing Inc. -245.93 45,944.64
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6200 Frank Espinoza -60.00 45,884.64
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6202 Gem State Welders Supply Inc. -8.06 45,876.58
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6203 GO-FER IT Express Inc. -86.00 45,790.58
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6204 Greyhound Design -157.50 45,633.08
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6205 Hailey Chamber of Commerce -165.00 45,468.08
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6206 Jackson Group Peterbilt, Inc. 3551 -314.04 45,154.04
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6207 Ketchum Computers, Inc. -270.00 44,884.04
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6208 Kimberly L Richmond 10/16/16 - 10/31/16 -461.25 44,422.79
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6210 Lawson Products, Inc. Acc# 10140112 -833.47 43,589.32
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6212 Lyle Pearson Acct #84512 -90.21 43,499.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6213 Minert & Associates, Inc. Acct #161645 -617.00 42,882.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6214 National Benefit Services, LLC -135.00 42,747.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6215 OIl Price Information Service -114.00 42,633.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6216 RouteMatch Software -750.00 41,883.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6217 Silver Creek Ford -170.05 41,713.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6218 St Luke's Clinic - Hailey 940000328 -74.00 41,639.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6219 Sun Valley Auto Club LLC -1,381.00 40,258.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6220 SV Marketing Alliance formerly ... -200.00 40,058.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6221 Thornton Heating & Sheet Met... -374.05 39,684.01
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6222 Times-News Acct #164-60010207 -259.45 39,424.56
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6223 TransitTalent.com LLC -95.00 39,329.56
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6224 United Oil -8,383.12 30,946.44
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6225 Western Integrated Technologies -165.24 30,781.20
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6227 Window Welder Inc. -266.83 30,514.37
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6228 Schaeffer MFG. CO. 1140316 -929.46 29,584.91
Check 11/07/2016 6201 Void VOID: 0.00 29,584.91
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6229 GEM State Paper & Supply Co. -377.97 29,206.94
Check 11/07/2016 6211 Void VOID: 0.00 29,206.94
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6230 Les Schwab 117-00888 -2,175.41 27,031.53
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6231 River Run Auto Parts, Inc. -6.99 27,024.54
Check 11/07/2016 6226 Void VOID: 0.00 27,024.54
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 6232 White Cloud Communications I... -288.00 26,736.54
Deposit 11/07/2016 Deposit 84,663.75 111,400.29
Check 11/07/2016 ACH Facilities Fund monthly transfer- Oct 2016 -7,171.87 104,228.42
Check 11/07/2016 ACH Contingency Fund monthly transfer Oct 2016 -5,000.00 99,228.42
Check 11/07/2016 ACH Capital Equipment Fund monthly transfer Oct 2016 -7,171.88 92,056.54
Deposit 11/07/2016 Deposit 1,666.67 93,723.21
Check 11/07/2016 6209 Void VOID: 0.00 93,723.21
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 ACH Intermtn Gas #450 916 6521 1 acct # 45091665211 -37.84 93,685.37
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2016 ACH Intermtn Gas Co #826 580 300... #826 580 3000 0 -97.96 93,587.41
Deposit 11/09/2016 Deposit 55,140.00 148,727.41
Deposit 11/09/2016 Deposit 515.00 149,242.41

1:08 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Checks Issued
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2016

Page 2

New Website

Parts & Tools

192

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Deposit 11/09/2016 Deposit 723.41 149,965.82
Deposit 11/11/2016 Deposit 925.00 150,890.82
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6235 Six Roblees' Inc. 64830 -450.64 150,440.18
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6236 Alsco -386.65 150,053.53
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6237 UPS Store - 2444 (Ketchum) -102.08 149,951.45
Check 11/14/2016 6234 Void VOID: 0.00 149,951.45
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6238 Rush Truck Centers -3,085.09 146,866.36
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6239 Lawson Laski Clark & Pogue, ... -253.50 146,612.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6240 Allan Wahlgren' -60.00 146,552.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6241 B&W Wrecker Service Acct #16-0232948 -1,225.00 145,327.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6242 Ben Varner' expense reimbursement -83.00 145,244.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6243 ITD - Special Plates -69.00 145,175.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6244 Johnny G's Sub Shack -92.99 145,082.87
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6245 Nicole Brown -3,490.63 141,592.24
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6246 RouteMatch Software -300.00 141,292.24
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6247 Social Bicycles Inc. -320.00 140,972.24
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6248 Sun Valley Auto Club LLC -1,251.00 139,721.24
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6249 White Cloud Communications I... -737.64 138,983.60
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6250 Davis Embroidery -2,766.45 136,217.15
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 6251 Wells Fargo -3,612.21 132,604.94
Liability Check 11/14/2016 E-pay United States Treasury 82-0382250 QB Tracking # 395685397 -11,487.88 121,117.06
Bill Pmt -Check 11/14/2016 ACH National Benefit Services, LLC -291.83 120,825.23
Deposit 11/14/2016 Deposit 51,728.33 172,553.56
Deposit 11/14/2016 Deposit 636.05 173,189.61
Deposit 11/15/2016 Deposit 217.27 173,406.88
Deposit 11/15/2016 Deposit 728.00 174,134.88
Deposit 11/15/2016 Deposit 161.75 174,296.63
Deposit 11/15/2016 Deposit 747.50 175,044.13
Liability Check 11/16/2016 QuickBooks Payroll Service Created by Payroll Service on 11/14/2016 -35,400.10 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Aguilar, Hortencia Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Conlago, Maira P. Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Cosio-Tamayo, Jeronimo Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Ellsworth, Bryson D Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Espinoza-Mercado, Franck Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Finch, James F Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Garcia-Izarraras, Gerardo Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Gray, Stuart Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Grubbs, Torrey E Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Heuett, Kelly M Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Johnson, Mark F Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Kelly, David W Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Kirkpatrick, Wendy J Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Knudson, Michael W Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Leamon, Connor Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Leon, Teofilo O Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD MacPherson, Kim Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Miller, Jason M Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Nestor, Robert A Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Romero-Campos, Raul Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03

1:08 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Checks Issued
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2016

Page 3

Part s

Tow Bus from Cummins

Bus Adv

Uniforms
See Wells Statement

193

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Selisch, Kurt Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Smith, Scott A Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Sproule, William Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Tellez, Carlos Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Thea, Karen J Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Torres, April L Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Uberuaga, Richard S Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Varner, Benjamin N Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Victorino, Jose L Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Wahlgren, Allan Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Walsh, Murray S. Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Paycheck 11/17/2016 DD Williams-Mehra, Colleen Direct Deposit 0.00 139,644.03
Liability Check 11/17/2016 6252 Idaho Child Support Receipting 326231 -200.76 139,443.27
Liability Check 11/17/2016 ACH Mountain Rides Transportation WFH Apt Rent -250.00 139,193.27
Liability Check 11/17/2016 ACH MRTA Mountain Rides FSA 0.00 139,193.27
Deposit 11/17/2016 Deposit 1,340.75 140,534.02
Deposit 11/17/2016 Deposit 90.37 140,624.39
Liability Check 11/21/2016 TAP Idaho State Tax Commission 000186434 -3,717.00 136,907.39
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 ACH Idaho Power Acc#2204788885 -292.66 136,614.73
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6253 Clear Mind Graphics, Inc -880.00 135,734.73
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6254 Hawley Graphics, Inc. -1,615.00 134,119.73
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6255 Kimberly L Richmond 11/1/16 - 11/15/16 -596.25 133,523.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6256 State Insurance Fund Policy # 495600 -15,530.00 117,993.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6257 Sun Valley Auto Club LLC -195.00 117,798.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6258 United Oil -7,159.77 110,638.71
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6259 Woodland Service, LLC -946.28 109,692.43
Bill Pmt -Check 11/21/2016 6260 Northwest Equipment Sales, Inc. -17.50 109,674.93
Deposit 11/21/2016 Deposit 785.65 110,460.58
Bill Pmt -Check 11/22/2016 ACH National Benefit Services, LLC -278.97 110,181.61
Deposit 11/23/2016 Deposit 631.30 110,812.91
Bill Pmt -Check 11/26/2016 ACH Verizon Wireless 942013229 -8.73 110,804.18
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6262 Superior Door Co. -150.00 110,654.18
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6263 Carlos Tellez' expense reimbursement -12.70 110,641.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6264 Kim MacPherson' expense reimbursement -15.00 110,626.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6265 Scott Smith expense reimbursement -12.37 110,614.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6266 Express Printing & Lithography -6,766.00 103,848.11
Bill Pmt -Check 11/28/2016 6267 Clear Mind Graphics, Inc -6,000.00 97,848.11
Check 11/28/2016 6261 Void VOID: 0.00 97,848.11
Deposit 11/29/2016 Deposit 791.50 98,639.61
Deposit 11/29/2016 Deposit 1,500.00 100,139.61
Deposit 11/29/2016 Deposit 6,742.50 106,882.11
Deposit 11/29/2016 Deposit 0.05 106,882.16
Liability Check 11/30/2016 ACH Aflac DQR88 -478.20 106,403.96
Liability Check 11/30/2016 QuickBooks Payroll Service Created by Payroll Service on 11/29/2016 -38,507.59 67,896.37
Liability Check 11/30/2016 6269 Blue Cross of Idaho 10034150-R001 -1,324.84 66,571.53
Liability Check 11/30/2016 6270 Regence Blue Shield of Idaho 10030031 -16,077.60 50,493.93
Deposit 11/30/2016 Deposit 266.00 50,759.93
Deposit 11/30/2016 Deposit 67.67 50,827.60

1:08 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Checks Issued
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2016

Page 4

Worker's Comp

Pulley & Ratchet

Bus Schedules
New Website

194

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight

Kim
Highlight



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Deposit 11/30/2016 Deposit 48.65 50,876.25
Deposit 11/30/2016 Interest 4.60 50,880.85

Total 11100 · Mountain West Checking -45,769.27 50,880.85

TOTAL -45,769.27 50,880.85

1:08 PM MRTA - Operations Main
01/13/17 Checks Issued
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2016

Page 5
195

Kim
TVL

Kim
Typewritten Text
1/18/17

Kim
Typewritten Text

Kim
Typewritten Text


	5d2-FTA Master Agreement FY2017 - 10-1-2016.pdf
	UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
	FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION
	MASTER AGREEMENT
	PREFACE
	GENERALLY APPLICABLE PROVISIONS
	Section 1.  Terms of the Master Agreement and Compliance
	Section 2.  Definitions.
	Section 3.  Implementation.
	Section 4.  Ethics.
	Section 5.  Federal Assistance.

	Section 6.  Non-Federal Share.
	Section 7.  Payments to the Recipient.
	Section 8.  Records and Reports Related to the Award and the Underlying Agreement.
	Section 9.  Record Retention and Access to Sites of Performance.
	Section 10.  Completion, Audit, Settlement, and Closeout.
	Section 11.  Right of the Federal Government to Terminate.
	Section 12.  Civil Rights.
	Section 13.  Planning.
	Section 14.  Private Enterprise.
	Section 15.  Preference for United States Products and Services.

	Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient agrees to comply with FTA’s U.S. domestic preference requirements and follow federal guidance, including:
	Section 16.  Procurement.

	Section 17.  Patent Rights.
	Section 18.  Rights in Data and Copyrights.
	Section 20.  Transit Asset Management.
	Section 21.  Insurance.

	Section 22.  Relocation and Real Property.
	Section 23.  Construction.

	Section 24.  Employee Protections.
	Section 25.  Early Systems Work Agreement.
	Section 26.  Environmental Protections.
	Section 27.  State Management and Monitoring Systems.

	The Recipient agrees to comply with joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Management and Monitoring Systems,” 23 C.F.R. part 500, and FTA regulations, “Transportation Infrastructure Management,” 49 C.F.R. part 614.
	Section 28.  Charter Service.
	a. Prohibitions.  The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant involved in the Award will engage in charter service, except as permitted under federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d), (g), and (r), FTA regulation...
	Section 29.  School Bus Operations.

	Section 32.  Public Transportation Safety.
	a. Public Transportation Agency Safety Program.  In accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5329, the Recipient agrees to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and requirements and follow applicable guidance that implement the Public Transportation Safety Pro...
	b. State Safety Oversight of Rail Fixed Guideway Public Transportation Systems.  The Recipient agrees as follows:
	(b) States Without a Fully Compliant Program.  The Recipient agrees that FTA regulations, “Rail Fixed Guideway Systems; State Safety Oversight,” 49 C.F.R. part 659, will continue to apply to those states that have not yet implemented a Public Transpor...
	Section 33.  Motor Carrier Safety.
	(c) Extension of Provision.  The Recipient agrees to include the preceding Special Provision of section 34.b(3)(a) – (b) of this Master Agreement in its third party agreements, and encourage its Third Party Participants to comply with this Special Pro...
	Section 38.  Freedom of Information.
	a. Applicability.  The Recipient agrees that the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, applies to most information submitted to FTA and U.S. DOT, whether electronically or in typewritten hard copy.
	b. Records.  The Recipient agrees that all applications and materials it submits to FTA that are related to its Award have or will become federal agency records, and are or will be subject to FOIA and to public release through individual FOIA requests...
	c. Confidentiality.  President Obama’s “Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies on the Freedom of Information Act,” dated January 21, 2009, directs federal agencies to adopt a presumption that information should generally be dis...
	(1) Unless a federal law or regulation requires that a document or other information be withheld, FTA does not consent to withhold information, irrespective of its format, merely because it is accompanied by a “routine” confidentiality statement that ...
	(a) Information about the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto,
	(b) Information accompanying or supplementing the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or
	(c) Any other information FTA may obtain.
	(2) As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA will review the information and documents that are the subject of each FOIA request to determine the extent to which FTA must or should exercise its discretion to withhold t...
	(3) Any genuinely confidential or privileged information should be marked clearly and specifically, and justified as confidential or privileged under FOIA standards.
	Section 39.  Disputes, Breaches, Defaults, or Other Litigation.
	a. FTA Interest.  FTA has a vested interest in the settlement of any violation of federal law, regulation, or disagreement involving the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto including, but not limited to, a default,...
	b. Notification to FTA.  If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal Government emerges, the Recipient must promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel, or FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located.
	(1) The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major dispute, breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation or a legal disagreement in any forum for any reason.
	(2) Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration or enfor...
	(3) If the Recipient has credible evidence that a Principal, Official, Employee, Agent, or Third Party Participant of the Recipient, or other person has submitted a false claim under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has committed a c...
	c. Federal Interest in Recovery.  The Federal Government retains the right to a proportionate share of any proceeds recovered from any third party, based on the percentage of the federal share for the Underlying Agreement.  Notwithstanding the precedi...
	d. Enforcement.  The Recipient must pursue its legal rights and remedies available under any third party agreement, or any federal, state, or local law or regulation.
	Section 40.  Amendments to the Underlying Agreement.

	a. When Required.  An Amendment to the Underlying Agreement is required under the following circumstances:
	(1) A change in the scope of work or addition of federal assistance to an existing Award (regardless of whether the source of assistance is the same or different);
	(2) Changes to the scope of work that necessitate a change in the distribution of federal assistance across scope codes or activities; or
	(3) The Award includes multiple sources of financial assistance and the action requires the addition of a new Scope to a Project.
	b. Process.  An amendment to the Underlying Agreement must be submitted through and approved in FTA’s Electronic Award Management System, and must meet the same application requirements as a request for a new Award.
	Section 41.  FTA’s Electronic Award Management System.
	Section 42.  Information Obtained through Internet Links.
	Although this Master Agreement may include electronic links to federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA does not guarantee the accuracy of information accessed through such links.  Accordingly, the Recipient understands and agrees th...
	Section 43.  Severability.
	The Recipient agrees that if any provision of the Underlying Agreement or any Amendments thereto is determined invalid, then the remaining provisions thereof that conform to federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance will continue in effect.
	SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMS
	a. Applicability.  The Recipient understands and agrees that this section applies to the following programs to which FTA provides federal assistance, including the following programs:
	(1) Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5312, irrespective of the fiscal year for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized,
	(2) Programs authorized under former 49 U.S.C. § 5313, irrespective of the fiscal year for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized,
	(3) Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5314, irrespective of the fiscal year for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were authorized,
	(4) Programs authorized by the repealed section 3045 of SAFETEA-LU,
	(5) Programs authorized under repealed section 3046 of SAFETEA-LU, and
	(6) Other similar Programs for which FTA awards federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5312 or 5314, as amended by the FAST Act, or other authorizing legislation.
	b. Provisions for Underlying Agreements for Public Transportation Innovation or Technical Assistance and Workforce Development Awards.  The Recipient agrees that the following provisions will apply to the Underlying Agreement for a Public Transportati...
	(1) Report.  The Recipient agrees that in addition to any other Report FTA may require, the Recipient will prepare and submit to FTA a Report of each Project and related activities that describes the subject (or subjects) investigated, the methods use...
	(2) Disclaimer.  The Report must contain the following disclaimer:
	(3) Format.  The Report must comply with the accessibility requirements of Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794d, and U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility Standards,” 36 C.F...
	(4) Publication.  Except for confidential, privileged, or proprietary information in the Report, FTA may publish the Report, and make it available for publication on the Internet or in any other venue.
	(5) Identification of Federal Assistance.  The Recipient agrees that:
	(a) It will display notice on any product developed with federal assistance for 49 U.S.C. § 5312 that the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration provided federal assistance to support the development of the product that is t...
	(b) The notice will be given using an appropriate sign, designation, or notice.
	c. Special Disposition Provision.  In addition to other disposition provisions, FTA may vest title in tangible personal property used in the conduct of basic or applied scientific research in a nonprofit institution of higher education or in a nonprof...
	d. Protection of Human Subjects.  The Recipient agrees to comply with protections for human subjects involved in a Project or related activities supported through the Underlying Agreement as required by the National Research Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C....
	e. Protection of Animals.  The Recipient agrees to comply with the protections for animals involved in a Project or related activities, as required by the Animal Welfare Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 2131 et seq., and U.S. Department of Agriculture regu...
	f. Export Control.  The Recipient understands and agrees that before exporting any information that is subject to federal export requirements, it must first obtain the necessary federal license(s), and comply with the federal export control regulation...
	Section 46.  Special Provisions for the State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Program.
	Section 47.  Special Provisions for the TIFIA Program.
	c. Order of Precedence.  Any provision of this Master Agreement that is applicable to the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement for TIFIA assistance and Recipient, but that conflicts with the laws, regulations, and requirements identified in this section, ...
	APPENDIX A

	Dashboard 2014 2015 2016-for Nov #'s.pdf
	DASHBOARD-Ridership
	DASHBOARD-Ridership page 2
	DASHBOARD-Financial
	DASHBOARD-Safety




